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TO TOURISTS. 
The Editor of BLACK’S GUIDE BOOKS will esteem it a great favour to he furnished with notes of any Corrections, Omissions, or Improvements that may he discovered hy those malang use of these works. 

Communications founded on recent personal knowledge, and attested hy the name of the writer, will he especially welcome. 
Travellers willing to make such communications, are requested to forward them, addressed to Messrs. Black, Edinburgh; and in the event of their being made on a copy of one of the Guides, another clean copy will be sent in exchange, hy post, free of expense. 



. 





(BiohnimuLy 

JgPTrs; 

C/nortti 

jUI^VAT 

-woo^ Q ■ 

OCJTs- 

'Hccrbei'txmJB r. 

TameH3i 
IIRJCLLS bRTD SB 

POfilOBKKEO B AKJRACKS 

JIB ar3uikniipw;li3iabnx^li 
rnHishel ly;1VR"C.Black;IE3mbin;gh.. 





BLACK’S 

GUIDE TO DUBLIN 

WICKLOW MOUNTAINS. 

WITH PLAN OF DUBLIN. 

EDINBURGH: 
ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK, NORTH BRIDGE. 

DUBLIN : W. ROBERTSON. 
MDCCCLV1I. 



PRINTED BY R. AND R. CLARK, EDINBURGH. 

5 

:-v 

' t-fij . 0^ 



CONTENTS. 

Hotels in Dublin  
Carriage Regulations  
Principal Sights  
First Walk through Dublin . . . • 
Second Walk through Dublin  
Third Walk—to Clondalkin  
Fourth Walk—to Glasnevin  
Excursion from Dublin to Howth .... 
Excursion from Dublin to Kingstown 
Dublin to Enniskerry, Seven Churches, Vale of 

Avoca, and Wicklow, and back . . . . 
Dublin to Seven Churches by Sally Gap . 
Bray to Darglk, Loughs Bray, Luggala, and Glen 

of Downs, and back  
Bray to Dargle, Seven Churches, Devil’s Glen, 

and Glen of Downs, and back . . . . 
Wooden Bridge Inn to Aughrim, Aghavanagh, and 

Glenmalurk   
Arklow to Wexford and New Ross . . . . 
Table of Elevations   - 

Page 

16 
23 
30 

50 

78 

82 
86 





DUBLIN. 

HOTELS, WITH CHARGES. 
Shelbourne, 27 Stephen’s Green—bed 2s. to 3s., breakfast Is. 6d. to 2s., dinner 2s. to 2s. 6d., tea Is. to Is. 6d., supper Is. 6d. (upwards), attendance (charged in the bill) Is., private room 3s. to 6s. per day. European, 4 Bolton Street— bed 2s., breakfast Is. 6d., dinner Is. 8d. (upwards), lunch Is., supper Is. to Is. 6d., private room 2s. to 4s. Imperial, 21 Lower Sackville Street—bed 3s., breakfast 2s. to 2s..6d., dinner 2s. to 3s. 6d., teals. 6d., supper Is. 6d. to 2s., attendance (in bill) Is., private room 3s. to 5s. Gresham, 21 Upper Sackville Street—bed 3s., breakfast 2s., dinner 3s. (upwards), tea Is. 6d., supper Is. 6d. to 2s., attendance Is., private room 3s. to 6s. Reynold’s, 11 Upper Sackville Street—bed 3s., breakfast Is. 6d. to 2s. 6d., lunch Is. to 2s. 6d., dinner 3s. (upwards), tea Is. 6d., supper Is. 6d. to 2s., attendance (in hill) Is. 3d., private room 3s. 6d. to 6s. 6d. Morrison's, 1 Dawson Street— bed 3s., breakfast 2s. to 2s. 6d., lunch 1*. 6d. to 2s., dinner 3s. to 4s., supper Is. 6d. to 2s., attendance Is. 6d., private room 6s. to 8s. Royal Arcade, 32 College Green, and 4 Suffolk Street—bed 2s. 2d., breakfast Is. 6d. to 2s., lunch 6d. to 10d., dinner Is. 6d. to 2s. 6d., tea Is., supper 6d. to 2s., atten- dance, no charge. Royal Hibernian, 48 Dawson Street—bed 2s. to 3s., breakfast 2s., lunch Is. 6d., dinner 2s. 6d. (upwards), tea Is. 6d., supper Is. 6d., attendance Is., private room 3s. to 5s. MacHn’s, 12 Dawson Street— bed 2s. 6d., breakfast 2s., lunch Is. 6d. to 2s., dinner 3s., tea Is. 6d., supper Is. 6d. to 2s., attendance (in bill) Is., private room 3s. 6d. to 5s. 6d. Billon, 56 Upper Sackville Street—bed 3s., breakfast 2s., lunch Is. 6d., dinner 3s. (upwards), tea Is. 6d. to 2s., attendance (in bill) Is. 6d., private room 6s. to 6s. Jury’s Commercial, 6 College Green—bed Is. 6d., breakfast Is. 9d., dinner 2s. 6d., tea Is. 6d., attendance (in bill) Is., private room 2s. 6d. Wicklow, 5 Wicklow Street—bed Is. 6d. to 2s., breakfast Is. 6d. to Is. 8d., lunch Is., dinner Is. 8d. (upwards), tea Is. 2d., supper Is. 6d., attendance 9d., private room 2s. 6d. to 3s. 6d. Foley’s, 30 Wicklow Street-bed Is. to Is. 6d., breakfast Is. 2d. to Is. 6d., lunch 9d. to Is., dinner Is. 3d. to Is. 6d., 



ABSTRACT FROM THE DUBLIN POLICE 
CARRIAGE REGULATIONS. 



HACKNEY COACH FAKES. 
2. Hackney Coaches may he engaged by time, either within or beyond the Municipal Boundary of Duhlin, not exceeding the distance of seven Irish miles from the Circular Boad, at the rate, for the first hour, of—Is. 4d. For every half hour, commenced after the first hour—fid. 

But no Hackney Coach is hound to a time engagement vnlhin the Municipal Boundary of Dublin beyond five consecutive hours, except by special agreement. 
Fakes beyond, ok paktly beyond and partly within the Bokodgh. 
3. For a drive from any place within the Municipal Boundary of Dublin, to any place beyond the same, or for a drive entirely outside of the same, and in both cases returning with the employer, provided there be not a delay of more than thirty minutes for every statute mile actually travelled with the employer—fd. For the same, but not returning with the employer, for every statute mile actually travelled with the employer—fid. For every half mile (statute measure) commenced after the first mile, one-half of the above rates, in either of the two cases immediately preceding. 
4. Employers detaining such Hackney Coaches in waiting beyond thirty minutes, to pay for every quarter of an hour of such farther detention com- menced—3d. 

Hackney Coaches are not bound to go beyond Seven Irish Miles from Circular 
Other Regulations enact, that the driver can claim an hour’s fare in advance in cases of hour hiring; that if unemployed on stand, road, street, or passage, he shall not refuse a hire; that, when hired, he shall not delay, loiter, or fail to perform services for which he has been employed; that he must travel at the rate of five miles per hour at least; that all licensed Hackney Coaches shall be kept clean and dry, and in good and perfect repair, as tllso the braces, harness, and tackling used with the same; that drivers shall appear in decent apparel, and conduct themselves in- a becoming manner towards their employers; that they shall take due care of all property committed to their care by the passenger; and that, when desired, the owner or driver must produce, for the information of the passenger, a book containing the Rates and Fares appointed to be taken. 

SITUATION, and Preliminary Observations.— Dublin is situated on the banks of the river Lififey, which, running from west to east, divides it into two nearly equal parts. After leaving the town, the river swells out into a noble bay, which is guarded on the one side by the hill of Howth, and on the other by Killiney hill, near Kingstown. The river is navigable as far as Carlisle Bridge, in the centre of the town, but the heavier vessels seldom pass above the 



DUBLIN. 
Custom-House. A great impediment to the navigation of the river exists in the shape of a sand-har at the entrance of the harbour, where, at ebb tide, there is no greater depth than six feet of water. Dublin contains many fine buildings, which will be described in their proper place—is the seat of a uni- versity, as well as of the higher courts of law. It is well supplied with places of worship of every denomination, and for the recreation of the citizens has a beautiful public park, situated within a short distance of the town, besides botanic gardens, museums, a picture gallery, and theatres. The town is not famed for any particular branch of trade, while its export traffic is at present very slight. Those trades, however, connected with articles of apparel and common consumption are in a thriving condition. The manufacture of poplin, which had shown symptoms of decline, seems to have revived again, especially after the stimulus given it by the exhibitions of 1851 and 1853. It was about the year 1780 that the trade first assumed a degree of importance in Dublin, though it had been introduced by the French Huguenots in the reign of William HI. From that period till the Union, in 1800, it had been gradually increasing in extent; but, with the loss of her parliament, Dublin lost her silk trade, and Irishmen are fain to link the two events together as cause and effect. At the present day the entire number of Jacquard looms at work in Dublin is about 200. That portion of the town known as the liberties, and generally shunned by the tourist on account of its desolation, was the former seat of the silk trade. “ At the time of the Union,” we are told, “and for some years afterwards, the liberties presented a scene like the business part of Manchester. Fully forty thousand people lived by the employment given there.” 

PRINCIPAL SIGHTS. 
Like every other town, Dublin has its “lions,” and though these will be noticed in their order during the Walks which we have planned, it was thought expedient to select the chief of them for the use of tourists who may have no time for the prescribed routes, and care little for the objects of minor interest within the city. 1. Bank of Ireland. 2. Trinity College. 3. Dublin Castle. 4. Christ’s Church Cathedral. 5. Cathedral of St. Patrick. 6. General Post-Office. 7. Nelson’s Monument. 8. Custom-House. 9. Four Courts. 10. Phoenix Park. [These numbers also correspond with the figures in the Plan.'] 



PRINCIPAL SIGHTS. 5 
1. THE BANK OF IRELAND, in CoUege Green, for- merly used as the Parliament House, occupies the site of a building which was begun early in the seventeenth century by the then High Treasurer Sir G. Carey, and cost the sum of £4000. Originally intended for an hospital, it became successively the seat of justice and a mansion. The present building was commenced in 1729 and completed in 1787, costing altogether the sum of £95,000. The company of the Bank of Ireland, however, purchased it in 1802 for the sum of £40,000, and an annual rent of £240. The plan of the building may be more advantageously studied from a beautiful model shown within than from any external view which can be obtained. It is somewhat semicircular in shape, with a beautiful colonnade of Ionic columns facing College Green, and portico in the centre, in the tympanum of which is placed the Royal Arms, appropriately surmounted by emblematical figures of Hibernia, Commerce, and Fidelity. The entrance to the House of Lords was by a portico on the eastern side, the columns presenting the anomaly of the Corinthian order. The figures here are Fortitude, Liberty, and Justice. The western entrance, like the colonnade, is in the lonjQ style of archi- tecture. The old House of Commons is now the scene of busy industry, being used as the Teller’s Office. Visitors are kindly permitted to view this apartment, and will, in all probability, be struck with the contrast between its former and its present use. The House of Lords remains unaltered, save that the site of the throne is now occupied by a statue of King George HI. The chairs are in their places, the long table in the centre, and the old tapestry still hanging on the walls. This has on the left a representation of King William crossing the Boyne with poor Schomberg expiring almost under his horse’s feet; and on the right the Siege of Derry. Both pieces of needlework are in excellent preservation. The mantel-piece in this room is deserving of notice, being formed of dark Kil- kenny marble, beautifully sculptured. Various other rooms formerly used as offices or committee-rooms, are now occupied for different purposes of business. Before leaving the build- ing the attendant—who asks no gratuity—will show the model of the building, which gives the best idea of the size and out- laying of the structure. 

2. TRINITY COLLEGE is situated immediately opposite 



DUBLIN. 
the Bank. In the year 1311, Pope Clement V. granted a hull to John Leek, Archbishop of Dublin, to erect a university, which, however, was not acted upon; and not until his suc- cessor, A. de Bicknor, obtained a similar authority from Pope John XXII., were statutes drawn up, and a college founded. Like most other institutes of learning, Trinity College was closed in the time of Henry VIII., again to he opened in the reign of his daughter Elizabeth, who erected it into a corpor- ation, consisting of a provost, three fellows, and three scholars, designating it by the name of the “ College of the Holy and Indivisible Trinity, near Dublin.” In 1627 a new code of laws was framed, by which the number of fellows was fixed at seven, of scholars at twenty, and of probationer fellows at nine. During and after the civil wars of the protectorate, the college fell to a very low ebb, hut was brought again to a flourishing condition with the return of royalty to the throne. James I. and Charles II. befriended the college, endowing it with lands in Ulster and other parts. Several private indi- viduals have also made liberal bequests; among others, those of Erasmus Smith are deservedly esteemed, seeing that no less than five professorships have been endowed from the sums left by him. The instruction is carried on by means of lectures and periodical examinations, though the details of literary and scientific education are intrusted to the eighteen junior fellows, who are only elected to their honourable post after a severe examination. The external facade of the College is, though plain, very beautiful; it is built of Portland stone, and in the Corinthian style, measuring 300 feet in length. The central part is ornamented with tall columns, let into the wall and supporting an elegant pediment. This portion, to which visitors are admitted on presenting their card, is The Museum, a collection which, though small, is credit- able to all concerned, and especially to the late Dr. Kobert Ball. The visitor who has paid any attention to. natural history will be pleased with the skeletons of the ancient elk of Ireland, which have been dug out of bogs in various parts of the country. The series comprises two males and a female, together with a group of six heads of antlers of various ages, from two years old to the adult size. This collection is unique. Another collection of value to the student is a series of human skulls, geographically arranged, intended to convey at a glance the difference of cranial development incidental 



TRINITY COLLEGE. 
to different countries. The collection of Irish birds is very fine, the specimens being good, and the series all but complete. Among these may be observed with interest the golden eagle, the erne or white-tailed eagle, the spotted eagle, and a vulture, all shot in the south of Ireland. Other series are also deserving of notice, as the reptiles and antiquities. Among the latter the old charter horn of King O’Kavanagh, and the harp of Brian Boroimhe, are famous. 

In order to draw attention to tlie marine resources of Ireland, the late director had fitted up an ichthyological museum. It is known that the majority of fishes’ skins shrink, and in time lose their colour, however well preserved, hut Dr. Ball had fallen on the happy expedient of having models of them cast and coloured from the real object, thus preserving the original appearance. 
First Court-yard. The building on the right, with the portico of four Corinthian pillars, is the examination-hall, the scene of many a severe ordeal. Internally it is decorated with portraits of illustrious characters, some of them originally students of the College, the sarcastic Dean Swift, Bishop Berkeley, Archbishop King, and Lord Oriel being among the number. Every artist has heard of Hewitson’s noble monu- ment, executed by him aj; Rome, to the memory of Provost Baldwin, a liberal benefactor to the College, who died in 1758. This monument, which is placed on the west wall of the room, is composed of black and white marble, with the addition of Egyptian porphyry. It is emblematical, and represents the provost in a reclining position, with an angel at his feet holding a palm branch, while the genius of the university bends over him. Right opposite the examination-hall, on our left, as we enter the quadrangle, is a building of similar style, used as the chapel. Internally it resembles the last building as regards decorations, though the different purpose of the building neces- sarily requires a somewhat different arrangement. Further on, on the same side, is the Dining Hall or Refectory, containing portraits of Grattan, Lord Avonmore, Lord Chief Justice Downs, Hussey Burgh, Henry Flood, Lord Kilwarden, and Frederick Prince of Wales, the father of George III. Here a range of buildings formerly divided this quadrangle into two, and in one of the rooms the author of the “ Deserted Village ” resided, when he was wont to dispense his willing but often ill judged charities. A very handsome granite bell-tower stands in the middle of the quad- 
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rangle, ornamented by four statues typifying Divinity, Medi- cine, Law, and Science. The Library occupies the entire south side of what used to be the second quadrangle, 270 feet in length. The east end contains a valuable collection of books, known as the Fagel Library, consisting of 18,000 volumes. Many valuable manu- scripts are likewise contained in the library, among which there is a Latin copy of the Gospels, known as the Book of Kells, and attributed to Saint Columba, who lived in the sixth century. Passing out of this quadrangle by its south-east comer, we enter another of less extent on the south side, where a geological museum and suites of lecture rooms have just been erected in a style of great elegance. Another quad- rangle is situated to the north of the first. In College Green, is an equestrian statue in lead of William III., erected in 1710. The figures are bronzed and gilt, pre- senting rather an imposing appearance. Much ill feeling, however, has been displayed in connection with this statue, and by both parties. It is to be hoped, however, that as more liberal feelings advance, Catholics will look upon it merely as an ornament to the city, and Protestants will forget to regard it as a party triumph. 

3. THE CASTLE OF DUBLIN is by no means an impos- ing or even elegant pile, when viewed from the street, wanting as it does the stern rocky base of Edinburgh or Stirling Castle, and the romantic situation or architectural grandeur of many other Irish forts. Originally built for the defence of the peace- able inhabitants of the town against the aggressions of their minify neighbours, nothing seemed to have been attended to in its construction but strength. Of late a great many alterations have been made to suit it to the requirements of the age, so that we cannot now judge of its original appearance. Leaving the guides to point out the Bedford Tower, the Birmingham Tower, and other objects of interest, we will walk into The Viceregal Chapel, a building not without external beauties and decorations, though plain enough to be passed over by the cursory traveller. The chapel is used by the Lord Lieutenant for the time being and his household. It is elabor- ately ornamented with carving in oak. Bound the gallery are the arms of Lord Lieutenants from 1173 to 1814. On each side of the altar are the arms continued up to the present 



Christ’s church cathedral. 
date. The pulpit, with the stair by which it is gained, is a mass of carving. The groining of the roof and capitals of pilasters exhibit rich mouldings in stucco: while each corbel springs from a figure of a human head. Over the altar window, which is of painted glass, representing the Passion, are figures of Faith, Hope, and Charity. On the windows and doors out- side are heads, amounting to the number of one hundred and three. Over the east door are St. Patrick and Brian Boroimhe, the latter of whom is looked upon as the Wallace of Ireland, though to the patriotic he added the character of a usurper. The chapel was opened in 1814. The attendant here expects a small gratuity. The Viceregal Apartments are easily found, and readily shown to the visitor—of course on the understanding that a fee repays the attention of the cicerone. You enter under a Doric colonnade, and by the grand staircase, into the presence chamber, an ornamented hall containing the throne of the re- presentative of monarchy, which, as well as the hangings, is richly embroidered with gold. St. Patrick's Hall, or the Ball-Boom, is a spacious apart- ment appropriately ornamented. The empanelled ceiling bears in its centre a large allegorical painting of George III., supported by Justice and Liberty. The other two represent on the one side St. Patrick preaching to the native Irish, and on the other the submission of the Irish chiefs to Henry II.— a subject by no means palatable to the tastes of “ Young Ireland.” The Council Chamber contains portraits, some of them admirable, of all the Viceroys since the Union, beginning with the Marquis Cornwallis in 1800. The Private Drawing-Room, with its magnificent furniture, its mirrors and marble tables, is worthy of a visit, as also the Billiard-room, from which a fine view of the court-yard is obtained. Various government offices are situated within the Castle. 

4. CHRIST’S CHURCH CATHEDRAL, sometimes styled the Church of the Holy Trinity. According to the “ Black Book of Christ’s Church,” its vaults were formed by the Danes before the visit of St. Patrick to Ireland, who afterwards celebrated mass in one of them. The church, however, as it now stands, is of comparatively modem date. 
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It seems to have been first erected in 1038, and to have been subsequently enlarged by Lawrence O’Toole, who in 1163 changed the canons, originally secular, into canons regular ol the order of Arras; then by Strongbow and Fitzstephen, and later still by Raymond de Eros, who added the choir, steeple, and two smaller chapels. John Comyn rebuilt the church in 1190; and about 1360 John de St. Paul erected the chancel. This church was made the repository for various relics, and, among others, the shrine of St. Cubic, stolen by the people of Dublin from the Welch. So high was the sanctity of this church held, that pilgrims to its shrine enjoyed the rights of sanctuary in Dublin during their stay. Many of the relics were publicly destroyed in the sixteenth century; and with them St. Patrick’s staff, which was committed to the flames. It was in this cathedral that the church liturgy was first read in Ireland in the English tongue. In 1553, by order of Queen Mary’, the mass was again performed in the cathedral, and continued for six years, when the reformed style of worship was finally restored. The cathedral is built in the form of a cross; the transept has lately undergone repair, and looks fresh again ; while the choir is elegantly fitted up with stalls for the Dean and Prebendaries. Among the monumental tombs in the cathedral, that reputed to belong to Earl Strongbow is deserving of notice. It represents that powerful warrior in a recumbent position clothed in mail, with Eva, his wife, by his side. The female figure, however, is defaced. Some doubts are entertained of the authenticity of the figure of Strongbow, it being affirmed that it represents the Earl of Desmond, Lord Chief Justice, who was conspired against by those who looked with jealousy on his kindness to the Irish people, and beheaded at Drogheda in 1467. It is stated that Sir Henry Sidney had it removed to its present position in 1569. Various other monuments of superior beauty and interest, if not of like anti- quity, will attract the visitor, not the least poetic of which is the figure of a child on the monument of the late Dr. Abbot of Dublin. This place of worship is a great attraction to those fond of the display of a cathedral service, which is performed every Sunday at eleven o’clock by a full choir. Programmes of the music may be seen in the Saturday’s papers. 

5. CATHEDRAL OF ST. PATRICK.—The venerable 
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St. Patrick erected a place of worship near the well, in which he baptised his converts. This was on the site of the present cathedral. That the original pile existed for a period of years is attested by the fact that in 890, being four centuries and a half later, Gregory of Scotland, with his followers, attended worship in it. The present building was begun by Archbishop Comyn in 1190, and was much added to, and decorated by Archbishop Minot, who held the see of Dublin in 1370. This was rendered the more necessary by the accidental destruction of a great portion of the pile by fire in 1362. The present steeple, built in the lancet style, is of this later date. The cathedral is cruciform, consisting of nave, transepts, choir, and lady chapel. The north transept, used as the parish church of St. Nicholas, is the newest portion of the whole structure, having been rebuilt little more than twenty years ago. Many monuments decorate the interior of this cathedral. In the chancel is a tablet to the memory of the Duke of Schomberg, with an inscription by Swift, once Dean of the cathedral. The monument in the choir, erected to Boyle, Earl of Cork, in 1639, is one claiming attention from its cumbersome and singular design. It consists of black marble, decorated with wood carving, gilding, and painting, and represents the Earl and his lady in recumbent positions, surrounded by their children, sixteen in number. In close proximity are two marble slabs, which mark the resting places of Dean Swift, and Mrs. Hester Johnston, the “ Stella ” of his poetry. The Lady Chapel was used in 1821 by George IV. as chapter-house for the knights of St. Patrick, and still retains the name of Royal Chapter-house, though formerly used as a church for French Protestants. The musical ability of the choir is deservedly of high repute. 

6. THE GENERAL POST-OFFICE is a building of considerable beauty. It was commenced in the year 1814, the architect being the late Francis Johnston. Its front pre- sents an imposing portico supported by six fluted Ionic columns, and surmounted by figures of Hibernia, Mercury, and Fidelity. The posts for England leave every day at 12 and 6 o’clock; and letters addressed to the post-office may be called for between the hours of 7-30 a.m. and 7 p.m. every day, except on Sunday, when this office is only open from 8 A.M. till 10 A.M. 
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7. NELSON’S MONUMENT (6d. charged for ascending), a tall fluted column, 121 feet high (exclusive of the statue), stands close beside the post-office. It is of granite, consisting of a pedestal 30 feet high, bearing the names and dates of four of the hero’s victories. The pillar rises above seventy feet, bearing on a Doric capital a second pedestal, on which the statue rests. The whole erection cost the sum of £6856, raised by public subscription among the Irish admirers of Trafalgar hero. The statue, which stands thirteen feet in height, is a beautiful specimen of art, and is from the studio of a native sculptor, Thomas Kirk. On a fine clear day the visitor would do well to ascend to the safely-railed summit of the monument, from which a most extensive and delightful prospect may be obtained, embracing a panoramic view of the city and surrounding country, from the Moume Mountains in the county Down on the north, to the Wicklow Mountains on the south; the plains of Meath and Kildare on the west, parted by the Dublin Hills and Dublin Bay, and a wide expanse of sea to the eastward. 
8. CUSTOM-HOUSE.—The outline of this structure is quadrangular, each side being highly and appropriately deco- rated. The principal front faces the river. In the centre is a tetrastyle portico supporting a neat pediment, in the tympanum of which is a fine allegorical composition, representing Britannia and Hibernia in a marine shell, a group of merchantmen approaching, and Neptune driving away femine and despair. An attic storey rises behind the pediment, and on this are placed, right above the Doric columns of the portico, colossal statues of Navigation, Wealth, Commerce, and Industry. The wings are connected with the centre by arcades, and are surmounted by the arms of Ireland. We pass round the west side of the building to the north face, which has also a portico of four columns of the Doric order; they are, however, elevated on a flight of steps, which adds not a little to their beauty. The entablature is here decorated with well designed figures representative of Europe, Asia, America, and Africa. A dome, in the style of that on Greenwich hospital, rises above the building to the height of some 120 feet, and bears on its summit a statue of Hope, sixteen feet high. The navigation on the Lifley being much hindered by the sand-bars at its mouth, this enormous custom-house, certainly one of the finest of its kind 



14 DUBLIN. 
in Great Britain, is not entirely occupied with excise and customs business, but contains many government and even civil offices. The building of the structure occupied ten years, and with the subsequent enlargements and fittings cost fully half a million of money. 

9. THE FOUR COURTS form a magnificent pile of building situated on Inns Quay. The Four Courts, so termed from the Courts of Queen’s Bench, Chancery, Exchequer, and Common Pleas, are situated within the building. The present building was commenced on the site of a decayed Dominican monastery in 1776, by Mr. Cooley, architect, who, previous to his death, gave over the task to James Gandon, by whom it was finished in 1800, just in time to see the union of the two nations. The cost was estimated at £200,000. The fa9ade facing the river is 450 feet in length. In the central portion of the building are the four courts, while the two wings contain the various offices connected with them. A handsome Corin- thian portico of six columns occupies the centre, and over it rises a finely proportioned pediment, bearing on its upper angle a colossal statue of Moses; the other angles bear like statues of Mercy and Justice ; and on the comers are statues emble- matical of Wisdom and Authority. Behind this pediment rises the lofty dome, surrounded with columns, with -windows between them. The great hall is circular, and 64 feet in diameter; and serves as a common hall, with exits to the different special courts. The floor is laid with mosaic pave- ment. This hall is illuminated by jets of gas, issuing from a torch home in the hands of a colossal statue of Truth. Another statue, that of Sir M. O’Loghlen by Hogan, is worthy of notice. 
10. PHOENIX PARK, the resort of the beauty and elite of the metropolis, is the Hyde Park of Dublin. It covers an area of upwards of 1750 statute acres, and is well planted with timber, though probably inferior in this respect to Hyde' and Kensington Pams. Deer are plentiful, and, as in other extensive grounds where they are frequently caressed by visitors, very tame and docile. The first object which attracts our notice on entering the Park, is the obelisk to our left, The Wellington Testimonial, erected in 1817 by his fellow- townsmen of Dublin, to testify their great esteem for him as 



PHCENIX PARK. 15 
a military commander. The cost of it was £20,000. The form is a quadrangular truncated obelisk, and the substance is Wicklow granite. Sunken panels are on each side of the pedestal, intended for the reception of relievos, which, with the equestrian statue for the supplemental pedestal on the east side, show no signs of being added. On the four sides of the obelisk are inscribedthe battles of the IronDuke. Commencing with the west side, we have Conangeel, Poonah, Amed- nagur, Assaye, Argaum, GtAWilyhur, Monkaseer ; on the north side, Talavera, Fuentes d’Onor, Ciudad Rodrigo, Badajos, Salamanca, Yittoria, Pyrenees ; on the south, Rolica, Vimiera, Oporto, Busaco, Torres Vedras, Redinha, Sabugal; and on the east, Bidassoa, Nivelle, Nive, Adour, Orthes, Tarbes, Toulouse. It is surprising that, considering the date of its erection, the word Waterloo finds no place on the obelisk. To our right, on the opposite side of the road, is the Military Hospital, with a fine granite front ornamented with a clock tower and cupola. The situation is high and healthy, and the internal arrangements good. A little further on, on the same side, is the Constabulary Barrack, where each member of that fine corps spends a portion of his time, subsequent to his enlistment, in training in the use of arms and other military qualities. The building is plain, hut ample and commodious. Continuing our walk in the Park, we at length reach the gate of The Zoological Garden (admission, sixpence; on Sunday, a penny). The ground occupied by the garden is large, and from its undulating nature affords many advantages for land- scape gardening. The collection of animals, though not very extensive, is of an interesting character. 

Wolves, such as formerly infested Ireland, bears, leopards, pumas, jaguars, hyaenas, bisons, llamas, and various species of deer, are kept here, together with an assemblage of those amusing little gentry the monkeys. Shortly after entering, the student of ornithology will find a treat in a large cage, containing a whole colony of white tailed eagles. Some perched on the mass of rock-work erected for them, sit fearless before our gaze, while others, even more at home, devour the raw flesh provided for their sustenance. This bird is hy no means uncommon in Ireland, where it breeds in the neighbourhood of the sea or lakes, feeding on fish or birds, or even on lambs. Another bird, a native of Ireland, is the moor buzzard, of which a fine specimen is here. The golden eagle is frequently seen in the county Kerry, though becoming rarer with the progress of civilization; fine young and adult specimens are in the garden. It is much more majestic in 
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appearance than the erne or white-tailed eagle. The collection of vultures is well worthy of notice, on account of the healthy condition of the birds; it com- prises the Egyptian, the black, and the king vulture. In a house newly erected is exhibited the finest known specimen of the plesiosaurus, 23 feet long, from the Lias of Whitby. In another building are a number of aquatic vivaria, so disposed in the wall as to appear to the visitor to be so many animated pictures, the plants and rocks forming the landscape, among which the fish are seen disporting themselves. The value of such a collection cannot be too highly estimated. 

FIRST WALK. 
About 3 Miles—Makxkd Red on the Plan. 

[The numbers refer to the paragrafhs only.'] 
Sackville Steeet. Post-Office; Nelson’s Column. 1. Cablisle Bbidge. View of Custom House and Shipping. Westmoeeland Stbeet. Bank of Ireland. Trinity College. Statue of William HI. Dame Street. 2. Commercial Buildings. 3. City Hall. Castle Street. Castle; Christ’s Church. Nicholas Street. St. Patrick’s Street. St. Patrick’s Cathedral. Kevin Street. Upfer Kevin Street. Cufe Street. 4. St. Stephen’s Green. Statue of George II. in centre. West Side. Surgeon’s Hall. North Side. United Service Club; St. Stephen’s Club; Palace of Archbishop of Dublin; University Club; Shelboume Hotel. East Side. Irish Industrial Museum; St. Vincent’s Hospital. 5. Merrion Row. Merrion Street. Birth-place of Wellington. Merrion Square. South. Residence of late D. O’Connell. West. Site of Industrial Exhibition of 1853. Lower Merrion Street. Westland Row. 6. St. Andrew’s Roman Catholic Chapel. 7. Terminus of Kingstown Railway. Great Brunswick Street. Clarence Street. 8. Sir John Rogeeson’s Quay. Sailors’Home. Cross by Ferry to—9. Docks. Custom House. Bebesford Place. Lower Abbey Street. 10. Mechanics’ Institution. 11. Royal Hibernian Academy. 

THE GENERAL POST OFFICE, in Sackville Street, situated as it is in the centre of the city, is an object likely to be visited by all tourists, whether for business or curiosity, and from it we propose to start (page 12). 
NELSON’S MONUMENT (page 13) is situated beside the Post-Office. Turning our face towards the river we walk down Sackville Street, admiring its width, and the splendour of its shops, until we reach 
1. CARLISLE BRIDGE, so called in honour of Lord 
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Carlisle, who was viceroy at the time when the bridge was opened, i.e. in 1794. It is the lowermost of the eight bridges which span the river here, is built of stone, supported on two arches, and surmounted by a handsome balustrade. From the centre of this bridge is obtained one of the most interesting views within the city. Turning round, we look up Sackville Street, with the Nelson column rising boldly in the middle of it, with the facade of the post-office on the left and the corner of the Eotunda in view; on the other side the eye may run up either Westmoreland, or D’Olier Street. Looking up the latter, we catch sight of Trinity College, and the ancient Parliament House, now the National Bank. Then turning towards the stream, we have on the right the Four Courts, and beyond, the Wellington obelisk, situated in Phoenix Park; while on the left, in the distance, is the elegant granite-built terminus of the Great Southern and Western Railway. The only sights looking down the river are, the Custom House on the left, and the shipping. Continuing our walk southwards, we pass through Westmoreland Street, the second of note in Dublin, and reach 

THE BANK OF IRELAND (page 5) on right, and 
TRINITY COLLEGE, (page 5) on the left. 
Leaving the College, we proceed west through College Green and Dame Street, passing the Statue of William III., noticed before. In the latter street, on the right, we come upon the 
2. COMMERCIAL BUILDINGS, a granite erection of three storeys, designed by E. Parke in 1796, and finished in 1799. A handsome room, on the left of the entrance, is designated the Chamber of Commerce, and is used by the merchants of the city. Visitors are freely admitted. Further on, on the opposite side, is the 
3. CITY HALL, or Royal Exchange. It fronts Parlia- ment Street, and is entered by a flight of steps, and ornamented by a balustrade. The pediment is supported by six well- proportioned columns and pilasters. The western front faces Castle Street, and is in the same style as the northern. The east side, however, is without columns, while a dome rises from the 
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roof. The interior is fitted up in a very superior style. Fluted columns support a roof in the shape of a cylindrical lantern, which gives light and grace to the whole. The hall contains a celebrated statue in marble of Grattan, by Chantrey, with the appropriate inscription, 

OPTIMO CARISSIMO HENRICO GRATTAN PATRIA NON INGRATA 1829. 
besides others of George III. by Van Nost, Thomas Drum- mond, once chief secretary to Ireland, and Dan. O’Connell, both by Hogan, a notable Irish sculptor. Turning into Castle Street, we at once reach the gates of the 

CASTLE OF DUBLIN, (page 8). 
Continuing our walk along Castle Street and Christ Church Place, we come to 
CHRIST’S CHURCH (page 9), on right. 
Leaving this building, we walk through Nicholas Street to St. Patrick’s, where, surrounded by wretched buildings, low huxter-shops, and stalls with putrid eels, stands the ancient 
CATHEDRAL OF ST. PATRICK (page 10), on left. 
Passing up Kevin Street Upper and Lower, we may tum to the left, a little way into Aungier Street, where at No. 12 we find a queer-looking old house, rejoicing in the honour of being the birth-place of Moore. In this house the Bard of Erin was born on the 28th of May 1780. His first published pro- duction was a sonnet, written in his fourteenth year, addressed to his schoolmaster Mr. Samuel White. White was also the teacher of Sheridan. Taking away with us a mental photo- graph of the classical grocery establishment, let us return to Kevin Street and continue our walk up Cuff Street until we enter, at its south-west comer, 
4. ST. STEPHEN’S GREEN, a square laid out in grass 
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plots, and clusters of trees and shrubs. The houses surround- ing it are among the finest in the city. Turning to the left we proceed half-way along the west side, and there meet The Royal College of Surgeons, a decorated building erected between 1806 and 1825, the architects being E. Parkes and W. Murray. On the pediment are statues of Minerva, Hygeia, and Esculapius. The Museum is the chief attraction here, and to it admission may be gained by any respectable visitor, reserving to himself the liberty of presenting a gratuity or not to the porter. The first room of the museum contams a good osteological collection, including skeletons of elephants, deer, bears, elk, dogs, monkeys, etc. A simple group in one of the lower cases will attract attention from its singularity, and excite a little sympathy where it would least be expected. Many years ago, an Italian visited Dublin as an itinerant musician, accompanied by a greyhound and a monkey, whose performances soon became the wonder of the town. The monkey would smoke a pipe, beat a drum, or ride a steeple- chase on the back of his companion. But the dog at length died, and poor jacko took it so much to heart, that he would mount no other charger, nor would he even console himself with a whiff of tobacco, but died in the course of three days after the demise of his canine friend. Both fell into the hands of the College of Surgeons, and their skeletons now form the equestrian group alluded to. A gallery of this room contains specimens only interesting to the student of comparative ana- tomy. Notice may, however, be called to a stuffed Bengal tiger at the foot of the stairs, the ground colour of which is a rich deep brown. Attached to this college are lecture and demonstrating rooms, and private museums for the benefit only of students. The course of study prescribed is liberal, and the examinations rigid. The Board Roam is looked upon as being one of the best proportioned in Ireland. It has a chastely moulded roof, ample windows, and contains portraits of Drs. Rennie, Hawthorn, and Collas. From the windows a view of the square is obtained with an equestrian Statue of George II. in its centre, the work of Van Nost. The Square, until within the last forty years, was surrounded by a hedge and ditch, and the space enclosed afforded snipe shooting in the winter season. It is now enclosed by a palisade. Turning along the north side of the square, we pass several elegant club-houses, a large brick building—the palace of the 
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Archbishop of Dublin—and the Shelboume Hotel. On the east side is situated The Irish Industrial Museum (admission free), the super- intendence of which is vested in the able hands of Sir Robert Kane, who had the building converted into its present state from that of a private dwelling-house. A fine series of Irish marble pannels ornaments the entrance hall; while collections of building stones chiefly Irish are preserved in cases, in the rooms, as well as articles used in the manufacture of pottery, colours, metallic substances, and textile fabrics. The stages of manufacture are illustrated by characteristic specimens. St. Vincent's Hospital is an institution of most respectable order, situated on the same side. In it the attendants are sisters of mercy in every sense of the term. We now proceed along 

5. MERRION ROW and MERRION STREET, pausing at the house No. 24, now used as the office of the ecclesiastic commissioners for Ireland, but interesting to us as The Birth-place of Wellington. Having entered Merrion Square, we walk on the south side so far as the house No. 30, for a period of years the residence of Ireland’s great political leader, Daniel O'Connell. Returning from this short pilgrimage to the comer of the Square by which we entered, we walk next on the west side to the site of the Industrial Exhibition of 1853, situated on the grounds of the Royal Dublin Society.—This society was founded in 1631, and incorporated in 1746 by George II., who granted an annual sum of £500 to forward its objects. Since that time the grant has been considerably augmented. The building occupied by the society was formerly the mansion of the late Duke of Leinster, from whom it was purchased in 1815 for the sum of £20,000. In order to view this building properly, the visitor should see it from Kildare Street. The front of the building is in the Corinthian and the entrance hall in the Doric style of architecture. Connected with it are lecture rooms, a school of design, and museums of natural history and agriculture. The museum is open from 12 to 3, with free admission on Monday, Wednesday, and Friday, and a charge of sixpence on Saturdays. The statue gallery is open daily from 1 to 3; and the agricultural museum from 11 to 4, both free. In 
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order to see the Library, the visitor must be introduced by a member of the Society. Continuing through Lower Merrion Street, we enter Westland Row, and there arrive at 

6. St. ANDREW’S ROMAN CATHOLIC CHAPEL, on the right, a Doric building in the style of the Acropolis at Athens, designed by James Boulgar, and erected in 1832-34 at an expense of £13,000. The building is in the form of a cross. On the tympanum, which is supported by two columns and four pilasters, is a fine piece of sculpture, representing the Scottish saint and cross. Over the tabernacle, in the interior, is a group, embodying the Transfiguration, from the chisel of the justly celebrated Hogan. 
7. THE TERMINUS of the KINGSTOWN RAILWAY, in the immediate vicinity, is a plain structure. From it the traveller departs for England or the watering places on the south of Dublin Bay. Our route here turns to the right and leads us along Great Brunswick Street, then down Clarence Street, on the left, till we arrive at the river side at 
8. SIR JOHN ROGERSON’S QUAY, the view from which is highly admired. It is the reverse of that obtained from Carlisle Bridge, having the shipping in the foreground, and the Custom-House to our left, peering in the distance through a forest of masts. On the right, the eye wanders down the course of the river, past the light-house, until it expands into a wide bay, and becomes lost in the horizon. Re- tracing our steps towards the centre of the city, though by a difi'erent route, we shall avail ourselves of the ferry-boat, and cross the river close by 
9. THE DOCKS, situated at the east side of the Custom- House. They are of tolerable size, and well planned. The basins are built entirely of Wicklow granite. The quay on which they are situated is the north wall, the spot from which most of the English and Scottish steamers start, and where may be seen on busy days all manners and kinds of merchan- dise, including rags, cattle, hogsheads, pigs, and vegetables, all waiting for shipment. A little further west is 
THE CUSTOM-HOUSE (page 13). 
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We are now in Beresford Place, and a sharp turn brings us to Lower Abbey Street, where we find two most interesting buildings on the left. 
10. MECHANICS’ INSTITUTION, a plain but commodi- ous structure, containing a good library and reading-room, with a spacious lecture hall, besides several class-rooms. Lec- tures are occasionally delivered, and classes for languages, music, and drawing, are open to members and others at very cheap rates. The reading-room is open every week-day from 9 a.m. to 11 P.M., and on Sundays from 2 p.m. Strangers may avail themselves of the opportunity of consulting the Irish or English newspapers, on payment of one penny. The Insti- tute was founded in 1837, and since that period has progressed considerably. 
11. THE ROYAL HIBERNIAN ACADEMY, on the same side of the street, is a plain Doric structure, erected in 1824 for the promotion of the fine arts. In 1823 the academy had received a royal charter for the study of paint- ing, sculpture, and architecture. The exhibition usually opens in May, and closes in the latter end of July, the charge being one shilling. In 1853, however, it was open so late as the end of October, at a charge of sixpence through the day; and in the evening, for the benefit of the working classes, at one penny. The plain building nearly opposite is Union Chapel, belonging to the Presbyterian body. We have now re-entered Sackville Street, with the Post-Office to the right. 

Our walk during the day has scarcely exceeded three miles; but if we have paid particular attention even to a few of the twenty-four objects pointed out, we should be pretty well satisfied for the day. Should, however, the tourist have but one day at his disposal, he may run over the space before lunch, and then accomplish our second walk (marked by a blue line) in the afternoon. If he has no desire to enter particularly into the details of any of the buildings, he might even take a car, being careful to engage the man by the hour. He could thus comfortably go over the three miles, and carry away a pretty fair idea of a portion of Dublin, in as many hours, which would cost him just so many shillings. Cars always stand for hire in Sackville Street, as well as in most public places. 
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SECOND WALK. 
About Five Miles—Masked Blue on Plan. 

Post-Ophce. Proceed up SackviUe Street. Eahl Stbeet. 1. Metropolitan Roman Catholic ChapeL Return to Sackville Steeet. 2. Rotunda; Rutland Square. Geeat Britain Steket. 8. Newgate. Bolton Steeet Heneietta Street. 4. Queen’s Inns. King Street. Coleraine Street. 5. linen Hall. Constitution Hill. 6. Terminus of Galway Railway. 7. North Union Workhouse. Grange Gorman Lane. 8. Richmond Penitentiary. Gravel Walks. 9. Blue Coat School. Barrack Street. 10. Barracks. Parkgate Street. Enter Phoenix Park. Returning, cross —11. King’s Bridge. 12. Terminus of Cork and Kilarney Railway; Steevens’Lane. 13. Steevens’Hospital. Bow Lane. 14. Royal Hospital. Mihtary Road to—15. Barrack Bridge; Cross to Ellis’ Quay; 16. Queen’s Bridge. Arran Quay. 17. Whitworth Bridge. Four Courts; 18. Rich- mond Bridge. Ormond Quay. 19. Essex Bridge; 20. Wellington Bridge. Bachelor’s Walk. Carlisle Bridge. Cross to Burgh Quay. 21. Corn Exchange; 22. Conciliation Hall. 
THE GENERAL POST-OFFICE must again be our starting-point; but on this occasion, instead of directing our course to the south, we turn our backs upon the river and proceed northwards. First, however, let us turn to the right, along Earl Street, to the 
1. METROPOLITAN ROMAN CATHOLIC CHAPEL, generally termed the Church of the Conception. The posi- tion of the structure is bad, hemmed in, as it unfortunately is, by neighbouring edifices of a different class. The design is Grecian, and is the combined effort of several illustrious architects. The principal front is ornamented by a hexastyle portico of the Doric order. Upon the apex of the pediment stands a statue of the Virgin, of colossal size; and on the extremities are similar effigies of St. Patrick and St. Laurence O’Toole. The decorations of the interior are very chaste; but the chief attraction is a relievo in stucco of the Ascension, placed over the altar in the ceiling. In an aisle on the right, a beautiful monument to the late pious and liberal minded Roman Catholic Bishop of Dublin, Dr. Murray, has been erected. Returning to Sackville Street, we again face the north, and reach the 
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2. ROTUNDA, at the head of the street. This peculiar- looking building is situated at the comer of Rutland Square, which stretches away behind it, and consists of a series of rooms used for public exhibitions or meetings, with a suite of assembly rooms. The garden is open during the summer, and forms a favourite promenade, being enlivened with a military band. The charge is sixpence, and all profits go to support the ad- joining lying-in-hospital. This institution was erected in 1751 -57 by Dr. Bartholomew Mosse, and affords relief to upwards of 2000 patients yearly. Formerly government granted £1000 annually to the institution, which, however, has been lately reduced to £500. We now turn to the left down Britain Street, and arrive at a dark gloomy building, with strong high walls and watchful turrets; we have in fact got to 
3. NEWGATE, the scene of poor Lord Fitzgerald’s death in 1798, where in the same year the barristers Henry and John Sheares, with John M‘Cann, secretary to the Leinster Com- mittee of United Irishmen, and W. M. Byrne, were all exe- cuted for high treason. These are gloomy memories, but we hope that Irishmen will forget the bitter feelings towards England which are associated with them, as assuredly no man with a kindly spirit could exult in them. Let us then leave the place, by passing up Green Street, Bolton Street, and Henrietta Street as far as 
4. THE QUEEN’S INNS, a building at once beautiful and imposing. The front is composed of a centre and two wings ; a pediment hears the royal arms. An octagonal cupola sur- mounts the whole. The dining hall is well worthy of notice, being ornamented with several statues and paintings, among which are portraits of Lord Avonmore and Lord Chancellor Manners. The building contains various courts and offices. The library is a new building, erected in 1827, at the cost of £20,000. Retracing our steps down Henrietta Street, we may be interested in seeing the buildings occupied by the commis- sioners of encumbered estates, where nearly one-half of the landed property in Ireland will, in all likelihood, change hands. Bolton Street, King Street, and Coleraine Street, must next be paced, in the latter of which is situated 
5. THE LINEN HALL, a pretty extensive range of 
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buildings, where, when the linen trade flourished in Ireland, crowds of purchasers flocked from every corner of Europe. The cotton trade of Manchester has materially injured this branch of Irish industry, though some hopes of its ultimate revival have been entertained. The building consists of six spacious courts, with store-houses, the total number of apart- ments being 557. Passing along Constitution Hill we arrive at the 

6. TERMINUS OF THE GALWAY RAILWAY, gene- rally termed the Midland Great Western Railway. The building is composed of granite, and is a combination of the Grecian and Egyptian styles of architecture. The view of the city from this point is very fine, especially in a clear day, when the Wicklow Mountains are distinctly seen in the distance. 
7. THE NORTH UNION WORKHOUSE is close at hand to the left. This building affords house-room for 2300 paupers ; it originally formed part of the House of Industry, but in 1840 was converted into its present use. Adjoining it are hospitals for lunatic, fever, chronic, and other patients. The Richmond Lunatic Asylum was erected by the public at a cost of. £50,000, and being finished in 1815, during the Lieutenancy of the Duke of Richmond, his title was given to the building. It consists of 210 cells, with 8 rooms for con- valescents ; and has its full complement of nurses and medical attendants. This hospital is entirely for the benefit of paupers. A farm is attached to the asylum, on which light employment is found for those qualified for it. In Grange Gorman Lane is situated the 
8. RICHMOND FEMALE PENITENTIARY, a plain but substantial building, constructed of mountain limestone and granite. This highly praiseworthy and beneficial institu- tion is conducted in a most becoming manner, every attention being given to the moral training of its penitent inhabitants. Nor are their intellectual faculties allowed to remain in that deep sleep which destitution and crime have settled upon them. Useful branches of education are taught together with some trade or occupation, which may be the means of allowing them to earn an honest livelihood on their departure from this sanctuary. Wending our way to the river side through the D D 
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Gravel Walk, we come upon what seems to be an unfinished building, 

9. THE BLUE COAT SCHOOL, founded in the time of Charles II., who gave it a charter, for the support and education of the sons and grandsons of decayed freemen of the city. It was originally designed, however, to embrace a wider sphere of charity. The aged poor were intended to be relieved, but the funds of the institution were inadequate. The building, as it now stands, was begun in 1773, when the Earl of Harcourt laid the foundation stone. The steeple is yet unfinished, being intended to rise 140 feet in height. The edifice consists of a middle portion with two wings. The front is 360 feet in length. The central portion of the building is appropriated to the conductors of the hospital, the south wing is the school-room, and the north wing the chapel. Behind are buildings used as a dining-hall, and sleeping apartments for the boys, and offices. The income of the hospital is about £4000 annually. We now enter Barrack Street, running paralled with the river, and soon discover the esplanade in front of the 
10. ROYAL BARRACK, an establishment of greater extent than any usually met with, providing, as it does, ample accommodation for one horse, and two foot regiments. It is built on rising ground, and comprises five large squares. Immediately behind the barrack is Arbour Hill, the military hospital for the east of Ireland, and the Old Provost Prison, in which Theobald Wolfe Tone committed suicide. Parkgate Street is a continuation of Barrack Street, and, as its name implies, leads the visitor to the gate of the celebrated 
PHCENIX PARK (page 14). 
Returning from this fashionable resort, we may cross 
11. KING’S BRIDGE.—This bridge was so named in honour of the visit of George IV. to Dublin in 1821; it was not commenced, however, until 1827. The span is of iron, 120 feet in length, with abutments of granite, and the whole presents a truly graceful appearance. It was erected by public subscription, at a cost of £13,000. The design is by Pap worth. 
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12. THE TERMINUS of the CORK and KILLARNEY RAILWAY, styled the Great Southern and Western Railway, next meets us. This is undoubtedly an ornament to the city, and superior in style to most of the railway termini in Ireland. The front is formed of beautifully hewn granite, commencing at the base with the Tuscan order, corniced and rusticated; then eight Corinthian columns and two pilasters rise above, with well executed windows between them; the pediments of which are alternately angular and arched. Surmounting these are a balustrade and cornice. Two wings project, one at either side, rising to the height of the first storey, and bearing clock-towers with cupolas. The entire width of the front is 213 feet. The internal arrangements of the terminus are admirable. The passenger shed occupies two and a half English acres of ground, is covered by a light iron roof, and contains comfortable waiting rooms and other offices. The Act of Parliament for the construction of this railway was passed in 1844. The chief engmeer is Sir John M'Neill. We now pass through Steevens’ Lane, and approach 
13. STEEYENS’ HOSPITAL, endowed by Dr. R. Steevens, who died in 1710. The building was commenced in 1720, and opened for patients in 1733. The funds of the hospital amount annually to about £2200, besides a grant from Government. It is capable of accommodating about three hmidred inmates, who are classified according to age, sex, and the nature of their complaints. The erection is very plain, and contains, besides ward-rooms, a chapel, a library, and committee rooms. We next enter Bow Lane; turning sharply to the right, and come in sight of 
14. THE ROYAL HOSPITAL, for disabled or superannu- ated soldiers. It is a quadrangular mass of buildings, enclosing a grass plot. Three sides of the quadrangle present a piazza on the ground storey, on which the veteran inhabitants can take open air exercise, even in wet weather. The northern is the principal front, and contains the master’s apartments. The chapel is on the eastern front, and has a stained-glass window, originally belonging to the Hospitallers’ chapel. Altogether, the interior decorations of the chapel are of a superior caste, exhibiting elaborate carvings in wood, and modellings, in plaster. The hospital was founded in 1679 by Charles IL, 
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who granted sixty-four acres of ground for the purpose, and appointed sixpence in the pound to he deducted from the pay of all military men, “towards the building of said hospital, the same to be continued until by some other way, it shall be provided with a sufficient revenue of land for support of it.” In 1794, Parliament interfered and granted a sum for the maintenance of the hospital. The erection, including a garden, infirmary, churchyard, etc., cost upwards of £23,000. It was originally intended to afford shelter to three hundred inmates, being the proportion of one to twenty-five of the Irish soldiery. It may be interesting to know, that the present hospital stands on the site of the ancient priory of Kilmainham, at one time belonging to the Hospitallers, or Knights of St. John of Jerusalem. Turning again to the right, after a short walk, we continue in a direction parallel to the railway, until we enter the military road, and down Watling Street, to 

15. BARRACK BRIDGE, rejoicing occasionally in the ominous title of Bloody Bridge. This is the oldest bridge now standing in Dublin. Originally built of wood in 1670, it was shortly after the scene of one of the apprentice riots, by no means uncommon at that period, in which four of the distur- bers of the peace were killed. The present structure is of stone, dark and forbidding, well sustaining the tragic character affixed to it. We turn to the right, and continue down Ellis Quay, till we come to the next in order, 
16. QUEEN’S BRIDGE, so named in honour of Queen Charlotte. It is built of stone, is 140 feet long, by 40 feet in width. It was opened in 1768, We now walk along Arran Quay to 
17. WHITWORTH BRIDGE, one of the finest in Dublin. From the middle of it we have a good view, embracing, in the left foreground, the magnificent fa9ade of 
THE FOUR COURTS OF DUBLIN, (page 14). 
18. RICHMOND BRIDGE, erected on the site of Old Ormond Bridge, which spanned the river from 1428 till it was swept away by a flood in 1802, is next seen. It was re-erected between 1813-16, and cost the sum of £25,000. It consists of three arches, the key-stones of which are ornamented with 
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colossal heads. The length is 220 feet and width 52 feei. Ormond Quay must next he traversed, passing 

19. ESSEX BRIDGE, a miniature copy of Westminster Bridge, with fine arches, a balustrade, and cornice, opened in 1755. This is the longest bridge in Dublin, being 250 feet by 51 wide. 
20. WELLINGTON BRIDGE, the next, consists of a single arch, the segment of an ellipse, 240 feet long and 12 feet wide. The structure is of iron, and has a light elegant appearance. It was opened in 1816, and received its name in honour of the bright achievements of the Iron Duke at Waterloo. By Bachelor’s Walk we again reach Carlisle Bridge, and may either return homewards, or again cross the Liffey, and turning to the left down Burgh Quay,, among all the hustle and confusion of lading and unlading, to 
21. THE CORN EXCHANGE, the meeting place of the National Council in 1832, and the Repeal Association at a later period. It was erected in 1816; the interior is 130 feet in length, and contains movable stalls for exhibiting samples of com. The next building, now lost in the dust of its present occupation, is the once famous 
22. CONCILIATION HALL, the scene of the great O’Connell’s triumphs. On the ceiling of the upper loft is still preserved the gilded harp and shamrock of Ireland. The tourist need hardly be informed that the building, which ten years ago echoed with the wild and wily eloquence of the liberator, is now a com-store. Again we are within sight of the starting point. Our street walk has barely amounted to five miles, but the toil of gazing on handsome buildings, stretching our necks to read inscrip- tions, and sundry other pieces of labour, may be fairly said to double it. We have now seen absolutely everything in the city; this is not meant to imply that there is nothing else at all worthy of notice, but that we have pomted out the lions. The patient student of city life, or city architecture, might find employment for many days. By way of an evening amusement, a drive in the Park would afford a pleasant recreation; or, if otherwise disposed, the Theatre may supply 
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the want. The Theatre Royal is in Hawkins Street; it is well fitted up, and the company is generally good. The Queen’s Theatre is situated in Brunswick Street. It occupies a lower rank, and the charges are less than in the other. Good concerts frequently take place, the inhabitants being very partial to music. 

THIRD WALK. 
TO CLONDALKIN. 

Fbom Foub to Five Miles—Mabked Yellow on Plan. 
Post Office. Henby Stbeet. Maby Stbeet. 1. St. Mary’s Church. Maky’s Lane. Chubch Stbeet. 2. St. Michan’s Church. Whitwobth Bbidge. Cross Bbidge Stbeet. S. St. Audoen’s Romas Catholic Chapel. New Row. Fbancis Stbeet. 4. St. Nicholas’ Roman Catholic Chapel. Coombe Stbeet. 5. Weavers’ Hall. John Stbeet. Semmeb Stbeet. School Stbeet. 6. Grand Canal Harbour. 7. Clondalkin. Monas- teby. Round Toweb, Church. 

Return by road, passing Kilmainham Jail and Royal Hospital, to Phcenix Park; or by rail to Kingsbridge Station. Fares—Is., 9d., and 4d. Cars entire distance about 3s.; or by time at Is. per hour. 
We have already, in the course of our two walks through the city and its suburbs, visited almost every building of note, and place of resort within its precincts; yet, as we have to go to Clondalkin, we may as well have a few notes to take with us by the way. If time be precious, a sixpenny drive to the Kingsbridge Station, and a four miles’ run per rail, will be a saving; but if we have leisure and inclination for a walk, it may be interesting to take the Liberties of Dublin on our way. Suppose then, that from our old starting place in Sackville Street, we turn round into Henry Street to our left, and pursue an even course through it into Mary Street, to 
1. ST. MARY’S CHURCH, an old-fashioned but commo- dious church, built in 1697. It has a front ornamented with Ionic columns, and is crowned by a bell-tower. The east window is a good specimen of glass painting, representing the ascension in the centre, with the four evangelists in the other compartments. Unfortunately it is but a wreck of what it once was. In 1852, on an old city member, Mr. John Reynolds, being thrown out, the mob set to work with stones to demolish 
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the windows of several of the churches in town, and this one suffered severely among the rest. Mary’s Lane is now entered, and turning from it to the left, into Church Street, find on our right hand the ancient 

2. ST. MICHAN’S CHUECH, founded in 1095 by the pious Dane whose name it bears. The present building does not, however, date so far back, having been erected on the site of an old one in 1676. Very few portions of the building can even claim this antiquity, so many have been the altera- tions and improvements made on it. The square tower, however, is decidedly venerable. The vaults of the chapel possess the peculiar property of preserving the bodies intrusted to them in a perfectly undecomposed state, resembling in this respect the Egyptian mummy pits. Dryness, one great essential to the preserving of animal matter, is complete here. But at one time, owing to the night visits of a rascally sexton, for the purpose of stealing away the lead coffins from the dead, the damp night air entered, and bade fair to play havoc with the mummies. 
There is a story told of his releasing the body of a lady from its cofan, which, however, looked him fiercely in the face with a pair of vengeful eyes, and so ter- rified him, that he left his lantern and ran home half dead with fright; the lady is said to have taken advantage of the light, and to have walked quietly to her own home, where for years she lived a happy life 1 Many readers have heard this story repeated in connection with some place or another, and have, no doubt, set it down as very dubious; but don’t let him indulge sceptical notions, or if he does, let him by no means express them before the present sexton, or indeed in Dublin at all. 

Here rest the weary bodies of not a few individuals illus- trious in their day, i.e. at the time of the rebellion some fifty years ago. The brothers Sheares, Oliver Bond, Dr. Charles Lucas, and the Kev. W. Jackson, who acted as agent in France for the United Irishmen, and who “ sunk in the dock,” from the effects of poison, before the bench could pronounce sen- tence upon him. We have again to reach the river, and, crossing it by Whitford Bridge, enter Bridge Street, and view 
3. ST. AUDOEN’S KOMAN CATHOLIC CHAPEL, an old structure, indeed one of the oldest chapels in Dublin. It is not now used, the new chapel in Bond Street having super- seded it. Those interested in the past turmoils of the nation 
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will perhaps spare a moment for reflection as they contem- plate the house in this street, now occupied by Messrs. Vance and Beers. In this house, on the 12th of March 1798, the committee of the United Irishmen of the Leinster district, with poor Emmett at their head, were convened for rebellious purposes, when the law, aided by a military force, took them into custody, at the same time laying hold of their papers. In the castle, Emmett, M’Nevin, M'Cormick, Jackson, and Dillon, were examined by the Privy Council, the result of which was, that warrants were issued for the apprehension of Lord Edward Fitzgerald and Councillor Sampson. The volun- teer corps, meanwhile, paraded the streets night and day. Entering New Kow, and through it to Francis Street, we approach 

4. ST. NICHOLAS’ ROMAN CATHOLIC CHAPEL, which stands on the site of the ancient monastery of St. Francis. The portico consists of four Ionic columns. The Rev. Dr. Flanagan erected at his own expense the square tower which is ornamented with Corinthian pilasters. The interior is richly decorated. Over the side altars are figures by Hogan of St. Luke and St. Nicholas ; groups also represent the Virgin with the body of Christ, the baptism of our Saviour, and the scene of his first miracle at Cana. If still interested in historical affairs, a turn into Thomas’ Street will not occupy much time, and in the house No. 151, then occupied by a person known as “ Murphy, the feather-man,” Lord Fitzgerald was taken, but in the capture received his death-wound at the hand of Major Sirr. He expired in Newgate in a state of frenzy, after about four weeks’ suffering. In the same street Lord Kilwarden was assaulted by a mob, furious with the memory of Emmett’s fate, and dragged, along with his nephew, from his carriage. His nephew was brutally murdered by the demoniac crowd, but his lordship and his daughter, who accom- panied him, escaped. We are now fairly within the Liberties of the city, and in order to witness more palpably the departed glory of the place, let us enter Coombe Street, and see 
5. THE WEAVERS’ HALL. This hall was erected in 1745 by Mr. J. D. Latouche, the descendant of a family who, on the revocation of Edict of Nantes, left France and found a home in the Irish metropolis. The members of the 
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same family have ever been distinguished as commercial men. Over the entrance is a statue of George II. The interior is plain and truly depressing. A talented writer on the silk trade of Dublin says, when speaking of the guilds, “ their once beautiful halls are in ruins. The Weavers’ Hall is let to several poor tenants. The splendid tapestries with which it was once adorned have been destroyed or dispersed, and the chief ornament of their building, the portrait of the royal patron of the guild, has passed for a trifle into the hands of one of the last members.” The various restrictions put at different times upon the importation of Irish manufactures, the absence of the gentry from the country, and many other causes* are assigned for the decline of the principal trades in Dublin. It may be interesting to some, to observe a tabular comparison between the state of the chief trades at the time of the Union, and in 1843; although it must be home in mind that since 1843, several of these trades have received a new impulse. 

Continuing through John Street, Summer Street, and School Street, we gain the basin of the 
6. GRAND CANAL, a herculean task in its day, and of great benefit to Ireland before the opening of the Midland and Great Western Railway, connecting, as it does, Dublin with the very centre of Ireland. The canal passes in a westerly direction from Dublin, through the county Kildare and King’s County, till it joins the river Shannon a little above Banagher; and then takes a somewhat north-westerly course for about fourteen miles to Ballinasloe. Our walk on its banks will be hut short, extending to a distance of about three miles. And 
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it will be an agreeable change to leave buildings, churches, politics, and every other civil or uncivil matter behind us, and now commence our walk by the side of a straight but lovely piece of water, on a promenade scarcely to be surpassed, shaded on either side by stately Wych elms, whose gnarled roots peer out from beneath the soil. The scattered 

7. VILLAGE OF CLONDALKIN contains a parish church, a national school, and, as its crowning feature, a round tower. Seward, writing in 1789, thus describes it:— “ The tower is eighty-four feet in height, and built of stones, each about a foot square, forming a circle fifteen feet in dia- meter. The walls are upwards of a yard thick, while about fifteen feet above the ground is a door without any steps to ascend to it, nor are there any steps on the inside, indeed if there ever were any may even raise a doubt. The base is solid. Towards the top are four small oblong holes which admit the light, and it is terminated by a conic covering.” Since the time of this writer a rude flight of steps has been constructed of such a rough nature that we might almost suppose them coeval with the tower. So firmly built is this apparently rude effort of masonry, that in the explosion of the powder mills close at hand, which laid the village in almost total rains, the tower stood uninjured. Many conjectures have been raised as to the object of these peculiar monuments, not less than as to their builders. Every possible use has been assigned to them, from watch towers to church steeples. The Danes not unfrequently get the credit of their erection, and certainly in the present instance there may appear to he some plausi- bility in the belief. It is well known that Amloffe the Dane, who was crowned King of Dublin by his followers in 852, built a royal residence for himself at Clondalkin. That the tower may have been appertaining to the rude palace of the rude king seems not altogether improbable. Whatever these towers were intended for, it is certain that they were on more than one occasion made the depositaries of relics and other prized objects, and even became safe retreats in time of danger. It is mentioned in the annals of Dublin that in 948, in the reign of Congelach, monarch of Ireland, the Danes burned the tower of Slanes in County Meath, and that, “ it was full of relics and religious people, among whom was Ceoineacair, lecturer on divinity at Slanes; and among the relics was the 
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crozier of St. Erlaria, and the best bell in all Ireland.” Dr. Petrie believes that the round towers all over the country had no higher use than as bell towers. This is probable if we reflect on their proximity in many cases to still existing ruins of religious edifices. The attendant expects 6d. for admission into the tower. Near Clondalkin is situated a monastery for the education of candidates for orders in the Catholic Church. 

FOURTH WALK. 
DUBLIN TO GLASNEVIN. 

Post Office. Sackville Street (North). George's Lane. Marlborough Street. 1. St. Thomas’ Church. Temple Street. 2. St. George’s Church. Dorset Street. 3. Roman Catholic Chapel of St. Francis Xavier. Elizabeth Street. Blacquir Bridge. 4. Royal Canal. Glasnevin Road to—5. Glasnevin. 6. Cemetery. Tombs of Curran, O’Connell, Tom Steele. 7. Botanic Garden. Residences of Tickell, Addison, Parnell, Swift, Delany, Steele, Sheridan. 
The city being all but exhausted, and an afternoon on hand, we may turn our attention to the romantic village of Glasnevin—romantic not so much in appearance as in associa- tion. It may be well too, in approaching it, to find our way through streets not already traversed. For this purpose, we proceed in a northerly direction through Sackville Street, and by way of varying the route, walk or drive through George’s Lane and Marlborough Street, in order to have a peep at 
1. ST. THOMAS’ CHURCH. — It was commenced in 1758 by John Smith, architect, and finished in 1768. The ornamental details, which are showy without being elegant, embrace Corinthian, Grecian, and Roman styles, mixed up together, and are said to have been designed by Palladio. A steeple was intended to have been added, but as yet is only represented by a wooden belfry. The internal arrangements are well and tastefully executed. Temple Street must be traversed before we come upon the Ionic front of 
2. ST. GEORGE’S CHURCH.—This church was erected in 1802, at a cost of nearly £40,000. The portico is composed of four fine Ionic columns, supporting an entablature and frieze, with an angular pediment. The spire is highly ornamented, 
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and rises to the height of 200 feet. On the frieze is a Greek inscription from Luke ii. 14—“ Glory to God in the Highest.” Elaborately carved cantilevers support a gallery which stands along three sides of the interior. The fourth side has a curved bay, in which is situated the pulpit and reading desk, fenced off from the communion table by an elegant railing. In Dorset Street, which is close at hand, the 

3. KOMAN CATHOLIC CHAPEL of ST. FEANCIS XAVIER is seen. This chapel is universally admired as a good specimen of the Roman Ionic style. It was originally designed by the Rev. B. Esmonde in 1829 ; and opened for worship in 1832—J. B. Keane being architect. The cost was £18,000. In front is a handsome portico fifty feet high, built of native granite. The interior decorations are very elaborate, especially on the ceiling and the altar screen. A short walk through Elizabeth Street will bring us to Blacquir Bridge over the 
4. ROYAL CANAL, and a few steps further will place us on the Glasnevin road, somewhat less than a mile from the Post-Office. The Royal Canal, like the Grand Canal, makes its way to the Shannon, passing through Mullingar, and joining the river at Termononbarry, above Lough Ree. We have again left the busy town, and enter the northern suburbs. Certainly the long lines of mud walls, and occasional mud cottages carefully whitewashed over, do not impress us too favourably. But the suburbs of most towns present unpleasant features, and these cabins are pictures of comfort in comparison with some we may yet visit. 
5. THE VILLAGE OF GLASNEVIN is situated about two miles from Dublin. The houses are poor in general, though a few have more pretension. The chief attractions here are the Cemetery and Botanic Gardens. 
6. THE CEMETERY occupies the space of nine acres. The surface, unfortunately for picturesque effect, is perfectly level, yet the whole is tastefully laid out and carefully kept. One fine feature in Irish cemeteries cannot fail to catch the eye of the tourist from England or Scotland—the attention paid to the graves of deceased friends. Daily, daughters, sisters, 
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widows, and mothers, may be seen with a little basket of fresh flowers to decorate the graves of their departed friends. Or, if it is winter, wreaths of evergreens of various hues, with a cross of solemn black, are hung on the rails which surround the visited tomb. We have already seen the habitation of Daniel O’Connell, and the hall where his eloquence stirred the multitude. We now visit his tomb. From an octagonal foundation of native limestone rises a granite round tower upwards of 160 feet in height, surmounted by a cross 8 feet high, and Weighing, it is said, about two tons. However appropriate the monument, it can scarcely be called beautiful, whether viewed from a distance or close at hand. Underneath the tower is a vault for the reception of the remains of the great agitator. A round platform of earth in the centre of the ground, surrounded by a deep ditch, is the spot where O’Connell was originally buried; and in the vault opening into this moat are the remains of Steele, his staunch supporter. Above the door will be seen the simple inscription “ Honest Tom Steele,” contrasting favourably with a fulsome, ill-written, and badly spelled epitaph on a neighbouring vault. The visitor of course will notice many tombs, but as the majority of them will only interest the few, we shall merely call attention to one, that of the admired wit and distinguished orator Curran. The tomb is of Irish granite, and a fac-simile of the celebrated monument of Scipio Barbatiens. Admission to the cemetery is free, and no gratuity is allowed to be asked. “ From the city of silence,” we pass by a stile through a field to the high road, and thence in a few minutes reach the 

7. BOTANIC GAEDEN, into which thereisfree admission on Monday, Wednesday, and Friday, from 12 to 4; on Tuesday and Thursday a charge of sixpence. It may be of importance to know that here, as in most other botanic gardens, no baskets or packages with provisions are allowed within the gates. The demesne had formerly been the property of the poet Tickell, who came to Ireland with Addison, at the time when the latter was secretary to Lord Sunderland. In the house on the grounds, Tickell enjoyed many happy hours in his friend’s society; and in it we may presume his best title to poetic fame, his ballad of Colin and Lucy, was composed. Perhaps few villages have been so honoured by literary talent. Parnell, the author of the Hermit, Brinsley Sheridan, and 
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Swift, lived at different times in or near it; and at Delville, a short way off, resided Dr. Delany, where poor Stella came to visit, in order to be near her eccentric admirer. The Botanic Gardens are the property of the Royal Dublin Society, who are assisted by a yearly grant from Government, besides occasional grants for special purposes. They cover an area of about thirty-one statute acres, and are divided into the following departments:— 1. Conservatory department, embracing a range of beautiful iron green-houses and stoves, with elegant curvilinear roofs. In these and other buildings, the visitor will meet with the weeping cryptomeria of China and Japan, which is said to be the origin of the design in chinaware, erroneously styled the willow pattern; the dwarf palm of the south of Europe, the date palm, and others of the same family; the leather-leaved banksias from New Holland, and the wax-flowered heaths from the Cape. 2. The arrangements of hardy herbaceous plants, including native Irish, British generally, and medical. A department likely to be of more interest to the student than the visitor. 3. A collection of trees and shrubs, a study for the planter and forester. 4. The experimental division of culinary and agricultural plants—a feature wanting in most botanic gardens, and made up by those denominated horticultural or experimental. Per- haps the general tourist may have little pleasure in the sight of whole rows of turnips, of every different shade and name, and clovers of every species and variety, although, to the cultivator of Irish soil, this is undoubtedly the most valuable portion of the whole garden. 5. Comprehends the pleasure ground. This is not a proper place for a catalogue of the varieties and beauties in the garden, and we can only recommend such as visit the little paradise, in the spirit of botanists, to procure at the door a clever and entertaining little handbook by the curator, D. Moore, M.R.I.A. The river Tolka passes the village of Glasnevin, and is celebrated for the many hostile encounters which it witnessed between the Danes and the Irish. It was much admired by Addison during his stay in Ireland. 



EXCURSIONS FROM DUBLIN. 
DUBLIN TO HOWTH. 

By Rail from Amiens Street. Trains about seven times daily. Fares—Is., 8d., and 6d. Return Tickets on Sundays Is. 6d., Is., and 9d. Distance, eight miles. 
Dublin Station. Marino. Clontarf. Clontarf Castle. Ratheny. Junction. Baldoyle and Sutton. Howth. Howth Village. Barbour. Ireland’s Eye. Remains of Church and Round Tower. Carrigeen Bay. Howth Castle. Abbey. The CoUege of Howth. Hill of Howth. Druidical Remains. Baily of Howth. St. Fintan’s Church. 

Perhaps no better way of spending a day can be proposed, than in an excursion to the peninsular hill of Howth. The ancient name of the hill is Ben Hedar, which literally means the “Mountain of the Birds.” In our sail to the Emerald Isle, one of the first objects which caught our attention was this hill. In order to pay a more particular visit to the spot, it will be necessary to take the Drogheda Railway from Amiens Street. The station is constructed of granite, in the Italian style of architecture, from a plan by Mr. Buder. The expense of its erection was £7000. Sir John M'Neill constructed the railway, and on its opening in 1844, received the honour of knighthood. The carriages are very comfortable, exceeding in elegance anything to be met with on the longer lines either in England or in Ireland. Half a mile from the terminus we cross the Royal Canal by a fine viaduct of latticed iron, 140 feet long, and immediately after obtain a fine view of the spacious bay of Dublin, with its breakwater two miles in length. On the left appears 
MARINO, the residence of the Earl of Charlemont, stands in the middle of an extensive and beautiful demesne, with many fine trees. Various architectural ornaments add to the natural beauty of the scene. The most noticeable, perhaps, is the temple built by Sir W. Chambers. It is in the Doric order, and is beautifully ornamented with friezes; while on the angles of the basement rest colossal lions. The interior is tastefully decorated, and the roof affords a magnificent view 
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of the city of Dublin on the one hand, and the bay on the other. To the left appears the memorable plain of 

CLONTARF, famous as the scene of Brian Boroimhe’s last victory over the Danes. 
“ Remember the glories of Brian the brave, Though the days of the hero are o’er; Though lost to Mononia, and cold in the grave, He returns to Kinkora no more. That star of the field, which so often hath poured Its beam on the battle, is set; But enough of its glory remains on each sword, To light us to victory yet.” Moose. 

It is doubted by many writers whether the victory was really in favour of the Irish. It is generally, however, conceded in their favour. The Scottish reader may be interested to see the name of Lennox mentioned among the soldiers of the patriot king. An Irish manuscript, • translated a few years ago for the Dublin Penny Journal, by J. O’Donovan, after summing up the number of natives slain on the side of Brian, says;— 
“The great stewards of Leamhue (Lennox) and Mar, with other brave Albanian Scots, the descendants of Core, King of Munster, died in the same cause.” After the battle, great respect was shewn to the body of the deceased king by his devoted followers, who almost looked upon him in the light of a saint. Wills gives the following account of the progress of his corpse:— “The body of Brian, according to his will, was conveyed to Armagh. First, the clergy of Swords in solemn procession brought it to their abbey, from thence the next morning, the clergy of Damliag (Duleck) conducted it to the church of St. Kiaran. Here the clergy of Lowth (Lughmach), attended the corpse to their own monastery. The Archbishop of Armagh, with his suffragans and clergy, received the body at Lowth, whence it was conveyed to their cathedral, For twelve days and nights it was watched by the clergy, during which time there was a continual scene of prayers and devotion.” Few traces now remain of this dreadful encounter. 
CLONTARF CASTLE, the seat of the Yemons, is another attraction to the spot. It is built in the Norman castellated style, which is almost the only order of architecture suited for such buildings. The architect was Wm. Morrison, who died lately. The site of the building was formerly that of an ancient preceptory of the Knights Templars, dependent on that situated at Kilmainham. 
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Should the tourist wish to visit the battle-field and the two mansions just referred to, he may take the omnibus from the Nelson Column to Clontarf for threepence, see them, and then take the train from Raheny Station to Howth. 
RAHENY is the first station on the line. The village presents no features of interest, save in the richness of the country surrounding it, which extends to the very foot of the hill of Howth. This tract was styled anciently the plain of Magh-n-Ealta. In the annals of the Four Masters, an incon- trovertible authority in Ireland, it is spoken of as “ the old plain of the flocks of Edar”—Ben-na-dair being the ancient name of the neighbouring Hill of Howth. A portion of this tract of land belonged in the twelfth century to the celebrated Sir John de Courcy, who, having served Henry H. in all his wars in France, after the death of Strongbow came over to Ireland with deputy-governor Fitz-Adelm, but disgusted with the inactivity of his superior, set out from Raheny in 1182 to obtain possession of the province of Ulster, which had been granted to him by King Henry, on the condition that he should first reduce it by force of arms. De Courcy was accompanied by his sworn brother in arms Sir Armoric St. Lawrence, Robert de la Poer, a young knight, twenty other knights, and about five hundred men-at-arms. About a mile further on, we come to the Junction Station, where we leave the trunk line for Drogheda, and diverging by the branch line to Howth, cross a long sandy isthmus which connects the Hill of Howth with the mainland. 
BALDOYLE AND SUTTON are little fishing villages on this isthmus. An extensive oyster bed, known as Sutton Strand, lies to the right of the railway. The Hill of Howth is well seen from the carriages for some time before reaching our destination. 

HOWTH. 
(Royal Hotel—bti ls.6d.; breakfast Is.Gd.; dinner 2s.; tea Is.; attendance Is.) 

The Village of Howth, consisting of a single street, is situ- ated pleasantly on the face of the hill. Originally it extended further towards the castle, and at that time was merely a fish- ing village. Having become a sea-bathing station, a few more 
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comfortable and commodious houses have sprung into exist- ence of late, and the Royal Hotel, which is well conducted, affords good accommodation for families and tourists. There are also several other houses of entertainment which supply refreshment and accommodation to casual visitors. The population is about 700, independent of occasional summer residents; the town contains a fine Roman Catholic chapel, a dispensary, a national school, a constabulary station, and on an eminence near the castle, is the neat parish church. Howth Harbour.—The importance of constructing a har- bour here was first urged upon the attention of Government in 1801, by the Hon. and Rev. W. Dawson, who proposed that mail packet-boats should start from it. At length, after many applications, , the work was commenced in 1807 by the celebrated engineer Rennie. The harbour is somewhat rhom- boidal in outline. The pier to our left runs out for a distance of 2280 feet; that on the right is 2700 feet in length, but is so constructed as to form two sides of the boundary, leaving in front an entrance 320 feet wide. The water, we are informed, is from eleven to twenty-three feet deep at this point, accord- ing to tide. It was here that George IV. landed, in August 1821, on his brief visit to Ireland. The charming rocky island, seemingly a stone-throw from the piers, is that long known as Ireland's Eye, to which a boat may be procured in fine weather for two shillings. The ancient name of this island was “ Inis-mac-Nessan,” which literally signifies the “ Isle of the sons of Nessan.” The present name appears to be a corruption of that bestowed on it by the Danes, who called it Ireland’s Ey—the word Ey in the Danish signifying an island, e.g., Lambey, Anglesey, etc. The remains of the church of St. Nessan are still to be seen on the island. A portion of a round tower is attached, and is evidently the ruins of the bell tower. Dr. Petrie assigns the period of its erection to the middle of the seventh century, when the island was inhabited by Dichuil, Munissa, and Neslug, sons of Nessan, a princely scion of the family of Leinster. In our rowing boat we have passed a rock, known as Carrigeen island or rock, and entered Carrigeen bay, among large loose rocks, covered with wild lichens, mosses, and ferns, and approached the semicircular arch of the old church door- way, which stands towards the west. Little of the ruin 
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remains, so we may wander about the island for half an hour in quiet enjoyment of the scenes which, like a panorama, spread round on every side. The rocks and caves have each their peculiar names, as the Stags and the Rowan rocks, but we leave these to the eloquence of the boatman. The island contains about fifty-three statute acres. To the southward another of about one acre in area, called Thulla, is connected with the parent isle by a submerged reef, designated Thulla rocks, over which the sea sometimes lashes with terrible fury. Howth Castle is the family seat of the St. Lawrences, who have held it since the time of their ancestor, Sir Armoric Tristram de Valence, who arrived here in the twelfth century. The family name is said to have been Tristram, and that even Sir Armoric never bore the present family title, but that a descendant or relative assumed it on tire occasion of a battle won by him on St. Lawrence’s day. “The sword of this warrior yet hangs in the hall at Howth.” The castle, which received additions, and was in a great measure rebuilt by the twentieth lord of Howth, in the sixteenth century, is a fine old structure. It consists of an embattled range, flanked by towers. The interior of the castle is rich in historical associa- tions. Founded originally by one of the most chivalrous of the English settlers in Ireland, it has maintained all along its high position. One sad blow was struck at its dignity by the graceless Grace O’Malley, or Granuaile, or Grana Uile, a western chieftainess, who, returning from a visit to Queen Elizabeth at London, landed at Howth, and essayed to tax the hospitality of the lordly owner, who refused to give her any refreshment. Determined to have her revenge, however, and to teach the descendant of the Saxon hospitality, she kidnapped the heir, and kept him a close prisoner until a pledge was obtained from his father that, on no pretence whatever, were the gates of Howth Castle to be closed at the hour of dinner. Strange though it may seem, this promise was most faithfully kept up to a very recent date. A painting of the incident is preserved in tire oak-pannelled dining-room. The castle is approached by a flight of steps, leading into a hall extending the entire length of the building, and decorated with arms. Among these is the sword already referred to. It is a two-handed sword, measuring, even in its mutilated state, five feet seven inches; the hilt alone being twenty-two 
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inches long. There are also some good family portraits in the hall, and other interesting mementos, mcluding the bells from Howth Abbey. The inscription on one is not very intelligible ; those on the other two are more so; on one it runs— 

Jesu: Christe: Misserere: Nobis: 
and on the other— 

Sancta : Maria : ora : Pro : Nobis : ad : Filium : 
One portrait must not be passed unnoticed, were it only for the curious adjuncts affixed to it. It is a full length portrait, by Beridon, in 1735, of Dean Swift, who was a frequent visitor at the castle. He holds in his hand a paper, on which is mitten—“ The Draper’s fourth letter to the whole people of Ireland.” Poor Wood sprawls naked at his f§et, clenching his patent for the coinage of copper money, a quantity of which lies scattered about him. The pleasure grounds are extensive, well laid out, and contain some fine trees. A deep moat formerly surrounded the castle, but is now almost wholly filled up. The Abbey of Howth is situated on a delightful spot overhanging the ocean. Tradition states that its foundation was laid in 1235, and that it was erected by Luke, Archbishop of Dublin, on the removal of the prebendal church from Ireland’s Eye. It was dedicated to the Blessed Virgin, and hence styled St. Mary’s. Over the western door is a ruined belfry, and at the opposite end a triplet window. This is certainly the oldest portion of the abbey, and undoubtedly the most elegant. In the chancel is an altar-tomb, belonging to Christopher the twentieth lord, and his lady Elizabeth. Recumbent figures represent them both; the former in armour. On the sides of the tomb are sculptured the arms of the family and its con- nections. Along the northern side of the original church, is an additional aisle, with rounded Burgundian windows, sup- posed to belong to the sixteenth century. The College of Howth is a name given to a peculiar mass of building, situated close to the burial ground of the abbey. In the centre is a small court, surrounded with high walled buildings, now the habitation of the poorer classes. The Hill of Howth, properly so called, now invites our attention. Having passed through the village, we keep on by 



HOWTH. 45 
the road to the right, and looking back at intervals, get a fine view of Ireland’s Eye and Lambey islands, with the village of Howth in the foreground; all the prettier for being partially shrouded with trees. Continuing this walk, we come in sight of the rugged summits of Ben Edar, the highest point of which is 563 feet above the sea level. The steep rocks of Carricmore overhang the beautiful grounds of Howth Castle, and afford an extensive view of the coast, with a foreground of heather. At the foot of the rocks is an ancient cromlech, consisting of a huge oblong stone, about fourteen feet by twelve, supported on a number of others. Some of the supporting stones are still seven feet in height. Writers are at variance regarding the origin of this relic—some asserting that it was originally connected in some mysterious manner with a druidical temple. The more generally received opinion is, that the cromlech was part of the sepulchral monument raised by the ancient inha- bitants over their departed chiefs. That it was, in fact, nothing more than a frame-work to protect the contents of the tomb from the pressure of the immense mass of stones piled around and above it in order to form a cairn. Taking this view of the subject, we must suppose that, in the course of time, the stones have been gradually removed from the cairn, leaving only the internal supports. An explanation, if not as reliable, yet more amusing, is the legend current among the natives, that the huge mass was pitched into its present position by the renowned giant Fin MacCoul, when fighting with a Danish warrior. The new road, so named by way of distinguishing it from all others, is generally followed by travellers, affording a fine succession of marine views. Passing by this way the beautiful bay of Balscadden, a favourite bathing-place, we come to Puck’s Rocks, situated on the north-east corner of the peninsula. A deep fissure separates the rock. Near the summit of the deep chasm is a rude representation of a human figure. This figure, tradition tells us, is the petrified remains of an evil spirit, who used to plague the good Saint Nessan, when he lived on Ireland’s Eye. On one occasion, the saint was reading the much venerated book of Howth, on the approach of his fiendish enemy; and raising the precious volume, struck the intruder so forcibly with it, that he was knocked right across the water into the rock, which split into that yawning chasm in order to receive him. A little further on is the unlucky Castlena rock, on which the Victoria struck. 
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Further on, we come in sight of the lighthouse, on the rocky headland to the south-east, known as the Baily of Howth.—The term Baily is supposed to he derived from an old Irish word signifying a fortified hill; and certain it is, that so late as 1814, the lines of ancient fortifica- tions were quite recognisable. The lighthouse was built in 1814 by the “ Ballast Board,” in order to supersede an old one which stood 300 feet above the level of the water. It is in the form of a truncated cone supporting a lantern. The reflectors are parabolic, and in the foci are placed twenty large oil lamps, thus giving a clear fixed light. The appearance of the lighthouse from the road is very striking, standing out as it does on what seems to be an insulated rock. The ruins of St. Fintan's Church stand on the south side of Howth, facing tire expanse of Dublin Bay. It was a church evidently of very slight pretensions, being little more than sixteen feet by eight; the windows are small, and, with the exception of that in the east wall, destitute of ornament. The situation, however, makes up for all deficiencies in the building; the view is delightful—on the north a rocky height, and on the south a beach, now the scene of a busy oyster trade. Besides the supposed Druidical remams already mentioned, several others of a like character are observed on different parts of the hill; indeed, the ground seems teeming with historic and traditionary associations. A lead mine was opened in 1451 by Sir Christopher, fourteenth baron of Howth, and another in 1754. Gold is said to have been found, as well as tin and copper, though not in sufficient quantity to pay working expenses. The mountain limestone of Howth is much prized for mantel- pieces and ornaments, being susceptible of a fine polish. Manganese is at present wrought on the south side of Howth. To the botanical visitor it will be sufficient to notice the following plants recorded as found. Scilla rerna on the beach ; Crithmum maritimum, the samphire; Statice Limonum, sea-lavender: Carduus Marianus, milk-thistle; and in the marshes, Anagallis te.ne!la, the bog-pimpernel; Irisfcetidissima, the blue-flowered iris; and the Veronica scutellata. 
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DUBLIN TO KINGSTOWN, DALKEY, AND BRAY. 

By Kail to Bray, through Kingstown. Trains from W estland Row, about every hour. Tares 2s. 3d., Is. 8d., and Is. Id.; Ketura tickets 3s. 4d., 2s. 6d., and Is. 8d. Dublin Station. Blackrock. Salt Hill. Monkstown. Kingstown. Harbour. Obelisk. Dalkey. Dalkey Island, Killiney Hill. View of Dublin Bay. 
The line to Kingstown was opened on the 17th of December 1834, and has been deservedly encouraged. It was constructed at an expense of £340,000, raised partly by shares, and partly by loan. The only stations are Booterstown, Blackrock, a famous bathing spot, and Salt-hill or Monkstown; places possessing little interest save as the suburban retreats of the Dublin citizens, whose villas pleasantly variegate the prospect. As an instance of what royal patronage may do, it is worthy of notice that the old fishing village of Dunleary is now a fashionable watering-place, with good hotels, good houses, and good trade, all originating in the visit of George IY.—its very name becoming changed into the higher sounding one of 

KINGSTOWN. 
ITotkls—Royal—bed 2a. 6d. to 3s., breakfast 2s., lunch Is. 6d. to 2s., dinner 3s., tea Is. 6d., supper Is. 6d. to 2s. 6d., attendance charged in bill Is. 6d., private room 4s. to 6s. Rathlone’s—hei Is. 6d. to 3s., breakfast 2s., lunch Is. 6d. to 2s, dinner 2s. and upwards, tea Is. 6d, supper Is. 6d., private room 3s. to 7s. 

Much of the prosperity of this town is to be attributed to the facilities which it presents for the reception of packets from England, which arrive and depart several times a day. It is situated on the south side of Dublin Bay, on a dangerous coast, where, previous to the completion of the now admirable lighthouse arrangements, many serious accidents occurred. In the Harbour, we never fail to see one of the packets lying in waiting for the time of sailing. It is needless to add that they are well appointed, and properly managed in every respect. The refuge harbour is not unlike that at Howth in form, but embraces an area of 250 acres. The depth of water varies from 13 to 27 feet. A revolving light, visible every half minute for about nine miles distant, is placed on the eastern pier. This harbour was declared by the Tidal Harbour 
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Commissioners to be “ one of the most splendid artificial ports in the United Kingdom.” The granite of which it is composed was obtained at Killiney Hill. The town is well built, con- sisting of several streets and terraces. George Street is half a mile in length, and well built. The population numbers about 10,500. An obelisk, raised on a mass of rock-work, surmounted by a sculptured crown, commemorates the visit of George IY. Until a short time ago, the communication between Kings- town and Dalkey was by means of an atmospheric railway, which was worked in the following manner :—A tube two miles in length, with a slit cut along the upper side, covered with an elastic valve, was exhausted at the Dalkey end by means of a stationary engine; the piston was attached by a rod to the bottom of the first carriage, and passed through the slit in the tube, the valve being gently raised for its passage. The pressure of air on the piston from the open end at Kingstown, forced it along with wonderful rapidity. The motion was gentle and even. In July 1856 the steam locomotive drove the atmospheric system out of the field, and by it we reach 

DALKEY, a town which certainly has not shared to any considerable extent in the prosperity of Kingstown, although at one time ranking higher in importance. During the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, Dalkey was a port much used by the Dublin merchants, who found it safer to have their goods landed there than allow their ships to venture into the bay, and attempt the passage of the Liffey. In the town and neighbour- hood are numerous remains, of greater or less extent, of castles and fortified places, all found necessary to defend the town and harbour against the incursions of Irish pirates, who at one time swarmed in the channel. At a short distance from the main- land is situated Dalkey Island, the sound between which and the land is said to be somewhere about eight fathoms deep at the lowest tide. In this nook, ships may be perfectly safe from the north- east winds which affect the bay. The island contains about eighteen acres, mostly pasture. The ruin of an old church, and what has been called a Druid’s altar, are met with on the island. In the neighbourhood of Dalkey are many pleasant villas. 
KILLINEY HILL, situated close to Dalkey, is from its position a noticeable feature in the landscape, although rising 
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only 472 feet above the sea. A Druidical circle exists not far from it, in a field beyond Mount Druid property. A pyramidal pillar on the hill marks the spot where the young Duke of Dorset was killed by a fall from his horse, when out hunting with Lord Powerscourt’s hounds. On the north side of the hill are extensive granite quarries. Dublin Bay, as viewed from this hill, is generally allowed to be one of the finest sights in Ireland. In the foreground we have a succession of rocks and trees, with Kingstown appear- ing beyond them, the railway station, obelisk, and harbour being conspicuous objects; a little further into the bay stretches the north wall of the Liffey, with a lighthouse at the end of it; while beyond this, the level shore of the bay is seen ending in the rugged peninsula of Howth. Those who think the toil of ascending the Hill of Killiney too great, will find it worth while to hire a car for the purpose of enjoying the delight- ful views which can be obtained from the summit of the hill. The Bailway continues 5 miles further along the coast to Bray, passing on the way Obeliskhill and Ballybrack stations. 

BRAY (Quin’s Hotel—Card of charges on application). The name of this headland is supposed to have been derived from Breagh, brother of the hero Edar, who gave his name to the Hill of Howth. The town is rising fast into importance as a tourists’ station, from its proximity to the Dargle, the Glen of the Downs, and the Devil’s Glen, and from the facility with which it can be reached from Dublin, either direct by road— a distance of about twelve or thirteen miles—or by railway. Connected with the hotel are cold and tepid baths, and for those who prefer the sea, bathing boxes, with a private walk through the grounds to the beach. The population is nearly four thousand. Bray Head is situated some distance from the town, and from it is obtained a most admirable view, embracing to the north Killiney Bay, Howth, and the Moume Mountains; to the west the town of Bray, backed by the Sugar Loaves and Shank- hill Mountain; and to the south Wicklow Head. The Welsh Mountains are said to be sometimes discernible on the horizon in clear weather. In the neighbourhood of Bray are Kilrud- dery, the noble mansion of the Earl of Meath, built in the Eliza- bethan style, and surrounded by a beautifully undulating park; 
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Bray Head demesne, now a Loretto convent; Old Court, the residence of Mr. Edwards, with the ruin of De Riddesford’s Castle in the pleasure grounds; Hollybrook, another Eliza- bethan mansion, the residence of Sir G. F. Hodson, Bart.; Wingfield, the property of Mr. Darley; and at the other end of the Glen of the Downs, Bellevue, the seat of P. Latouche, Esq. The Dargle and Powerscourt may be conveniently visited from Bray by such as prefer rapidity of travelling. A descrip- tion, however, of these places will be found in the next route. From Bray the railway continues to Wicklow through New- castle ; but that portion of the line will be described in the next tour. 

DUBLIN TO ENNISKERRY, THE SEVEN CHURCHES, 
VALE OF AVOCA, AND WICKLOW. 

For the benefit of the tourist who desires to spend three pleasant days in an excursion among the Wicklow Mountains, we have prepared a route embracing a wide range of scenery, so diversified in its nature, that the visitor will have a general idea of the beauties of Ireland without going further. Of course such an idea must be very limited, but to one with very little time to spare, it will be worth the possession. In this excursion we have bare rough hills, rich valleys, moors, and fertile plains; lakes, waterfalls, mansion houses, ruined castles, and monastic relics; we have towns and large tracts of uninhabited mountain land. In short, we have an epitome of Ireland. Several plans naturally present themselves. That which appears to be the most feasible is presented first. Taking the mail car from the Post Office at 7 a.m., or coach from 20 Chatham Street at 8J a.m. to Enniskerry, and there visiting the Dargle and Powerscourt with or without a guide. Taking the road on foot for Round- wood, visiting Loughs Tay and Dan on the way, sleeping at Roundwood. In the morning, starting by car or on foot to Glendalough, seven miles distance. If by car, then the walk to Wooden Bridge, which is thirteen miles, or car to Rathdrum, and thence on foot, which would reduce the walk to six or seven miles, and give the tourist a good opportunity of leisurely enjoying the scenery of the Avoca Vale. Sleeping at Wooden Bridge, and walking to Arklow in the morning, four miles, to meet the coach, getting into Dublin on evening of third day. If only two days can be spared, it would be well to reach Wooden Bridge on the evening of the first day. This can be done by hiring a car to Roundwood, which can be reached by twelve or one o’clock, allowing time at Enniskerry for breakfast and a visit to the Dargle. Powerscourt Waterfall will be seen from the road to Roundwood. Another car should be hired at Roundwood for Glen- dalough aud Wooden Bridge, reaching the latter in the evening. The journey may even be accomplished in one day and a night, by reaching Arklow on the evening of the day at ten o’clock, aud taking the night mail from thence to Dublin, where it arrives at half-past five in the morning. But a more rapid and 
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The drive between Dublin and Enniskerry, on a fine sum mer’s morning, is sure to be enjoyed by the tourist. The road passes through several villages or hamlets, built and kept in a style quite national. In the outskirts of Dublin, we pass through RANELAGHandCuLLENSWOOD, two pleasant suburban villages. In Cullenswood a dreadful massacre of 500 English citizens of Dublin took place on Easter Monday of 1209. A colony from Bristol, enticed by the advantages held out to them to settle in Dublin, had occupied a portion of the town, and on the holiday in question went out to Cullenswood, a mile from town, to amuse themselves. The O’Bymes and O’Tooles of the Wicklow Mountains had naturally looked with jealousy on the prosperity of those whom they considered intruders, and came upon them suddenly when in the midst of their enjoyment, slaying not less than 500 of them. “ Bloody- Fields ” is a name not unfrequently given to the spot, and Easter Monday was commonly know in Dublin by the epithet of “Black Monday.” In the vicinity are many beautiful villas. Sandford, a little farther on, has a fine church, erected in 1826, at the cost of £5000, by the munificent Lord Mount- sandford. The village owes its name to this circumstance. The river Dodder is soon crossed, and we find ourselves surrounded by beautiful villas, until we reach the little village of Dundrum, in the parish of Taney. Dundrum is a rural village, and therefore not to be confused with the market-town of the same name in Ulster province. Wickham, the seat of Leonard BickerstafF, Esq., is one of the principal villas in the neighbourhood. The air is very salubrious, and much enjoyed by invalids. We have now got to the commencement of the Dublin Mountains, and will continue a somewhat hilly ascent for the space of six miles. Three miles from Dundrum is the village of Kilgobbin. To our left we see the dilapidated tower of Kilgobbin Castle, erected by the early Saxon settlers to secure themselves against the incursions of their warlike neighbours, the O’Byrnes and O’Tooles. In the reign of Queen Elizabeth, it was held by a scion of the Walsh family. An old church stands on a grassy knoll, and beside it is one of the ancient stone crosses almost peculiar to Ireland. Golden Ball village is about a mile further on, and near it is the demesne of Kilternan, the residence of Mr. Anderson, and church of the same name, believed to be one of the oldest churches in the country, although very little of the original now stands. The 
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western doorway, which is blocked up with rubble work, has a square top. About half a mile from Golden Ball is an enormous cromlech known as the Giant’s Grave. It is a huge mass of granite about twenty-three feet in length, seventeen in breadth, and six in thickness, supported upon a number of stones varying from three to seven feet in height. To our left are the mines of Shankhill, and a little further off, the castle in which James II. is said to have passed the first night after his defeat at the Boyne. The walls are still perfect, and it is used as a shepherd’s house. The name of it is Puck’s Castle. Springfield, the property of Mr. Thomson, appears on our right, and then by 

THE SCALP, we pass from the county of Dublin into that of Wicklow. The Scalp, although void of grandeur, exhibits sufficient beauty to be admired. It is “ a deep defile, formed by the operations of nature in the bosom of a rock or mountain composed of granite. The sides are acchvi- ties, but not so near the perpendicular as to prove inac- cessible, and the whole surface of the ascent on both sides is covered with prodigious and disjointed masses of stone, which shoulder each other in tumultuous confusion, and threaten to fall upon and crush the passenger at each adventurous foot- step. When the traveller looks back and views this tremen- dous chasm in dreary perspective, he is almost induced to believe that the base of the mountain has, at some remote period, given way throughout the extent of the ravine he has passed, and the incumbent mass fallen into the hollow earth, thus leaving a frightful channel, not to be accounted for on a consideration of the ordinary works of nature.” A less poetis though not less correct description is given by Seward in his Hibernian Gazetteer, 1789, where, under the head of Scalp, we find the following account :■—“ A curious chasm, where is a road cut through a rock, on the top of a very high mountain, about six miles from Dublin. This place consists of heaps of stones of enormous sizes, piled curiously on each other, and forming one of the most striking natural objects in the king- dom. The sides of the chasm are not perpendicular, but slope from the top considerably.” The Scalp has lost some of its picturesque effect since the abandonment of the old road to Enniskerry, which ran at the bottom of the chasm. 
ENNISKERKY is our halting place, and here we find a 
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good country inn, and moderate charges. It is well built and remarkably clean, and is the property of Viscount Powers- court. It is prettily situated on a small stream in a deep valley, and during the summer is a favourite place of resort with the people of Dublin, on account of the beauty of the surrounding scenery, and the purity of the air. Engaging the guide at the hotel to show us the far-famed 

DARGLE, we sally forth for a pleasant walk, after our morning’s ride. “ The Dargle ” is the title applied to a long glen, through which the river Dargle flows, until it meets Enniskerry River, and thenceforth the united pair assume the name Bray River. The river Dargle takes its rise in Crockan Pond, a hill 1770 feet high, and situated about six or seven miles from Enniskerry. On its way it skirts the War Hill, 2250, and comes close to the Roundwood high road, where one of its tributaries, forming Powerscourt Waterfall, tumbles wildly down the mountain side. The river flows north through the old deer park of Powerscourt, and, on leaving it, receives the river of Glencree; when it becomes the boundary between the seats of Lords Monck and Powerscourt. Mr. Grattan’s property of Tinnehinch is next enlivened by it; when sud- denly the vale contracts into a narrow ravine, and through this passage flows the river. The length of the ravine is about a mile, and the height of some portions of the enclosing wall of rocks exceeds 300 feet. These precipitous rocks are, more- over, beautifully clothed with native wild wood and graceful fern. Many parties prefer to enter the glen at the lower end, and leave it at the upper; and not a few will prefer spending the entire summer day in such a shady retreat, particularly if the heat be oppressive on the roads. The view of the glen from above is exceedingly beautiful; a combination of rugged rock, of foliage of every tint and form, of clear water dancing here and there in the gay sunshine, and murmuring far beneath our feet, in concert with the merry choir of birds in the sur- rounding trees. “ It is a fine example of a wooded ravine, and is exceedingly beautiful. The banks on either side, par- ticularly on the right bank of the river, rise in some places to the height of three hundred feet, the slopes being completely covered with the liveliest and greenest woods. It is like some of the more wooded glens of our Scottish streams, but softer and richer. Perhaps it comes nearest the character of the 
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Wye, but is on a smaller scale. The river that flows through it is inconsiderable, but large enough to yield the charms both of sight and sound to the traveller, as he treads his shaded path on the brow of the steep above it.” * One of the best stations for a view of the glen is known as the Lover’s Leap, situated at the_ head of the glen, and easy of access from the main path. The whole, or nearly the whole of the glen and its neighbourhood, is observable from that point. 

POWEESCOURT (seen without an order on Mondays and Tuesdays—an order required on other days) is further up the glen. It is the property of the family of Wingfield. It is due to this family to mention that scarcely any in Ireland enjoy so much of the goodwill and respect of the peasantry. The late Lord Powerscourt was a constant resident in the country. A curious instance of the respect for a resident landlord occurred during the terrible rebellion in 1798. Lord Power- scourt despising the cowardice of those landlords who thought they could not be, safe unless sheltered in the capital, fortified his mansion, and to prove his reliance upon his tenantry, formed them into a yeomanry to the number of a hundred, and with their assistance preserved family and property. Holt, the famous rebel-general, surrendered to Lord Powerscourt. The mansion, finely placed upon a terrace, is built of granite ; it is plain, large,, and truly baronial in appearance. Among the apart- ments, which are very spacious, is the grand saloon, eighty- feet by forty, where George IV. was entertained on his visit to Ireland in 1821. The land appertaining to the demesne of Powerscourt is estimated at 26,000 English acres, but the en-i closed grounds do not exceed 800 acres. It has frequently changed hands since first becoming English property. De la Poer, a knight in Strongbow’s company, was the first English possessor; and by him the castle was built. In the reign of Henry VIII. the castle was taken by the fierce O’Bymes and O’Tooles of Wicklow; and, being retaken by the English, was conferred upon the Talbots. Another Irish clan, the Kava- naghs, obtained possession of it in 1556. In 1609 the property was given by James I. to Sir R. Wingfield, who was created Viscount Powerscourt in 1618, since which time the peerage has twice become extinct, and was revived for the second time in 1743 in favour of the present peer’s ancestor. 
* Sir John Forbes. Memorandums made in Ireland. 
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THE WATEEFALL is regarded by some as a splendid sight, and by others as a mere plaything. When seen after a succession of wet days and nights, it has indeed some title to magnificence. In very dry weather the stream is deficient in quantity, and descends along the face of the cliff. In the immediate vicinity of the cascade, is a grassy nook much resorted to by pic-nic parties. It is related that on the occa- sion of George IV.’s visit to Powerscourt, a large tank was dug in the top of the hill, in order to ensure a good flow before royalty, but that his majesty did not find it convenient to visit the obliging waterfall. 
TINNEHINCH HOUSE is the property of the descendants of the patriot and orator Henry Grattan. The Irish parlia- ment, appreciating the noble exertions of this wonderful man, purchased the property for him, in order that he might end in peace a life which had been so laborious. 
CHARLEVILLE, the handsome seat of Viscount Monck, closely adjoins those of Lord Powerscourt and Mr. Grattan. If time permitted, the tourist would much enjoy a stroll up 
GLENCREE, about a mile above the fall. Indeed it would be an admirable variation of the road to send the conveyance round to Lough Bray Cottage, where, after a quiet walk up the glen, and a visit to the Loughs Bray, upper and lower, under the hill of Kippure (2473 feet), the tourist could join it, and then take the military road so far as Sally Gap, where, adopting the left-hand road, a wild uninhabited region is passed over to the east of Luggala and Lough Tay, and then join the road about two and a quarter miles from Roundwood. By taking this detour, the car will require to travel about seventeen miles from Enniskerry to Roundwood, instead of ten by the regular road. Another pleasant divergence from the route to Roundwood is to take a bye-path over the face of a hill to the right, which leads to a fine view of Lough Tay. It is somewhat difficult to find the path without assistance ; enquiry should therefore be made whenever the opportunity occurs. The pedestrian enters a field by a style, and ascends in the direction of a larch plantation, which he passes on his left, and keeps a regular foot-path in the direction of the head of a valley, which appears 
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on the same side; crosses the head of this valley, and by a con- tinuation of the same path, passes over the next mountain shoul- der, until he comes in sight of Lough Tay, and discovers an I extensive prospect spread out before him. To the right, he ; sees a wide extent of upland moor with a silvery stream mean- j dering through it, almost parallel with the military road, until it reaches a fertile little spot at the head of Lough Tay. | Immediately opposite, casting its shadows on the clear blue f lake, rises the fancy rock, bringing him forcibly in remembrance ■, of the rock which frowns over Brothers Water in Westmore- | land; and above and around on every side, the undulating | mountains give a wild picturesque effect to the scene. Far | under his feet is a plantation of larches, and at the west end of . the nook, he overlooks the Annamoe River, which conveys j) the surplus water from Lough Tay to Lough Dan, of which he i catches just a glimpse in the mountain cage which encloses it. ^ The house to the northern end of the lake, embosomed in trees and shrubs, and surrounded with grass sward, whose verdure contrasts strangely with the brown sterility around it, is 

'i LUGGALA LODGE, the property of Mr. Latouche. Moore’s beautiful song, beginning with the line 
“ No, not more welcome the fairy numbers,” 

was written to a very old air known as “ Luggala.” “ On the eastern side of the valley was formerly one of those extraordi- nary druidical remains called a ‘ rocking stone,’ used by the artful arch-druid for oracular purposes. A large stone was placed upon the top of another, so balanced that the smallest effort would shake it, and was supposed to be self-moved in the presence of a guilty person. In some cases, as on the I Three Rock Mountains, in the county of Dublin, the culprit ' was placed under the stone, which was made to vibrate over j his head, and threaten death at every instant. In the year 1800, a party of military passing this mountain dislodged the rocking stone from its pedestal, and it now lies some yards from its original position, deprived unfortunately of its powers of motion.” * 
LOUGH TAY receives its supply of water principally from the river Annamoe, which, just before entering it, falls 

* Wright’s Wicklow. 
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down a rock close beside Luggala Lodge. It is situated about 807 feet above tbe sea, is circular in form, about half a mile in diameter, and a mile and a half in circumference. The glen in whose upper end this lake is placed is about ten miles in length, extending to Laragh. 

LOUGH DAN is situated two miles further down the glen, and has an elevation of 685 feet, being 122 feet lower than Lough Tay. It is a larger lake, and receives a portion of its supply from the Avonmore. This lake is surrounded with wild hills covered with heath and furze, the hill on its northern side being Knocknacloghole 1754 feet, on the east Slievebuckh 1581 feet, and on the south-west the Scar 2105 feet. From the station on the hill which the tourist ascended he catches only a glimpse of Lough Dan, and joins the direct Roundwood Road by descending that to his left. It may be of interest to know that there is good trout fishing to be had in Lough Dan, and that for the accommodation of anglers, a person of the name of Manning has furnished a cottage, and provides boats on the lake at a very reasonable 
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men aa you please, and I will bring with me only my servant. I will also bring with me a cold dinner, and if you let me know what will satisfy you for your losses, I will use my endeavours to get it for you.” Had he been allowed to avail himself of Sir John’s Moore’s gallantry, in all probability much bloodshed might have been spared, but his followers, who entertained the idea that he meant to betray them, kept him prisoner, and at one time were scarcely re- strained from instantly murdering him. 

ROUND WOOD or TOGHA (Inns: Realty’s—Murphy: bed Is. 6d., breakfast Is. 4d., tea Is. 6d.), as it was originally named, is a small hamlet possessing little interest to the tourist save as a resting place, for which purpose are two good country inns, where post horses can be had. The town is situated in the midst of an immense tract of table land, about 700 feet above the sea. Tithewar, the seat of Mr. Nuttall, is near Roundwood, and is well planted. The town contains a church and a post office. The houses are few, and have certainly nothing to boast of as regards neatness or accommodation. We now leave the village, pass the plantations of Roundwood Park, the church of Derrylossary, and Glendalough Park, the residence of Mr. Barton, sweeping gracefully down a portion of Glenavon. Turning about on the way, we have frequent glimpses of glens, and here we see just the upper part of the Devfi’s Glen far in the distance to our left. 
ANNAMOE VILLAGE appears next. It is situated on the rivulet of the same name which issues out of Lough Dan. Little can be said about the few thatched houses which com- pose the village, save that the place is to a certain extent interesting ground on account of the accident which nearly deprived the world of Uncle Toby, the poor Lieutenant, and Corporal Trim. Living at the barracks of Wicklow, in 1720, Laurence Sterne says in his autobiography—“ From thence we decamped to stay half a year with Mr. Featherston, a clergyman, about seven miles from Wicklow, who, being a relative of my mother’s, invited us to his parsonage at Animo. It was in this parish, during our stay, that I had that wonder- ful escape in falling through a mill-race whilst the mill was going, and of being taken out unhurt. The story is incredible, but known for truth in all that part of Ireland, where hundreds of common people flocked to see me.” A ruined water-mill is still shown as that which was the scene of the accident. Whilst on the bridge at Annamoe, it would be well to take a 
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look across the valley to a green knoll, about a mile distant, on which are situated 

THE RUINS OF CASTLE KEVIN.—This was from time immemorial the stronghold of the O’Tooles, who, with the O’Byrnes, held the greater part of Wicklow. There can be little doubt that the ground upon which St. Kevin built his churches was originally granted to him by the then chief of the O’Tooles, though the conditions of the grant, and the manner of raising the structures, are perhaps not altogether correctly stated in the old traditions, prose and verse, to be met with. The castle, which is now in ruins, is supposed to have been built by the O’Tooles some time in the twelfth cen- tury, and to have remained principally in their hands until the end of the thirteenth. “In the year 1308, Piers Gavestone, being hatedby the English nobility, as estranging King Edward’s affections from themselves and from his queen Isabella, was banished into Ireland, where he fortified Castle Kevin, and lived there for some time, having first harassed and defeated the O’Byrnes and O’Tooles, in order to conciliate the English.” The Castle afterwards returned to the original proprietors, again to be lost by them, until at length it was reduced to ruins, and the clan finally dispersed. A little further on is the village of 
LARAGH. 

Guides are in abundance in this village, and if not wanted, may prove annoy- ing, unless their services are peremptorily declined. It will be necessary, in the event of retaining one, to come to a clear understanding »ith him, before setting off in his company. 
On the site of an old barrack, which was pulled down a few years ago, a church, a school, a constabulary barrack, and a mill, have been built by the proprietor, Mr. Barton, a landlord uniformly and justly esteemed in the country. The village itself is beautifully situated at a spot where the vales of Laragh, Clara, and Glendalough meet. We turn to the right, through the village, passing the beautiful little property of Derrybawn, so called from the mountain under which it is situated. A walk of a mile and a quarter from Laragh brings us to the hamlet and 
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VALE OF GLENDALOUGH.—The valeof Glendalough, or the two lakes, is about three miles in length, and nowhere of any great width. The hills on the north which bound it are Brockagh, Glendassan, and Comaderry (2296 feet). On the south, 9ie boundaries are Derrybawn (1567 feet), Mullacap (2176 feet), and Lugduff (2148 feet). The river which feeds the lakes is the Gleneolo, which takes its rise in the mountains to the west. The vale is dark and cheerless even in summer, and being almost without a single tree, has a gloomy aspect, The principal attraction in the vale is the mass of ruins scat- tered over it, known by the name of 
THE SEVEN CHURCHES.—Many and curious are the traditions current, concerning the founder of a seat of learning in this lonely wilderness. One thread, however, runs through all the varied account. 

It appears that “ he was bom in the year 498; was baptized by St. Cronan ; received the first rudiments of his education from Petrocus; was priested by Bishop Lugid. He was contemporary of ColumbkiUe, and held constant intercourse with him, and other holy men of his day. He led a hermit life in an old place called Cluagn Duach, since called Glendalough (the valley of two loughs). He died on the third day of June 618, at the age of 120. The day of his death is yet commemorated in the place by a patron. After his death, Dymnach, one of the lords of the surrounding territory, founded a cathedral church, with other build- ings, which gradually sprung up into a city, the history of which is not extant, hut the ruins exist, and tell its whereabouts, and attest the ancient legends.”* This much is authenticated history, hut tradition fills up the rest, and asserts that poor Kevin was, like St. Anthony, tempted, though not by the father of evil, hut by the lovely young Kathleen, who was so passionately enamoured of him, that she begged to be permitted even to live in sight of him, or, as the Irish poetically express it, “to look upon his shadow, to hear not even his voice, hut its echo,” promising at the same time that she would “ lie like a dog at his feet, take penance for his sins, as well as her own, and even in prayer forget her own soul for the good of his.” But the saint was proof against Cupid, or at least sought safety in flight, being frequently overtaken by his devoted worshipper, till at last he found refuge from her eyes in the hollow on the face of the rock overhanging one of the lakes. Even here she followed him, although the dangers attending the path had all hut baffled him, and when he awoke on his hard rocky couch in the morning, the blue eyes of the infatuated Kathleen gazed softly on him through the tears which were almost frozen in them. 
* Lives of Hlustrious and Distinguished Irishmen, by James Wills, A.M., M.R.I.A. Dublin, 1843. 
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“ ’Twas from Kathleen’s eyes he flew. Eyes of most unholy blue! She had loved him well and long, Wish’d him her’s, nor thought it wrong. Wheresoe’er the saint would fly, Still he heard her light foot nigh; East or west where’er he turn’d. Still her eyes before him burn’d.”—Moork. 

One would naturally expect that a man of such pure religious feelings would have combined pity with his piety, and have done something to recover the mind of Kathleen from its error; but instead of that, the tradition makes him pitch her over the face of the rock into the water beneath, where she was drowned. 
“ Ah ! your saints haVe cruel hearts! Sternly from his bed he starts, And with rude repulsive shock, Hurls her from the beetling rock. Glendalough, thy gloomy wave. Soon was gentle Kathleen’s grave! Soon the Saint, (but ah! too late). Felt her love and mourn’d her fate. When he said ' heaven rest her soul! ’ Round the lake light music stole. And her ghost was seen to glide. Smiling o’er the fatal tide.”—Moore. 

The erection of the Seven Churches is generally ascribed to St. Kevin; it is more probable, however, that he merely lived as a hermit in the locality, having charge of an abbey which he founded on the spot. The origin of the city, and its celebrity as a seat of learning, are attributed to “ St. Mocorog, a Briton, who, having learned the fame of St. Kevin, left his native country, and fixed his resi- dence in a cell on the east side of Glendalough. Here a city soon sprung up, and a seminary was founded, from whence were sent forth many exemplary men, whose sanctity and learning diffused around the western world that light of letters and religion, which in earlier ages shone with so much brightness throughout this remote, and, at that period, tranquil isle, and was almost exclusively con- fined to it.” 
That this religious house, or city, was one of some importance, at a very early period, is proved by the fact that it was so often plundered by the Danes, who began their outrages upon it in the beginning of the ninth century. In 1020 the city was reduced to ashes, and being rebuilt, was partly swept away by a flood, 1177. In 1398 the invading English burnt down the city, whose importance was fast ebbing, and consequently it was never rebuilt. The hamlet is composed of a few miser- 
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able cottages, and therefore presents nothing of interest. The chief object of attraction in this spot is The Round Tower. This is one of the finest of the kind in Ireland. Its height is 110 feet, and circumference 51, is built of granite and slate intermixed. Near the door are two small windows, and at the top are four more, as in that at. Clondalkin. The tradition among guides, which is certainly not worth much credit, is, that these round towers were erected long before the arrival of the good St. Patrick in the island, that they were the temples of druidical piety, and were used in the worship of the sun. The behef is, that the druid priest ascended to the top every morning, to watch for sun-rise, and on catching the first glimpse of his rays, called out to the four comers of the earth, “ Baal, Baal, Baal.” It has already been mentioned in this work, that these relics have been considered by a good authority to be nothing more than bell-towers. The top of the tower is wanting; it was carried off by a storm early in the present century. St. Kevin's Kitchen is the most perfect ruin now standing in the vale. It is a little building, twenty-two feet long by fifteen wide. The roof is of slabs of stone. At the west end is a belfry, which may easily be mistaken for a chimney, and hence the title vulgarly applied to the building. The Cathedral is situated close beside Our Lady's Chapel. Both are very small buildings, particularly the former, when we consider the imposing title which it bears. The Ivy Church, or Trinity Church, is situated near the village of Laragh. Like the others, it is very small, and of rude construction. Beside it is a portion of a round tower. St. Saviour's Abbey is situated on the Derrybawn property. On architectural points, it is undoubtedly the most interesting of all the ruins. In the wreck of rubbish which it has become, a number of beautifully carved stones is sometimes to be picked up. It is said that St. Kevin was buried here in 618, and some time ago, a tomb, supposed to be that of the saint, was discovered in a small crypt adjoining. The O’Tooles had for some years the appointing of the bishop of Glendalough, and used the right of sepulture in the abbey. The Sacristy is a portion of the burying ground set aside for the repose of Catholic clergy. It is believed by many ignorant people that a peculiar blessing rests on this ground, 
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and that the body buried here is sure to rise again with its spiritual companion in happiness. In the burying ground, and indeed scattered all over the valley, are stone crosses of various sizes. One in the cemetery is made of one piece of granite eleven feet high. It is believed that the lark has never been known to sing over the gloomy vale of the two loughs,” a statement easily credited, when it is recollected that larks prefer broad meadows and corn fields to deep rocky dells. Tradition has found another reason for the absence of the bird. 

One man told Kolil, the German traveller, that “ when the Seven Chnrches were building, it was the skylarks that used every morning to call the men to their work. They had no watches in those days, and the song of the lark served as a signal that it was time to begin their labour. Well, when the holy work was at an end, St. Kevin declared that no lark was worthy to succeed those pious birds that had helped in the building of the churches.” The other version of the tradition is, that the men took an oath to “ begin with the lark and lie down with the lamb; ” but the larks rose so early over the valley, as to cause them to rise long before they were refreshed, and in consequence, many died from over e.certion, which so touched the heart of St. Kevin, that he prayed that no lark might ever sing over the spot again, thus saving his labourers’ lives and their oaths at the same time. 
The ruins we have been describing are principally situated at the lower end of the Lower Lake, which is about a quarter of a mile long. It is generally said by guides to be that into which St. Patrick banished the last of the snakes, a celebrity, however, claimed as well by one of the tarns in the Gap of Dunloe, in County Kerry. Half a mile or little less above this is the Upper Lake, a mile in length, and celebrated as the scene of Kathleen’s death. On the south side of it rises Lugduff Hill, and on a craggy face of it is situated the celebrated 
BED OF ST. KEVIN, to enter which, has been the ambition of almost all tourists. The accompanying descrip- tion of this retreat is by the late Bev. Caesar Otway,* and for truth and accuracy is unsurpassed. 

“ By this time we had rowed under Kevin’s Red, and landing adjoining to it, ascended an inchned stratum of rock, to a sort of ledge or resting place. 
Day at the Seven Churches. 
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from whence I and some others prepared to enter the Bed. Here the guides make much ado about proposing their assistance; hut to any one who has com- mon sense and enterprise, there is no serious difficulty, for, by the aid of certain holes in the rock, and points which you can easily grasp, you can turn into this little artificial cave, which, in fact, is not bigger than a small baker’s oven; and were it not that it hangs some twenty feet perpendicularly over the dark blue lake, this cavity, not larger than many a pig-stye I have seen excavated in the side of a bank, could not attract so many visitors. X and two young men who followed me, found it a very tight fit, when crouched together in it. At the further end there is a sort of pillow, and peculiar excavation made for the saint’s head, and the whole of the interior is tattoed with the initials of such as have adventured to come in. Amongst the many, I could observe those of Sir Walter Scott, Lord Combermere ; and of certain blue stocking dames, as, for instance, Lady Morgan, who made it her temporary bouduir" 

When Sir Walter Scott, in 1825, being then in declining health, visited Ireland, he was accompanied by his son-in-law, Mr. Lockhart, who says of St. Kevin’s Bed— 
“ It is a hole in the sheer surface of the rock, into which two or three people might sit. The difficulty of getting into this place has been exaggerated, as also the danger, for it would only be falling about twenty feet into very deep water. Yet I never was more pained than when Sir Walter Scott, in spite of all remonstrances, would make his way to it, crawling along the precipice. He suc- ceeded, and got in! After he was gone. Lord Plunkett, then Attorney-General, told the female guide he was a poet. ‘ Poet,’ said she, ‘ the devil a bit of him, but an honourable gentleman—he gave me half-a-crown.’ ” 
St. Kevin’s Bed has been the shelter of the outlaw, as well as the abode of the saint. On the breaking up of the rebel- lion of 1798, a number of the outlaws under Dwyer dispersed themselves throughout the county of Wicklow, seeking shelter and protection where they could find it. 

Dwyer himself, being hotly pursued by a company of Scottish Highlanders, took refuge in the cave, where the fatigues of his flight brought on sleep. The sure-footed Highlanders stole gently up to the mouth of the cave, and had almost entered when he awoke, sprung into the lake, swam to the opposite shore, and so escaped. * 
* The conversation of the learned and facetious judge, Lord Norhury, with one of the guides on this subject is most amusingly recorded by the celebrated Crofton Croker, who also edited the life of General Holt of famous memory. “ Well,” said Lord Norbury to his guide, ‘‘where is this Bed?” ” Plase your honour’s worship, my lord, ’tis that hole in the rock there.” “ Oh 1 I see. The saint was a holy man, fond of being rocked to sleep, eh ? ” “I have hard (heard) 
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Returning again from the valley to Laragh Village, we take a sharp wheel to the right, and enter the charming 
VALE OF CLARA, through which flows the Avonmore River, swelled hy the waters of Annamoe, Glenmacnass, Glen- dassan, and Glendalough. Our way for the first mile is hy the great military road, which leads from Dublin to Drumgoff Barrack, and thence hy Aghavannagh to Baltinglass. On our right we pass under Derryhawn, and on our left Trooperstown Hill. The vale, which has little of the wild or striking in its character, is very beautiful, and affords an agreeable rest to the visitor after straining his eyes, and having his ears all but deaf- ened hy the vociferations of the guides. About three miles and a half from Laragh we come to Clara Bridge, hut do not cross it. About a mile and a half further, Copse House, situated in a wood, is the property of Earl Fitzwilliam. The copse-wood extends from the base of Moneystown Hill along the Avonmore River to the vicinity of Rathdrum, a distance of fully three miles and a half, being the largest in Wicklow. The road between Laragh and Clara Bridge is contmued all the way on the hank of the Avonmore, which flows occasionally at our feet, and now and then is lost to view, owing to the elevation of the road. Approaching Copse House, however, we gra- dually separate from it, leaving it a considerable distance at 
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RATHDRUM, between six and seven miles from Laragli. Here there is little to stay for; the town is agreeably situated, but not attractive in itself. The horse, however, if it has come from Roundwood without baiting, should have a drink of meal and water, and the traveller what refreshment he pleases, recol- lecting that the next station is Wooden Bridge, seven and a half miles’ distance. 

Seward says of this town that—“Near it was Dunum, a city and capital ot Mcnapii. It was the seat of the chiefs of Coulan, and called by the Irish Rnth- druim, from whence the name Rnthirum.” Rathdrum was formerly noted for flannel. The flannel hall is a building 200 feet in front, with a cupola. It is situated on Rathdrum Hill. 
We have again got within sight of the river, which flows on our left hand, until we see the “meeting” and retire to the Wooden Bridge Hotel. 
THE YALE OF AVOCA is entered on leaving Rathdrum. It is well planted. The road passes through the demesne of Avondale. The mansions of Avondale and Kingstown are passed on the left, and then appear the turrets of 
CASTLE HOWARD, the seat of Mr. Howard Brooke, standing on an eminence to the east of the river Avonmore, just above its famous junction with the Avonbeg. The river is crossed by a quaintly picturesque bridge known as the Lion Bridge. The entrance to the demesne is by a castellated gate, surmounted by a lion passant, the crest of the Howard family. The structure, which is plain and chaste, gains much in effect from its position on an elevation of 200 feet above the river. The hills around are richly planted. The view from the esplan- ade embraces the surrounding hills and vale of Avoca. The first 
MEETING- OF THE WATERS is soon approached, and by a bridge we cross the Avonbeg, see it unite with the Avonmore just under our feet, and flow down the vale under the name of the Avoca, amid projecting rocks, o’erhanging trees, and every adjunct to picturesque effect. The tourist is apt to expect too much from such a place, forgetting that when the national poet sung There is not in the wide world a vaUey so sweet, As the vale in whose bosom the bright waters meet. 
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Oil! the last rays of feeling and life must depart, Ere the bloom of that valley shall fade from my heart. 
Yet it was not that nature had shed o’er the scene Her purest of crystal and brightest of green; ’Twas not her soft magic of streamlet or hill, 01 no—it was something more exquisite still. 
’Twas that friends, the beloved of my bosom, were near. Who made each dear scene of enchantment more dear; And who felt how the best charms of nature improve, When we see them reflected from looks that we love. 
Sweet vale of Avoca! how calm could I rest In thy bosom of shade with the friends I love best, Where the storms that we feel in this cold world should cease, And our hearts, like the waters, be mingled in peace— 

he was drawing as much upon imagination in all likelihood as upon nature; and when we remember the lavishness of Moore’s ideas, we must only he astonished to find nature so like poetry. The valley is indeed sweet, and cold must he the heart, and dull the head, which could pass through it un- moved ; but if the tourist does not wish to meet with a dis- appointment, he must not expect too much. 
It would be doing an injustice to the literature of Ireland, to pass the scene of one of Moore’s most exquisite lyrics without a slight notice of the poet. It was a just eulogy which the editor of the Cyclops;dia of English Literature passed upon him when he said;—“A rare union of wit and sen- sibility, of high powers of imagination and extensive learning, has been exem- plified in the works of Thomas Moore.” He was educated at Trinity College, Dublin, and at the age of nineteen proceeded to the Middle Temple, London, to study law. A year afterwards, he published his inimitable translation of Anacreon. His works are justly and universally esteemed, whether in the walk of pure poetry or of keenest satire. Of the former, his Lalla Rookh and Irish Melodies undoubtedly stand highest; his satirical works, published under the title of Thomas Little, and his Fudge Family in Paris, are best known. Kohl, who, being a stranger, may be supposed to be less prejudiced than most British critics, thus beautifully alludes to the genius of the poet:—“ There occur,” says he, “ in every literature short striking passages that captivate the imagination with a force for which we find it difficult, oft impossible, to account. Millions of fine sentences may be expended in vain, while two or three sentences may tlirill for centuries in the hearts of a nation. This is a power which Moore often exercises in a high degree, and to many a sequestered vale and mined castle his verses have given a fame that will probably outlive monuments of bronze or granite.” 
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It is difficult to convey a description of the Vale of Avoca in terms to come up to the expectation of the reader, or even to the reality of nature. A notice of it, by the author already quoted, may be of some assistance to the expectant tourist. “ Beautifully picturesque groups of oaks and beeches, every- where hung with ivy, constitute one of the main beauties of the Yale of Avoca. This, to some extent, is the character of all the valleys of Wicklow through which rivers flow, while the summits of the mountains and the unwatered vales remain completely bare. The Irish oak differs materially from the English oak; yet this difference, so striking that you notice it at the first glance, is difficult to describe. The branches are less knotted and spreading. There seem to me to be more straight lines and fewer crooked ones; more length and less breadth in the Irish oak.” Another stranger, Prince Puckler Muskau, writes in glowing terms of the spot. “Just before sunset,” he says, “ I reached the exquisitely beautiful Avon- dale. In this paradise every possible charm is united. A wood, which appears of measureless extent; two noble rivers; rocks of every variety of picturesque form; the greenest mea- dows ; the most varied and luxuriant shrubberies and thickets; In short, scenery changing at every step, yet never diminish- ing in beauty.” An English writer* gives a very different account of the place. “ As to the ‘ Meeting of the Waters,’ ” he writes, “ as the Irish are pleased to call the confluence of two little streams, pompously or poetically as you may please to decide, I think more has been made of it than either the waters or their meeting deserve. There are, in fact, two places in the valley where two streams meet, one towards the lower end, where the scenery is rich and beautiful, the other, which I was assured to be the ‘ riglar' meeting, was higher up the vale; and I confess, on arriving at it, I was disappointed, and could not hesitate in giving preference to the place of the confluence of the two streams we had passed lower down.” The valley is about eight miles in length, and the road lies along its right side the entire way to 
WOODEN BRIDGE. (Wooden Bridge Hotel—beA Is. 6d., breakfast Is. 8d., dinner 2s. to 3s., tea Is., attendance (charged in the bill) Is., private room 2s. 6d. In the valley 

* Mr. Barrow. 
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are copper and sulphur mines. The amount paid monthly, in 1853, for mining labour in this poetic valley, was about £2000. Just before the door of the hotel, the second meeting of the waters takes place—the river Aughrim here flowing into the Avoca. This spot is supposed by some to be the scene of the poem, and many and fierce are the contests between the partisans of the spots for the honour of Moore’s patronage. In a letter written to a friend by the author, and published in his memoirs and journal, he says:—“ The fact is, I wrote the song at neither place; though I believe the scene under Castle Howard (first meeting), was the one that suggested it to me. But all this interest shows how wise Scott was in connecting his poetry with beautiful scenery. As long as the latter blooms so will the former.” 

A coach passes the inn at Wooden Bridge every day for Dublin, so that the tourist may spend his spare time, if so inclined, in the Vale of Avoca, and return home by Rathdrum and Ashford, instead of going on to Arklow, and hence through Wicklow, to Dublin. 
The walk or drive to Arklow from Wooden Bridge is three and a half miles. The traveller crosses the Bridge over the Aughrim River, and then takes the road to the left. On the one side he has a wooded hill, with steep faces covered with ferns, mosses, and golden saxifrages, over which trickle innu- merable streams of limpid water. On the other side he looks down into the Avoca, just at its junction with the wild wan- dering river from the west, and continues along its margin till he reaches the domain of 
SHELTON ABBEY, the seat of the Earl of Wicklow. About a mile and a half from Arklow is the public entrance, by which the tourist may freely enter to*view the pointed Gothic- structure and the noble park. Beyond this point, the scenery becomes of a tamer cast, and gradually loses its picturesque character before we reach 
ARKLOW (Hotel: Kinsela’s—Bed Is. 6d., breakfast Is. 8d., dinner 2s. to 2s. 6d., tea Is. 6d., supper Is. to Is. 6d.) The town is situated on the sea coast, and from its position would undoubtedly assume an important position as a port, but for the occurrence of a sand bar, similar to that which 
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obstructs the navigation of the Liffey. Fishing is carried on to a great extent. The sum received for fish in the season of 1853 amounted to upwards of £20,000. The inhabitants, who number 3300, are principally supported by the fisheries and mines. In 1816, when the population was only 2600, from 100 to 150 boats were employed in the herring trade, and the amount realized often exceeded £25,000 per annum. Two hundred boats are now employed in the herring and oyster trades. The first object which catches the visitor’s attention, as he nears the town from the direction of Wooden Bridge, is a part of the old castle of the Ormonds, now reduced to a complete ruin, and containing in its interior a constabulary barrack. The castle was built by the fourth Lord Butler of Ireland, Theobald Fitzwalter. 

It “ was formerly a place of strength and consequence, and the scene of much bloodshed. In 1331, it was taken by the O’Tooles, who were shortly after driven from the place by Lord Birmingham; who defeated them with great slaughter. It was again taken by the Irish, but surrendered to the English, on the 8th of August 1332. In 1611, the garrison was surprised by the Irish, and every one put to the sword. In 1649, the castle was demolished by Crom- weU.” 
At Arklow a battle was fought in 1798 between the English under General Needham, and the rebels. The latter are believed to have exceeded 31,000 in number, while the conquerors only numbered 1500. A monastery was founded by Fitzwalter, for “ the love of God and the Blessed Virgin, and for the health of the souls of Henry II. king of England, King Richard, King John, and other persons.” The monks were believed to be of the Cistercian order, from Furness Abbey in Lancashire. The founder, who died at the castle in 1285, was buried in the Abbey-church. No vestiges of the monastery now remain. The town consists of but one prin- cipal street, in which are situated the church, the inn, and the better class of shops. The most direct road to Dublin from Arklow is by the sea shore, a distance of 43 miles. Coaches leave Arklow two or three times a day, proceeding to Dublin either by this route or by the vale of Avoca. The route by the sea shore is by no means so interesting as that by which we have arrived at the town of Arklow, but from its presenting features of a totally different character, may be preferred. Various seats are passed, but nothing remarkable appears until we arrive at the county town, 
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WICKLOW.—Like most other harbours on the east coast of Ireland, Wicklow is guarded by a sea bar, on which the water seldom exceeds seven or eight feet. This being an assize town, it contains the gaol, court-house, and infinnary. The trade is limited to fishing and exportation of copper and sulphur ore, and the importation of coal and lime. The town gives the title of Earl to the family of Howard. “ Here,” says Seward, “ is a rock, by some taken for the remains of a castle surrounded by a strong wall; there are hut few buildings, yet it has a barrack, and is remarkable for the best ale in the kingdom.” About a mile and a half to the east is a hold point of land called Wicklow Head. The return to Dublin may be easily accomplished either by rail the whole way, or by coach to Bray, and thence by rail. If time he a matter of importance, it may be well to return to Dublin by the train from Wicklow, either through Kingstown, a distance of 29J miles, or through Dundrum, a distance of 28J miles. In either case the route so far as Bray is the same. The first station on the line is Killoughter, near Newrath Bridge (Inns : The Newrath—bed Is. 8d. to 2s., breakfast Is. 8d. to 2s., lunch 9d. to Is., dinner 2s. to 3s., tea Is., supper Is., attendance Is., private room 2s. 6d.), situated in the centre of what has been happily termed the Garden of Wicklow. The inn at Newrath Bridge is, out of Bray, the best in the county of Wicklow, and the tourist would do well to see as much as possible of the county while staying here. About a mile from Newrath is Ashford, where there is also a good inn. The second station is Newcastle, which does not call for any particular notice, and next, Newtown Mount Kennedy ; the last Delgany and Greystones, two villages claiming attention chiefly on account of the beauty of their neighbourhood. If the coach to Bray be taken in preference to the railway, 
NEWTOWN MOUNT KENNEDY is the first town of note on the road after Wicklow. It is situated in a rich tract of country, extending from the foot of Dows Mountain, and bounded by the sea. This was the scene of an encounter in 1798 between the rebels and the king’s troops under Lords Kingsborough and Rossmore, in which the former met with a signal defeat. The domain of Mount Kennedy, formerly the 
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property of Sir Robert Kennedy, was purchased from him by the late Lord Rossmore, at that time General Cunningham, who converted it from waste land into a beautiful property. The present proprietor, R. G. Cunningham, Esq., permits visitors to pass through the grounds on week days. In the immediate vicinity are the domains of Glendaragh and Altadore. 

THE GLEN OF THE DOWNS is passed through on our way to Bray. The glen is about a mile and a half in length, and 150 feet in width. For a considerable distance it runs along the foot of the Downs Mountain, which rises 1232 feet. The sides of the glen rise somewhat abruptly to a height of about 600 feet, and being clothed with a dense covering of copsewood, a rich effect is produced. From the glen a view is obtained of the greater Sugar Loaf Mountain. There are two mountains bearing this name. Mr. M. Mason says these mountains, “ whose conical-shaped summits furnish with pic- turesque apices the mountain scenery of Wicklow, were by the native Irish called by a name which signifies ‘ the gilt spears,’ derived from their retaining the light of the sun after the rest of the surrounding landscape was involved in dark- ness.” This picturesque name was altered by the English for the more matter of fact appellation of Sugar Loaves. From the Glen of the Downs, the drive to Bray is five miles. 
DUBLIN TO ENNISKERRY AND SEVEN CHURCHES. 

Many different routes may be followed in going to the Seven Churches. We have in a former page given the one most generally adopted. The route at present under considera- . G (D) 
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tion possesses the advantage of passing through a wilder country, but has the disadvantage of leaving Enniskeny and the Dargle out of the way, or the alternative of turning off at Glencree, just as the scenery becomes wildest and finest. To such as decide upon taking the branch to Enniskerry, the charms of Powerscourt and the Dargle are in their way. Having started on our journey by the great military road, which, leaving Dublin at the south, traverses the length and breadth of Wicklow, we pass the old barrack and gardens of Portobello, and in course of time enter Koundtown, and a little farther on the town of 

RATHEARNHAM, about four miles from, Dublin. The castle, which was founded by Archbishop Loftus in 1600, and subsequently inhabited by the Earls of Ely and Lord Loftus, is now the residence of the Right Honourable Francis Black- burne. On week days permission may he obtained to drive through the grounds from the Rathfarnham to the river entrance. In the neighbourhood are several handsome re- sidences— Bushy Park, the property of Sir Robert Shaw, Bart.; Marley, Holly Park, and the Priory, once the residence of Curran. The plantations of Marley and Holly Park are separated by a stream which falls into a tributary of the Dodder, and the glen formed by them is usually termed the Little Dargle, although the older name is Glen Southwell. 
WHITECHURCH is worthy of notice on account of the ruined church from which its name is derived, and its agreeable situation. The ruins are of small extent, but sweetly situated on an eminence overlooking the village. 
KILLAKEE DEMESNE is next passed to our right. The pleasure grounds and gardens, which are extensive and tastefully laid out, command views which, in richness and variety, are unsurpassed by any in the United Kingdom. Montpelier House is also on the same side, and fully deserving of notice. The road here rises to a considerable elevation, and long before we reach Glencree Barrack, we shall be 1000 feet above the level of the sea. The views from the different elevated positions on the road are very imposing. Our walk or drive is now through a wild heath-clad country, increasing in wildness until we reach 
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GLENCREE CONSTABULARY BARRACK, situated at tlie head of the glen of the same name, used in the memorable ’98 as a military station, and afterwards used in part as a public- house, but now occupied by farming people. The tourist who wishes to make for Enniskerry will either turn off abruptly to the left and keep on by the high road, or continue as far as Lough Bray Cottage, the residence of Sir Philip Crampton, surgeon-general, and go down the romantic Glencree (page 64), visit the waterfall and demesne of Powerscourt (page 63), and so to his destination. The traveller to the Seven | Churches continues his way along the military road until he ; reaches Laragh (page 68). 
LOUGHS BRAY, Upper and Lower, are placed on the side i) of the ridge of Kippure. The former, which is a dreary > mountain tarn, covers an area of twenty-eight English acres, i at an elevation of 1453 feet above the sea. The lower is 1229 feet above the sea, and covers an area of about sixty- four acres. The situation of the lower lake is highly picturesque, > being backed by rocks and crags of most fantastic shapes, 

t relieved by the beautiful rustic cottage of Lough Bray, and its cultivated grounds, which extend to the margin of the lake. Kippure rises 1450 feet above the lower lake. The surplus f water from the lakes feeds the rivulet of Glencree. Continuing still onward, we pass Crockan Pond to our left, and soon ! reach 
SALLY GAP, where the road to Blessington turns off at an acute angle to the right, and that to Luggala at an obtuse angle to the left, the direct military road to Laragh proceeding in a straight course before us. Before the formation of the mili- 

( tary road the fastnesses of Wicklow were almost impenetrable ; E and hence we cannot be surprised that the warlike natives ^ long held out against the attempts of the settlers to subdue ’ them. It is remarked that only three passes existed by which the invader could approach the hiding places of the fugitives, these being a pass at the end of Glenmalure, Wicklow Gap (1569 feet) to the west, and Sally Gap (1631) to the north. The roa'd from this to Laragh proceeds through a more wild and elevated country than that through which we have already passed. The principal hills are—to the left, Knocknacloghole (1754 feet), Scar (2105 feet), and Carricknashanough (1313 
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feet); on the right, Gravale (2352 feet), Duffhill ^2364 feet), Mullaghcleevaun (2783 feet), and Tonelaghee (2683 feet). For some distance the road is in Glenmacnass, and parallel with the river of the same name, which forms a cascade over a ledge of rocks about four miles before we reach Laragh, and enters a more interesting country than that we have just left. The route from Laragh to the Seven Churches has already been described (page 69). Sally Gap to Blessington.—This is a cross-road for eight miles of the distance, and passes through the vale of Kippure, with the mountain ridge of the same name rising on the right. At the left bank of the stream is an extensive wood, planted by the Marquis of Downshire, in the same year as that in which William IV. was crowned, and hence styled The Coronation Plantation. Kippure House, the residence of Mr. Armstrong, occupies the opposite bank of the stream. It may be interesting to note that this stream, which is so often seen on our way to Blessington, is no other than the river Litl'ey, which takes its rise about Croghan Pond; flows nearly due west to Blessington; enters the county Kildare, and describes a semicircle through that county; and makes its way into the county of Dublin at Lucan, after serving as a boundary between it and Kildare, for about four miles, its future course being due east. The distance which it traverses from its source until it enters Dublin Bay, may be stated in round numbers at from fifty to sixty miles. Blessington is about eleven miles from Sally Gap, or twenty- eight from Dublin by this route; its distance by the direct high road from Dublin is only eighteen miles. It is a market and post town, consisting of one well-built street, the work of Archbishop Boyle. It had the honour of giving the title of Viscount to a member of the Boyle family, then that of Earl to the family of Stewart, and afterwards the same dignity to the family of Gardiner. The late Countess of Blessington, whose maiden name was Power, and who became so well known in the literary world, was born at Curragheen in the county of Waterford, and married at the early age of fifteen Captain Farmer of the 47th regiment; being left a widow in 1817, she married, in the following year, Charles John Gar- diner, the last Earl of Blessington, who died in 1829. Bles- sington Park, the property of the Marquess of Downshire, is situated close by the town. The house, which was much 
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admired, was burned by the rebels in 1798. The parish church was built at the expense of Primate Boyle, who also presented the church plate and a peal of bells bearing date 1682. Blessington formerly returned members to Parliament, but at the union the borough was disfranchised, and £15,000 paid to the then Marquess of Downshire, who was the pro- prietor, and whose descendants still own the town and much of the neighbourhood. 

BRAY TO THE DARGLE, LOUGHS BRAY, LUGGALA, 
GLEN OF THE DOWNS, ETC. 

Dargle. Powerscourt Demesne. Waterfall. Glencree. Loughs Bray. Military Road. Sally Gap. Luggala. Lough Tay. Ballinasloe Inn. Hermitage. Glendaragh. Newtown Mount Kennedy. Glen of the Downs. Bray Head. Bray. In all about 30 miles. 
The tourist making Bray his head-quarters will find abun- dant amusement in excursions which may be made from that place. The excursion which we at present plan is intended, more especially, for those who do not purpose visiting the Dargle, Powerscourt, and Luggala, by any other route. Soon after leaving Bray the Dargle glen is entered, and followed to Powerscourt, to where the cars should be in waiting. From Powerscourt a good road proceeds through Glencree to the barrack of that name, from which Loughs Bray may be visited, and the military road taken as far as Sally Gap, where, instead of going right on, we take the road to the left, and passing Luggala and Lough Tay, join the Ennis- kerry and Roundwood road, about two and a quarter miles from the latter place. This road must then be followed north- wards for nearly a mile and a half, when we turn at a right angle to the east and reach Ballinasloe Inn, where those who are satisfied with the plainest fare may procure refreshment. From the inn we must pursue our journey to Hermitage and Glendaragh, situate to the north of Newtown Mount Kennedy, and thence by the Glen of the Downs to Bray. The distance in all will be nearly thirty miles. Those who wish to see the Glen of the Downs without extending the journey may drive direct thither from Bray. The waterfall and demesne of Powerscourt should, if possible, have one entire day devoted to them. 
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BRAY TO THE DARGLE, SEVEN CHURCHES, DEVIL'S 
GLEN, AND GLEN OF THE DOWNS. 

[As last to Sally Gap. Thence by Military Road to Laragh.] 
Seven Churches, with circuit of Glendalough. Castle Kevin. Devil’s Glen, Ashford. Newrath Bridge. Newtown Mount Kennedy. Bray Head. Bray, 50 miles. 

This excursion is rather longer than the last, and can hardly he undertaken in one day, the distance being about fifty miles. It may however be shortened by going no further up Glen- dalough than the ruins. But the better plan would be to remain at Newrath Bridge Hotel, where the tourist should sleep that night, and return to Bray in the morning. This route so far as the Seven Churches is the same as the last. The best way from thence is to proceed to the village of Annamoe, and proceeding in an easterly direction, pass Castle Kevin and Annagolan Bridge, there entering the Devil’s Glen at the waterfall, sending the car round to the Ashford end of the glen. 
THE DEVIL’S GLEN is about a mile and a half in length, and is watered by the river Vartrey, which forms a beautiful cascade at its upper extremity. The country above the waterfall is flat and dreary, and we can scarcely expect, in passing over it, to find such a romantic nook as that which we now refer to. The glen is somewhat like the Dargle in appearance, but more picturesque, of a more sombre cast, and on a grander scale—the rocks in some places rising four hundred feet above the stream. The Devil’s Glen, together with a great extent of land, stretching on one side to the sea, and reaching on the other from Rathdrum to Aughrim, Ballymorres, and nearly to Arklow, was granted by the Earl of Pembroke to Lord Geoffrey de Montemarisco, in exchange for the baronies of Forth and Bargy, in the county of Wexford. This territory was called by the Irish Mac- Morres’s country—Lord Geoffrey himself having, in the year 1208, assumed the title of MacMorres, and the dignity of an Irish sovereign dynast. After the disgrace and banish- ment of Lord Geoffrey, his sons made scarcely any efforts to preserve this district, which was then of little value, being an 
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uncultivated tract, remote from their usual places of residence, and inhabited by a few roving septs of semi-barbarians, who eventually established themselves in the MacMorres’s country, and maintained possession until the seventeenth century. It latterly passed through the hands of the O’Briens, and the unfortunate Earl of Stratford, who received it from his patron Charles I. “ By virtue of that grant, Earl Fitzwilliam at present enjoys a noble revenue from this part of the county Wicklow; but the fee of the glen is divided between Mr. Tot- tenham and Mr. Synge.” In this glen, the redoubtable rebel Holt remained for some days, making preparations for the outbreak of 1798. “ He appears, in more respects than one, during his short career, to have had the most marvellous escapes. Once, being wounded in the head, and finding himself surrounded by police, he boldly accosted one of them and enquired ‘ which way the army had gone ?’ for that they ‘ had robbed him of his hat and horse.’ ” After the defeat of the rebels, the glen became the hiding-place of the scattered in- surgents ; in order to get rid of whom it was found necessary to set fire to the timber, and the blackened stumps long bore witness to the extent of the conflagration. Ashford, where there is a good inn, is the nearest village to the Devil’s Glen, and the next is Newrath Bridge, which contains an excellent hotel containing the comforts of an inn with the quiet and elegance of a private country house. Near the latter place are the classic grounds of Hosanna, where Mrs. Tighe com- posed the well-known poem of “ Psyche,” and now the seat of Mr. Tighe. The demesne is one of the best wooded in Ireland. The road to Newtown Mount Kennedy, and from thence to Bray, has already been noticed. 
WOODEN BRIDGE INN TO AUGHRIM, AGHAVANAGH. 

AND GLENMALURE. 
Aughrim Uiver. Coates Bridge. Aghavanagh. Dramgoff Inn. Ascend Lugna- quilla. Glen of Imale. North Prison. Glenmalure. Avonbeg River to Wooden Bridge, about 30 miles. 

The river Avonbeg, which, uniting with the Avonmore under Castle Howard, forms the first “ meeting of the waters,” passes down Glenmalure; and the Aughrim river, from the glen of the same name, uniting with the Avoca, forms the 
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second meeting at the Wooden Bridge. The road proceeds up the right bank of the Aughrim river as far as Coates Bridge, a distance of about three miles. The right bank is bare and uncovered, and crowned with the ruined church of Ballin- temple; but the left side is beautifully wooded. The village of Aughrim is pleasantly situated in the glen of Aughrim, which, properly so called, begins here, and stretches in a north-westerly direction, almost parallel with Glenmalure, until it is terminated by the lofty Lugnaquilla, the highest hill in the county of Wicklow (3039 feet above the sea). In the glen General Holt had an engagement with the king’s forces in 1789, which he celebrates in his memoirs. The account may be interesting as describing the mode of warfare practised by these wild disturbers. “ I had my battle of Aughrim,” says he, “ as well as General Ginkle, and in order to distinguish between them, I call it ‘Holt’s battle of Aughrim.’ I issued orders that the men should be silent and steady, and not leave their post or line of march on any account, reminding them of the mischief they had suffered from the want of discipline, and the victories they had achieved by a contrary conduct. We advanced in quick time, and soon came within sight of Aughrim. I took a post on the side of Rodena Hill; John MacEvoy was my aid-de-camp this day. Standing by my side he saw the enemy present their muskets, and calling out ‘down every man,’ we all fell instantly. The enemy fired, and the ground was cut just above us with their balls. I never saw a better directed volley, but it did us no mischief. We were soon on our feet, and returned the compliment with some effect. I then ordered 150 of my men down to the river side, to get into the wood, but not to fire a shot till Gowan had advanced as far as Rodena Bridge, and then to get behind him and the barrack. The party were not steady, and fired too soon, and the enemy perceiving themselves attacked from the wood, instantly retreated, both horse and foot, into the town.” The entire length of the glen from Wooden Bridge to Lugnaquilla is thirteen miles. The ascent of 

LUGNAQUILLA is usually commenced from Drumgoff, where there is a hotel and barrack. It should never be at- tempted without the assistance of a guide, which can easily . be secured at the hotel. This being the highest hill in the 
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county, it commands a wide and varied panorama, which will be better explained by the guide, than any written account can do. The following paragraph from the pen of Mr. Wright, than whom no one knows more of the country, will be appreciated by those who cannot place implicit reliance on Irish guides. “ From this elevated station,” he writes, “ in clear weather parts of five counties are clearly seen. And Mr. Weaver states that the Galtee Mountains in Tipperary have sometimes been perceived; but such extensive prospects can only be enjoyed by those who have frequent opportunities of ascending, and the good fortune to meet with a cloudless atmosphere. Towards the north, Kippure and the Great Sugar Loaf raise their towering summits to the clouds, beyond a lengthened chain of waste and barren mountains. To the west and south is an extent of cultivated country, and to the east are seen mountain and vale, wooded glens, and rapid rolling rivers, bounded in the distance by St. George’s Chan- nel. On the north side of Lugnaquilla is an enormous excavation or chasm, forming the termination of the glen of Imale, called the ‘North Prison,’ to distinguish it from a similar precipitous hollow on the opposite or south side, termed the ‘ South Prison.’ The fronts of these bold cliffs are composed of granite, broken into large square blocks, appearing ready to separate, and tumble from their uncertain rests upon the least concussion.” In the inaccessible crags over the fine mountain valley or glen of Imale, the eagle is sometimes seen hovering about protecting its nest. With the exception of a few bald spots near the top, the whole of Lugnaquilla is like a soft carpet. In descending this mountain the visitor should make for the waterfall, and thence keep down Glenmalure to the inn at Drumgoff. On his way he passes through a glen, “ not unlike the Glen of the Horse on Mangerton, in the county of Kerry. One of its sides is composed of perpendicular pillars of granite blocks, regularly formed and laid over each other, like columns of basalt. A person may stand on the top of one of them, and look down its perpendicular side to the very bottom of the glen. It was here that an ill-fated outlaw, in attempting to escape from a party of military, pushed his horse at full speed down the mountain side, and being unable to rein him when he reached the precipice, both horse and rider went headlong down the steep, and perished at the instant they reached the bottom.” The road from Drumgoff to the Seven 
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Churches is allowed to be one of the most interesting in the county. After attaining a considerable elevation, it passes the' “lovely glen of Ballyboy,” rich in “pastoral beauty;” and commands from its higher elevations a succession of lovely mountain views. The distance from Drumgoff to Grlendalough is sevSn miles. Returning from Drumgoff to the W ooden Bridge Inn, we proceed first along the left side of the Avonbeg river for about a mile and a half, and then cross to the right bank above Ballinacor House, the residence of Mr. Kemmis. Glenmalure was held in the time of Queen Elizabeth by a rude chieftain, Pheagh MacHugh O’Byrne of Ballinacor, who kept court here like a monarch. In 1580 he defeated with much bloodshed Lord Grey de Wilton in the vale of Glendalough. In 1597, however, he was killed in an engagement with Lord Deputy Russell. It was while in Glenmalure that Holt, the leader of the Wicklow insurgents in the rebellion of ’98, received the conciliatory letter from General Sir John Moore. In descending the glen many pretty cascades, formed by tributary streams on their way to swell the Avonbeg, are passed. Pro- ceeding onwards, we follow the course of the Avonbeg until we reach the first “ meeting of the waters,” where it joins the Avonmore, forming the Avoca. From this point we return to the Wooden Bridge Inn along the “ sweet vale of Avoca.” The charms of the vale are somewhat disfigured by the obtrusive presence of the rich copper mines of Ballymurtagh on the right bank of the river and Cronebane on the left. 

ARKLOW TO WEXFORD AND NEW ROSS. 
BY REGULAR COACH OR WEXFORD MAIL. 

Arklow. County Wexford. Gorey . . 10 Miles 10 Miles. I Enniscortliy . 8 Miles 29 Miles. Camolin . . 7 „ 17 „ Wexford . . IS „ 42 „ Ferns . . 4 „ 21 „ I 
Vinegar Hill. St. Sepulchres. Barony of Forth. Tethard. Tintem Abbey. New Ross. 

The distance between Dublin and Wexford, the chief town of the county bearing the same name, is 92 miles. The time required for the journey by mail coach is eleven hours. The distance between Arklow and Wexford is 42 miles, which is accomplished in five hours. At two miles and a half beyond Arklow, the road crosses the boundary of the two coimties and 
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enters Wexford. The drive to Gorey is through ten miles of uninteresting country, and from thence to Ferns, through Camolin, it becomes less monotonous. Ferns, though now sunk into insignificance, was once the capital of the kingdom of Leinster and the archiepiscopal see of the province. It was here that the traitor MacMorrogh held court. A church is said to have been founded here in 598 either by St. Mogue or St. Edin. - The present cathedral, which is used as a parochial church, is a plain building, erected in 1816. A monument to the original founder, representing him in his ecclesiastical robes, in a recumbent position, is in the church. The picturesque ruins of an abbey, said to have been founded by Dermod Mac- Morrogh, are closely adjacent to the church. The palace of MacMorrogh was situated on the top of the hill, on the sides of which the town now stands. Strongbow is supposed to have fortified and otherwise strengthened the position of his father- . in-law, and its site is still occupied by a ruinous old castle of more recent construction than the conquest of the “ Green Isle,” and which was dismantled by the Parliamentary forces, under Sir Charles Coote, in the civil war of 1641. MacMorrogh died at Ferns in May 1171, and is believed to have been interredv 

in the abbey. 
ENNISCORTHY, about eight miles south of Ferns, is an ancient-looking thriving little town belonging to the Earl of Portsmouth, boldly situated on the side of a steep hill above the river Slaney, which here becomes navigable for barges of large size. To the east, on the opposite side of the river, is “ Vinegar Hill,” of bloody memory, where the main force of the insurgents encamped during the rebellion of 1798, which commenced in the adjoining counties, but spread with increased fury into the county of Wexford, which was the chief scene of the monstrous barbarities which the otherwise moral and kind- hearted peasantry were induced by religious fanaticism and oppression to commit. On the top of the hill was an old wind- mill, which served as a prison for the victims previous to their execution. About 400 persons were here, in cold blood, put to death with pikes by the undisciplined rebels. The old castle, a massive square pile with a round tower at each corner, owes its origin to Raymond le Gros; is one of the earliest military structures of the Anglo-Norman invaders. After leaving Enniscorthy, the country becomes highly picturesque, more 
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especially on the right bank of the river. This road, however* being hilly and of greater length than that on the left side of the stream, is not travelled by the public conveyances. 

WEXFORD [ White's HoteT\ is thirteen miles from Enniscorthy, and, like it, situated on the river Slaney. It is usually recommended to take a boat between these two towns for the purpose of enjoying the scenery on the fertile and beautiful banks of this fine river. The most interesting object, however, is the square keep, which is all that remains of Garrick Castle, which may be easily visited from Wexford, being about two miles from that town. It is picturesquely situated on the summit of a rock close to the river, and was the first castle built by the English in Ireland. MacMorrogh having proceeded to besiege Dublin, is recorded to have left Fitz-Stephen behind him, who busied himself with the erection of a castle. 
The translator of Giraldus Cambriensis says—“ It was at first made but of rods and wiffes, according to the manner in these daies, but since builded with stone, and was the strongest fort then on those parts of the land, but being a place not altogether sufficient for a prince, and yet it was thought too good and strong for a subject, it was pulled down, defaced, and razed, and so dooth still remaine.” 
Wexford, the county town, is picturesquely situated on the shores of the harbour of the same name, which is about eight piles in length by three in breadth; but in consequence of the existence of a bar at the mouth of the harbour, no vessel of more than two hundred tons burthen can enter it from the sea. Its distance from the port of Liverpool is 174 miles. Two steamers ply backwards and forwards every week, and each fortnight a steamer leaves Wexford for Bristol. Milford Haven, in Pembrokeshire, is only forty-five miles distant. Several ruins exist in Wexford town, the most interesting being that of the Abbey of St. Sepulchre, corrupted into “ Selsker,” and near which is the modern parish church. The first treaty between the Irish and English was signed here in 1169. A college exists in the town for the education of the Catholic clergy. “ Wexford,” says Kohl, “ during the last rebellion was the scene of almost unexampled atrocity.” It is studded with the ruins of castles and churches founded by the early Anglo-Norman invaders, who here made their first landing in Bannow Bay. 
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“ There is a bridge built oyer a narrow part of the bay. To this bridge the rebels then in possession of the town, brought their English and Protestant prisoners, and flung them into the water. Mulgrave, in his celebrated ‘ Memoirs of the Irish Rebellion,’ now rarely to be met with, says that the prisoners were speared at the same moment from before and behind, and then lifted up on pikes and thrown over the parapet of the bridge. These are matters yet fresh in the memory of living men.” 
The barony of Forth, a district of Wexford inhabited by a race of people very different from the rest of Ireland in habits and appearance, is a little distance south of the county town. It is believed that the district was colonized by Strongbow, from Wales. Valiancy published a vocabulary of their language, which bears more resemblance to Saxon than to either the English or Celtic. Very few of the natives now have any knowledge of their ancient language. Fethard, a now insignificant fishing village, stands on the west shore of Bannow Bay, about twenty-five miles from Wexford. A little distance from it are the remains of Tintern Abbey, founded in 1200 by the Earl of Pembroke, son-in-law of Strongbow. The legend states that, being in great danger at sea, he made a vow to found an abbey on the spot where he should land in safety. His boat found shelter in Bannow Bay, and here he accordingly established a monastery, which he peopled with monks from Tintern Abbey in Monmouthshire. It is beautifully situated in the demesne of Tintem, which was granted by Queen Elizabeth to Sir Anthony Colclough, in whose family it still remains. The venerable ruins of the ancient church of Bannow, on the opposite side of the bay, are of much interest. A curious case of land depression is believed to have extinguished the town of Bannow, which consisted two centuries ago of no less than nine principal streets, with well-built houses. Four centuries earlier it was one of the principal sea-ports in Ireland. An interesting assemblage of ruins exists at the extremity of the bay, known as the “ Seven Churches of Clonmines,” but really the remains of four castles and an abbey; the town which is supposed to have existed here has entirely disappeared. 
NEW BOSS is an ancient town situated in the west of the county, on the river Barrow, about twenty miles from Wexford. The foundation of this place is usually ascribed to Lady Bose, daughter of Grume, King of Denmark. New 



86 NEW ROSS. 
Ross had a full share in the horrors of ’98. “ The battle of Ross,” and the various incidents connected with it, have been handled more than once by the historian and novelist. The insurgents, numbering from 20,000 to 30,000 men, were here defeated by the garrison, consisting of about 1200 militia and 150 yeomen, under the command of Major General Johnson. 

In Returning to Dublin from New Ross, the shortest route is by road to Thomastown station, about 12 miles; and thence by rail through Kilkenny to the metropolis. But if the tourist intends going westwards, the coach to Water- ford (14 miles) must be taken, and thence by rail to Tipperary, Cork, etc. 

ELEVATIONS O 
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Croghan Kinsella 1985 Crockan Pond ... ^ .. 1770 Knocknacloghole 1754 Derrybawn 1567 Blackmoor Hill 1464 Trooperstown Hill 1408 Downs Mountain 
LAKES IN WICKLOW. Lough Bray, Upper  Lower .  Ouler . . . 
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Dublin. St. Michan’s Chuicli, 31. St. Nicholas’ R. C. Chapel, 32. St. Patrick’s Cathedral, 10. St. Stephen’s Green, 18. St. Thomas’ Church, 36. St. Vincent’s Hospital, 20. Sir John itogerson’s Quay, 21. Steeven’s Hospital, 27. Trinity College, 5. Weavers’ Hall, 32. Wellington’s Birth-place, 20. Wellington Bridge, 29. Wellington Testimonial, 14. Whitworth Bridge, 28. Zoological Gardens, 15. To Enniskerry and Wicklow, 50. To Enniskerry and Seven Churches, 73. To Howth, 39. To ^ Kingstown, Dalkey, and 
Dundrum, 52. Elevation of Lakes, 86. Mountains, 86. Enniscorthy, 83. Enniskerry, 53. Ferns, 83. Fethard, 85. Giant’s Grave, 53. Glasnevin, 36. Botanic Garden, 37. Cemetery, 36. Glencree, 56, 75 Glendalough Vale, 61. Glenmalure, 82. Glen of the Downs, 73. Golden Ball, 52. Gorey, 83. Holt, the rebel chief, 58, 79. Howth, 41. Abbey, 44. Castle, 43. College of, 44. Harbour, 42. 
Kathleen, 61. Kevin Castle, 60. Kilgobbin, 52. Killakee Demesne, 74. KilUney Hill, 48. Kiltcrnan, 52. Kingstown, 47. Harbour, 47. 

Kippure fiidge, 56. j Laragh, 60. Loughs Bray, 75. 1 Lough Dan, 68. Lough Tay, 57. Lower Lake, 64. Luggala, 57. Lugnaquilla, 80. Marino, 39. Meeting of the Waters, 67. Moore’s Birth-place, 18. New Ross, 85. Newrath Bridge, 72. 
Newtown Mount Kennedy, 72. Powerscourt, 65. Waterfall, 56. Puck’s Castle, 53. j Raheny, 41. 1 Ranclagh, 52. [ Rathdrum, 67. | Rathfarnham, 74. j Round Tower, 63. Roundwood, 59. Inns, 59. : Sally Gap, 75. I To Blessington, 76. : Sandford, 52. Scalp, 53. ! Seven Churches, 61. I Seven Churches of Clomnmos, s, J ShankhUl Mines, 53. Shelton Abbey, 70. Sir Walter Scott, 65. St. Fintan’s Church, 46. St. Kevin, 61. St. Kevin’s Bed, 64. St. Kevin’s Kitchen, 63. St. Saviour’s Abbey, 63. Sterne, Laurence, 59. Sutton, 41. Tinnehinch, 56. Tithewar, 59. 
Upper Lake, 64. Vinegar Hill, 83. Wexford, 84. Hotel, 84. Wicklow, 72. Whitechureh, 74. Wooden Bridge, 69. Hotel, 69. To Arklow, 70. Uo Aughrim, l Glenmalure, 7 



Just Published, a New Edition, price 8s. 6d., of 
BLACK’S PICTURESQUE TOURIST OF SCOTLAND 

IN A NEAT PORTABLE VOLUME, 
With upwards of One Hundred Illustrations, consisting of Maps, Charts, Plans of Towns, and Vims of Scenery. 

1 This work is now adapted to the most recent requirements of the I Tourist. Every year it has undergone great and important changes, 
I new routes have been inserted, new maps and illustrations have been 
L added, matter superseded by recent changes has been expunged to make way for useful information, and the notes of Tourists using the Guide, and kindly offered to the Publishers, have, in many instances, been most advantageously incorporated. Of the scenery to which the volume is meant to be a guide, a plain and intelligible account is given, and the description is mostly confined to those localities worthy of the attention of strangers and to the means by which they can be reached. By adopting this course, space has been found for the introduction of Traditionary Historical, and Pictorial Illustration, so as to enliven the dulnes: 
| of topographical details. 

EDINBURGH: ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 



2 black's guide book adyektisek. 
In One Portable Volume, Price 10s. 6d. 

BLACK’S PICTURESQUE TOURIST 
AND ROAD AND RAILWAY GUIDE BOOK 

THROUGH ENGLAND AND WALES. 
THIRD EDITION, greatly Enlarged and Improved, 

With a General Travelling Map; Charts of Roads, Railroads, and Interesting Localities; Engraved Views of Picturesque Scenery; and a comprehensive 
General Index, embracing a List of Hotels and Inns. 

EXTRACTS FROM CRITICAL NOTICES. 
“ A decided improvement upon the old road book.”—John Bull. 
“ A compendious and very carefully drawn up itinerary.”—Court Journal. 
“ A carefully executed work, prettily illustrated, with useful maps.”— Athenaeum. 
“ The characteristics of ‘Black’s Picturesque Tourist of England and Wales’ are a more compact and handy form, a more modern style of letterpress, getting up, and illustration, with a very moderate price.”—The Spectator. 
“ An attempt to bring the old road-book up to the pitch of modem improve- ment ; and we are bound to pronounce it successful. It is cheap and portable, at the same time that it contains an immense mass of information, closely com- pressed and well printed.”—The Civil Engineer’s Journal. 
“ This work embraces, within the compass of its pages, more well-digested information, arranged with accuracy and conciseness, than has ever yet issued from the press, in the form of a volume of convenient size.”—Bristol Mirror. 
“In every respect ‘Black’s Picturesque Tourist’ will supply a travelling directory through England and Wales; and wherever, or by whatever route, the stranger may choose to go, he has only to consult this road companion to have the name of the towns, and a description of the localities and scenery through which he passes.”—Edinburgh Advertiser. 
“ All superfluous description is very wisely omitted, and no attempt is made after graces of style, quite out of place in a tourist’s pocket companion; but we have, instead of such ambitious matter, much historical, legendary, and useful information, which will greatly conduce to the traveller’s convenience and increase his pleasure, by associating the objects he views with memorable events and popular and poetical traditions.”—Britannia. 

EDINBURGH: ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 
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In a Portable Volume, Price 5s., Or with 26 Illustrations by Birket Foster, Price 7s. ( 
BLACK’S PICTURESQUE GUIDE TO THE ENGLISH LAKES, 

INCLUDING AN ESSAY ON THE GEOLOGY OF THE DISTRICT. 
By John Philips, F.R.S., G.L., Deputy Reader of Geology in the, University of Oxford. SEVENTH EDITION. With a Correct Travelling Map; Views of the Scenery by T. M. Richaidson jun., Montague Stanlev, etc.; Twelve Explanatory Outline Views of Mountain Groups, by Mr. Flintoft of Keswick; Four Charts of the more interesting Localities, Itineraries, and all the Hotels. l oR the lover of nature, no Tour can be named of a more pleasing character than that which these Lakes afford; yet we see crowds of people hurrying to the Continent on the return of each summer, without deigning to glance at the lovely scenery of their o “ 'a,“ penetrate the Glaciers, and Iraverse the Rhone and the Rhine, whilst our domestic lakes of Ulleswater, Keswick, and Windermere, exhibit scenes in so sublime a style, with such beautiful colourings of rock, wood, and water, backed with so stupendous a disposition of mountains, that if theydormt fairly take the lead of all the views of Europe, yet they are indisputably such as no English traveller should leave behind him.” 

“ This Guide to the Lakes has been compiled upon the same elaborate plan (os the Pic- tureaque Tourist of Scotland), governed by the same resolution to spare no cost or trouble to achieve a successful result. It needs no higher commendation. It is a Picturesque Guide in every sense—its descriptions are charmingly written, its intelligence is ample and minute, and Rs illustrations are admirable specimens of art.”—A Has. 
racy and extent of the information it conveys. Many guide bc..„= matter, which only serve to perplex and irritate the tourist. This ci volume before us, masmuch as it contains ‘ mullum in ■ • ■ class of travellers.”—Jiell’s Weekly Messenger. EDINBURGH: ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 
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In One neat Portable Volume, Price 5s. 
BLACK’S PICTURESQUE GUIDE THROUGH 

NORTH AND SOUTH WALES AND MONMOUTHSHIRE. 
WITH EXCELLENT TRAVELLING MAPS, 

A Copious Itinerary, a Full Description of every Remarkable Place, a Notice of all the Best Hotels and Inns, and a Comprehensive General Index. 
Illustrated by Maps, Charts, and Views of Scenery. 

In the natural aspect of this country,—its mountains and hills, its valleys and glens, its lakes and rivers,—are exhibited scenes of beauty and of grandeur, which in few regions can be surpassed; while these are, for the most part, associated with historical events and traditionary legends of more than ordinary interest, and with the mouldering monuments of past ages, scarcely less striking than the splendid and romantic scenery. The inhabitants, too, are still a distinct and very remarkable people; speak- ing the language of their remote ancestors; retaining much that is peculiar in physical appearance, and in prevailing customs; and cherishing ardent attach- ment to their native soil, and to the memory of their princes, bards, and warriors. It is not, therefore, surprising that to travellers of almost every diversity of taste and pursuit, the Principality of Wales presents objects of peculiar and varied interest. In a Separate Volume, Price 3s. 6d. 
BLACK'S PICTURESQUE GUIDE TO NORTH WALES. With Map, Charts, and numerous Illustrations, being that portion of the complete book embracing the description of the Northern Counties. 

EDINBURGH: ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 
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In a neat Pocket Volume, Price Five Shillings, 

BLACK’S PICTURESQUE TOURIST OF IRELAND. 
A Second and Greatly Improved Edition. 

WITH A GENERAL TRAVELLING MAP, A LARGE CHART OF THE LAKES OF KILLARNEY AND SURROUNDING COUNTRY, AND PLANS OF THE PRINCIPAL CITIES; i AND CONTAINING ALL THE BEST HOTELS, WITH THEIR RESPECTIVE CHARGES. 
ALSO 

Black’s Guide to Belfast, is. 6d. 
Black’s Guide to Dublin, is. 6d. 
Black’s Guide to Killarney, Is. 6d. 
Black’s Guide to the Shannon, is. 6d. 

The voyage across the Irish Channel is now so easily accomplished, that Dublin can be reached, via Holyhead, in 14J hours from London, and 10J from , Manchester. By this route some interesting places may be visited on the way, such as Chester, and the Britannia Bridge, and a peep may be had of Wales. , Travelling in Ireland is not so expensive aa in either of the sister kingdoms, and the railroads are so laid, that extensive tours can be taken with great expe- 
Just Published, in a neat Pocket Volume, bound in cloth. Price Eighteenpence, " 

BLACK’S PICTURESQUE GUIDE TO WARWICKSHIRE. 
WITH AN EXCELLENT MAP OF THE COUNTY, AND NUMEROUS ILLUSTRATIONS. 

Few counties in England have greater claims on the Tourist than Warwick- " shire, containing, as it does, the Birth-Place of the immortal Shakspere, at Stratford-on-Avon, which has for so many years attracted literary pilgrims of every nation; the magnificent ruins of Kenilworth, so charmingly associated with Sir Walter Scott’s novel of the same name, and Warwick Castle, charac- terized as “the fairest monument of ancient and chivalrous splendour which yet 1 
remains uninjured by time.” Then there are the fashionable Spa of Leaming- ton, the ancient towns of Coventry and Tamworth, the great manufacturing city of Birmingham, and many other places of note. 

Uniform with Warwickshire, Price Eighteenpence each, 
Black’s Guide to Derbyshire, new Edition. 
Black’s Guide to Devon and Cornwall. 
Black’s Guide to Hampshire and the Isle of Wight. 
Black’s Guide to Yorkshire. 

EDINBURGH : ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 
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GUIOE 

HIGHLANDS AND ISLANDS OF SCOTLAND, 
INCLUDING 

ORKNEY AND ZETLAND; 
DESCRIPTIVE OF THEIR SCENERY, STATISTICS, ANTIQUITIES, AND NATURAL HISTORY. 

CONTAINING ALSO 
DIRECTIONS FOR VISITING THE LOWLANDS OF SCOTLAND ; WITH DESCRIPTIVE NOTICES, AND MAPS, VIEWS, TABLES OF DISTANCES, NOTICES OF INNS, &c. 

By GEORGE ANDERSON and PETER ANDERSON, of Lnverness. 
“ It is, after all the deductions which the most inquisitive investigation may- have deduced, the best Guide Book ever issued.”—A.-melon Correspondent of “Inverness Courier.” “Irrespective altogether of its merits as a Guide Book, this is one of the most delightful publications of the topographical and descriptive kind we have ever read.”—Inverness Advertiser. “ Under pretence of being a Guide Book, it gives a copious supply of even- kind of knowledge bearing upon the country it describes.”—Tait’s Magazine. “ It forms beyond question the fullest and most complete Guide to the High- lands and Islands.”— Scotsman. “ By far the best Hand Book to the Highlands which has yet been produced.” —Edinburgh Evening Courant. “ In this book we have the benefit of remarkable fulness of knowledge on the part of the authors, and the accuracy of their statements is only equalled by their judicious brevity.”—Chambers’s Journal. “ This volume should be in the pocket of every Scottish Tourist, and in the library of every Scotchman.”—Aberdeen Herald. “ Among the hills it is invaluable, and at the fireside most pleasant reading.” —Aberdeen Journal. “ We do not know two individuals better adapted to the task of writing a Guide Book to the Highlands and Islands of Scotland, than the editors of the work before us.”—Literary Gazette. “ This is the most complete work of its kind, and we believe the only one worth the name of a work on its immediate subject.”—Atlas. “ A work which has never received half its due measure of praise.”—Miller’s “ Old Red Sandstone.” 

EDINBURGH: ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. And Sold by all Booksellers. 
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NEW VIEWS IN ENGLAND AND WALES 
BY BIRKET FOSTER, Esq. 

VIEWS IN THE ENGLISH LAKE DISTRICT OF 
WESTMORELAND AND CUMBERLAND; 1 Including 'Windermere, Derwentwater, Uixeswater, Rydal, Grasmere, Coniston, Lowdore, Airey Force, Patterdale, Skiddaw, the Yew I Trees, Borrowdale, and most of the interesting Scenery of the District. Price Two Shillings and Sixpence. 

II. 
VIEWS IN WALES; 

| Including Beddoedlert, Pont-Abehgdasi.yn, Llanberis, Carnarvon, Penrhyn and Chepstow Castl.es, Tintern Abbey, the River Wye, and the I Britannia Tubular and Menai Bridges. Price Eighteenpence. 
EDINBURGH : ADA.M AND CHARLES BLACK. 
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TO TOURISTS IN SWITZERLAND. 
In a neat Portable Volume, price 3s. 6c/., 

THE TOUR OF MONT BLANC AND OF MONTE ROSA; 
BElfra A PERSONAL NARRATIVE. 

By JAMES D. FORBES, U.C.L., F.R.S., Sec. R.S. Edin. Corresponding Member of the Institute of France, and of other Academies, and Professor of Natural Philosophy in the University of Edinburgh. 
By the same Author, 

In Royal 8vo, doth, price 21s. 
NORWAY AND ITS GLACIERS 

VISITED IN 1851. 
FOLLOWED BY JOURNALS OF EXCURSIONS IN THE HIGH ALPS 

OF DAUPHINE, BERNE, AND SAVOY. 
With Two Maps, Ten Lithographic Views printed ip colours by Day and Son, and Twenty-two Wood Engravings. 

“ This is one of those books which we need not blush to present to foreign philosophers and men of learning as a specimen of the literature of science in England.”—Examiner. 
EDINBURGH: ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 



black’s guide book advertiser. 9 
NEW HANDBOOK FOR MADEIRA. 

Just Published, in crown 8vo, with Map of the Island, price 7s. 6d. 
MADEIRA: 

ITS CLIMATE AND SCENERY. 
A HANDBOOK FOR INVALID AND OTHER VISITORS. 

By ROBERT WHITE. 
Second Edition. Edited, and in great part Rewritten, 

By JAMES YATE JOHNSON. 
“ This is the most complete and trustworthy guide-book to Madeira yet pub- lished.”—Literary Gazette. ' “ An excellent book of reference on all matters connected with the island of ! Madeira, not for the tourist and the pleasure-seeker only, but for the valetudi- Jnarian, the natural philosopher, and the man of commerce.”—John Bull. 

EDINBURGH: ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. LONDON: LONGMAN AND CO. 
Just Published, in 18mo cloth, price Two Shillings, 

THE ANGLER’S GUIDE 
TO THE 

; RIVERS AND LOCHS IN THE NORTH OF SCOTLAND. 
to Which abb added 

INSTRUCTIONS TO YOUNG ANGLERS. 
By ANDREW YOUNG, InVf.rshin, Suthkhlaxdshire. 

“ This neat little pocket volume will be found invaluable to the Angler who selects our two northernmost counties for the scene of his operations. Its author is widely known as a perfect master of the gentle craft; and his lucid evidence before the Committees of both Houses of Parliament on the Tweed Fisheries (Bill, showed that he had studied his favourite question in all its aspects.”— \Caledonian Mercury. 
EDINBURGH: ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 



Just published, Third Edition, in One Vol. foolscap 8vo, price 3s. 6d., 
THE PRACTICAL ANGLER, 

OR, 
THE ART OF TROUT-FISHING 

“ Without hesitation we pronounce this little treatise the best we have ever read on angling for trout with the artificial fly, worm, minnow, and other baits.” I —Belt’s Life in London. 
EDINBURGH: ADAM & CHARLES BLACK. 
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Just Published, Third Edition, Crown 8vo, Price 10s. 6d., with 
numerous Illustrations on Wood and Steel, 

After Drawings by 
Herking, Alken, and Harrison Weir, 

THE HORSE AND THE HOUND; 
■THEIR VARIOUS USES AND TREATMENT, INCLUDING 

PRACTICAL INSTRUCTIONS IN 
HORSEMANSHIP AND HUNTING, &c. &c. 

BY NIMROD. 
(The late Charles Apperley, Esq.) 

EDINBURGH: ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 
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THE WAVERLEY NOVELS. 

LIBRARY EDITION. Illustrated by upwards of Two Hundred Engrai ings on Steel, after Drawings by Turner, Landseer, Wilkie, Stanfield, Robert fisc., 25 volumes demy octavo, cloth, price £13 :2:6. ABBOTSFORD EDITION. With One Hundred and Twenty Engraving | on Steel, and nearly Two Thousand on Wood. 12 vols. super-royal 8v< 1 
price £14:14s. AUTHOR’S / FAVOURITE EDITION. 48 portable foolscap 8vo vol (96 Engravings), price £7 : 4s. CABINET EDITION. 25 vols. foolscap 8vo (26 Illustrations), £3 :15s. PEOPLE’S EDITION. 5 large volumes royal 8vo, £2 : 2s. 

Separate Novels, People’s Editjon. Price Is. 6d. each, as follows :— 1. Wavkrlky. 2. Gui Manneeing. 3. Antiquary. 4. Rob Roy. 5. Old Mortality. 6. Black Dwarf and Legend or Montrose. 7. Heart or Midlothian. 8. Bride of Lammrrmoor. 

Kenilworth. 
Fortunes of Nigel. Peveril of the Peak. Quentin Durward. St. RonanY "r—- 

18. Redgauntlet. 19. Betrothed. 20. The Talisman. 21. Woodstock. 22. Fair Maid of Perth. 23. Anne of Geierstein. 24. Count Robert of Paris 25. Surgeon’s Daughter 
Separate Novels may also be had from most of the other editions. 

SIR WALTER SCOTT’S MISCELLANEOUS PROSE WORKS, 
consisting op Tales of a Grandfather. ] Paul’s Letters to his Kinsfolk. Life of John Dryden. Kssays on Chivalry, Romance, &c. Memoirs of Jonathan Swift. Provincial Antiquities of Scotland, i Memoirs of Eminent Novelists, &c. | Life of Napoleon Bonaparte. Miscellaneous Criticisms, &c. 

COMPLETE EDITIONS. I. In Twenty-eight volumes Foolscap 8vo, with Fifty-Six Engraving® from Turner. Price £4: 4s.; Separate volumes, 3s. II. In Three volumes Royal 8vo. Bound in cloth, price £1 : 6s. Separate volumes, I. and II., 10s. each. III. (Tales of a Grandfathf,k), price 6s. Illustrated Edition, of the TALES OF A GRANDFATHER—(Histort of Scotland.) With Six Engravings after Turner, and upwards of Fifty on Wood In Three volumes Foolscap, 8vo, cloth, 12s.; extra, cloth, gilt edges, 15s. 
SIR WALTER SCOTT'S POETICAL WORKS. COMPLETE EDITIONS. 

I. In Twelve volumes foolscap 8vo, cloth, price 36s. II. In One volume royal 8vo, price 10s. Other editions, price 5s. and 7s. 6d. 
EDINBURGH: ADAM & CHARLES BLACK. 
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rustrating the Scenery of Melrose, Tweeddale, Teviotdale. 

and the Border. 
New and Beautifully Illustrated Editions of 

MARMION 

THE LAY OF THE LAST MINSTREL, 
The first with Eighty, the second with One Hundred Wood Engravings, 

By Birket Foster and John Gilbert. 

Elegantly bound in Cloth, gilt edges, price 18s. each; 
Morocco, elegant or antique, 25s.; 

In enamelled tartan boards, with Vignette painted on the side price 36s. 

EDINBURGH: ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 
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Illustrating the Scenery of the Trosachs, See. 

A new and Beautifully Illustrated Edition of 
THE LADY OF THE LAKE, 

With Seventy exquisite Wood Engravings, including Views of Stirling, Callander J| The Trosachs, Loch Katrine, Loch Lomond, Ac. 
The landscapes by Birkkt Foster, the Figures by John Gilbert. ' 

Elegantly bound in cloth, gilt edges, price 18s. 
Morocco elegant or antique, 25s.; 

In enamelled tartan boards, with Vignette painted on the side, price 36s. 
EDINBURGH: ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 
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Illustrating the Scenery of the Hebrides. 

A New and Beautifully Illustrated Edition of 
THE LORD OF THE ISLES, 

With Seventy-two Illustrations. Landscapes by Birket Foster. Figures by John Gilbert. The Landscapes comprise Views of Arran, Stafka, Iona, Dunstaffnage, the Sound of Mull, Skye, and the famous Loch Coruisk. 

Elegantly bound in cloth, gilt edges, price 18s.; 
Morocco elegant or antique, 25s.; 

In enamelled tartan boards, with Vignette painted on the side, price 36s. 
EDINBURGH : ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 
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Recently PuLKslied, a New and Beautifully Illustrated Edition of j 
FALCONER’S SHIPWRECK. 

Edited by ROBERT CARRUTHERS, Esq. 
With Numerous Exquisite Engravings of Sea-pieces, Shipping, &c., by Birket Foster and Noel Humphreys. 

Elegantly bound in cloth, gilt edges, price 12s. 6d.; Morocco elegant or antique, 21s. 

EDINBURGH : ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 
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WORKS BY EMINENT SCOTTISH DIVINES. 

The Twentieth Thousand, price 7s. 6d., of 
THE GOSPEL IN EZEKIEL. 

A Series of Discourses delivered in Free St. John’s, Edinburgh, 
By THOMAS GUTHRIE, D.D., 

Author of “ Pleas for Ragged Schools,” etc. 

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS. 
’i ‘‘Since Dr. Chalmers, no Scottish divine has produced sermons more ' eloquent and impressive than those contained in this volume. . . . Two , or three extracts will show that this book is different from the ordinary pulpit style which has rendered ‘ a sermon ’ almost a synonym for any composition i which is dull, formal, and unattractive.”—Literary Gazette. “To our friends south of the Scottish Border, who do not know Dr. t Guthrie, we say, Procure this volume and read it, and you will feel that you f have made the acquaintance of a man whom it were worth while to go some distance to see.”—British Quarterly Review. 

By the same Author, 
The Fifteenth Thousand, price 3s., of 

THE CITY; ITS SINS AND SORROWS. 

In Crown 8vo, price 7s. 6d., 
LIFE IN A RISEN SAVIOUR: 

BEING 
DISCOURSES ON THE RESURRECTION. 

BY ROBERT S. CANDLISH, D.D. 
“ These Discourses are undoubtedly far superior to the general run of sermons, ‘in vigour of style, power of reasoning, and force, if it is not to be called felicity I of illustration.”—Spectator. 

EDINBURGH: ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 
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In One Volume 8vo, with Maps and Plans, Price 14s., 

NORTH AMERICA; 
ITS AGRICULTURE AND CLIMATE. 

CONTAINING OBSERVATIONS ON THE AGRICULTURE AND 
CLIMATE OF CANADA, THE UNITED STATES, AND 

THE ISLAND OF CUBA. 
BY ROBERT RUSSELL, Kilwhiss. 

“ What Arthur Young did for France in the end of the eighteenth century, Mr. Robert Russell. Kilwhiss, has done for North America in the middle of the nineteenth.”—Leader. “ The most varied, instructive, and withal the most readable book of Ameri- can travel we remember to have met with for some time.”—Atlas. “This useful volume bids fair, we think, to become a standard authority: upon the subjects of which it treats.”—Press. “ This is a thoroughly good work of travel. Mr. Russell in.this very able work has succeeded in giving it reality, solidity, and permanent value. There is no portion of the travels proper which a scientific farmer could not read with; interest; and yet there are few portions without that thoughtful spirit of gene- ralization and'careful comparative study of widely contrasted facts which will interest the speculative economist even more than the scientific agriculturist.; Our readers will find this volume almost as valuable in many ways tor reference; as it is interesting on a first perusal.”—Economist. “ A book of great practical value as well as much grasp of thought.”— National Review. “ To every class of readers this volume presents features of interest. An amount of information has been collected which will surprise most readers.”— North British Agriculturist. “Mr. Russell’s work on North America belongs to a much higher class of! literature than the common run of books on that subject.”—Saturday Review. “Those who wish for information on the permanent and natural character- istics of the States will find here an abundant stock of original observations.”— ; Westminster Review. « As a careful record of the actual state of America at the period to which it i refers, this volume has no superior in the English language.”—Observer. “ This volume contains the observations of one well qunlified by previous study aiid experience to make them on the Agriculture and Climate of Canada,, the United States, and the Island of Cuba.”—Agricultural Gazette. “ I have read this work both with pleasure and advantage, and every one! connected with agriculture must thank you for the treasures of facts you have! laid open and illustrated.”—Baron Liebig. 
EDINBURGH: ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 
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WORKS ILLUSTRATIVE OF 

SCOTTISH CHARACTER AND SCENERY. 
1 TURNER’S ILLUSTRATIONS TO SIR WALTER SCOTT’S POETICAL WORKS. Being a Collection of India Proof Engravings, on Large Paper, of that celebrated Artist’s drawings. Imperial 4to, bound in cloth, price £2 : 6s; Royal 4to., plain proofs, £1:15s. 

MEMORIALS OF HIS TIME. By Lord Cockburn. One vol. 8vo, cloth, with portrait, price 14s. Replete with graphic Sketches of the Manners and Customs of Edinburgh in the Eighteenth Century. 
TWO VIEWS OF STAFFA. Drawn with the Camera Lucida by Thos. Allan, Esq., F.R.S.E. Demy 4to, price 6d. each. 

.' THE HIGHLAND COSTUME. Illustrated by figures of a Highland Chief and Piper. 15 by 11 inches in size. After drawings by M'lan, A.R.A. Price 3s. 6d. each, coloured. 
! THE GENTLE SHEPHERD. A Pastoral Comedy. By Allan Ramsay. With a Life and Portrait of the Author, numerous Illus- trations, and a comprehensive Glossary. 18mo, cloth, 2s. 6d.; with gilt ' 1 edges, 3s.; morocco extra, 7s. 6d. 

i THE LIFE AND CORRESPONDENCE OF DAVID HUME. By John Hill Burton, Esq., Advocate (1711 to 1776.) Two ; i vols. 8vo, cloth, with Portrait, 15s. 
STHE LIFE AND CORRESPONDENCE OF LORD JEFFREY. By the late Lord Cockburn. Two vols. 8vo, cloth, with . i Portrait, 25s. 
[life OF SIR WALTER SCOTT, Bart. By J. G. j Lockhart, Esq. With Portraits and Views of Abbotsford, <fcc. Ten vols. foolscap, cloth, £1:10s.; or in one vol., royal 8vo, 10s.; smaller edition, i 7s. 6d. 
THE PROVINCIAL ANTIQUITIES OF SCOTLAND. By Sir Walter Scott, Bart. Comprising descriptions of Edinburgh, and , ; numerous places of interest in its vicinity, and his essay on Border Anti- quities. With two Illustrations after Turner. Foolscap, cloth, price 3s. 
MEMENTO OF THE TROSACHS, LOCH KATRINE, , AND LOCHLOMOND. A Series of Twenty-seven Engravings, by Birket Foster. Square 18mo, cloth, price Is. 6d. 
TALES OF A GRANDFATHER (History of Scotland). , By Sir Walter Scott, Bart With Notes. Three vols. foolscap 8vo, with Illustrations, price 15s.; or in One vol. royal 8vo, cloth, 6s. 

EDINBURGH : ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 
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Works Illustrative of Scottish Character and Scenery—Continued. 

THE HISTORY OF SCOTLAND from 1249 to 1603. By Patrick Fraser Tytler, Esq. Seven vols. 8vo, cloth, £2:12:6. 
THE MINSTRELSY OF THE SCOTTISH BORDER. Collected and edited by Sir Walter Scott, Bart. The drawings in the volumes are from the hand of Mr. Turner, to whom the subjects were pointed out by Sir Walter Scott, when that great artist visited him at Abbotsford in the Autumn of 1830. In four vols. foolscap 8vo, cloth, with Eight Engravings by Turner, and many of the Ancient Border Melodies set to Music, price 10s. 6d. “ Truly a patriot’s legacy to posterity; and much as it may be now esteemed, it is only in times yet gathering in the bosom of futurity, when the interesting traditions, the chivalrous and romantic legends, the wild superstitions, the tragic songs of Scot- land, have wholly failed from the living memory, that this gift can he duly appre- ciated. It is then that these volumes will be conned with feelings akin to religious enthusiasm, that their strange and mystic lore will be treasured up in the heart as the precious record of days for ever passed away—that their grand stem legends will be listened to with reverential awe, as if the voice of a remote ancestor from the depths of the tomb had woke the thrilling strains of martial antiquity.” 

EDINBURGH: ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 
BLACKS ROAD AND RAILWAY TRAVELLING MAPS. 

Carefully constructed from the Maps of the Ordnance Survey and other Autho- rities, and containing all the Roads, Railroads, Villages, Country Seats, Fishing Streams, Rivers, Lakes, and Mountains, and every Topographical information required by the Tourist on pleasure or business. Lined with, or printed on, patent cloth, and neatly bound in portable cases. 
ENGLAND AND WALES. 32 Inches by <22$. 4s. 6d. Do. Smaller, size 19 Inches by 15, 2s. 6d. Or uncoloured and unmounted, Is. 
ENGLISH LAKE DISTRICT. 19 Inches by 14. 2s. 6d. Do. Un- coloured and unmounted. Price 8d. 
WALES (North and South). 14 Inches by 11£. Is. 6d. each. 
SCOTLAND. 32 Inches by 22J. Price 4s. 6d. Do. Smaller, size 19 Inches by 15. Price 2s. 6d. 
IRELAND. Size, 20 Inches by 14J. Price 2s. 6d. 
THE CONTINENT OF EUROPE. 4s. 6d. 
PLAN OF PARIS. 3s. 6d. 
TOURIST’S AND SPORTSMAN’S COMPANION TO THE COUN- TIES OF SCOTLAND. A Series of Thirty-six Maps, showing all the Roads, Railways, Villages, Country Seats, Rivers and Lakes, Places of His- torical and Legendary Note; Memoranda of Battles, Heights of Mountains, <fcc. In a portable volume, strongly bound. Price 10s. 6d. 

EDINBURGH: ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 
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MESSRS. BLACKWOOD AND SONS’ PUBLICATIONS. 

IMISS STRICKLAND’S LIVES OF THE QUEENS OF SCOTLAND. Vols. L to VII., post 8vo, price 10s. 6d., with Portraits and Historical Vignettes. THE BALLADS OF SCOTLAND. Edited by Professor Aytocw. Two vols., small 8vo. In the Frees. 
LAYS OF THE SCOTTISH CAVALIERS, AND OTHER POEMS. By Professor Aytoun. Foolscap 8vo, Tenth Edition, price 7s. 6d. 
BOTH WELL; A Poem, by Professor Aytoun. Third < Edition. Foolscap, 7s. 6d. 
PROFESSOR WILSON’S NOCTES AMBROSIAN^. Edited hy his Son-in-law, Professor Ferrier. Four vols., crown 8vo, 24s. 

[PROFESSOR WILSON’S TALES. Complete in 1 vol., 6s. 
''PROFESSOR WILSON’S POEMS. Complete in 1 vol., 6s. 
^PROFESSOR WILSON’S RECREATIONS OF CHRIS- | TOPHER NORTH. Complete in two vols., 12s. 
SERMONS by the Rev. John Caird, A.M. Post 8vo, 7s. 6d. 
JESSIE CAMERON. A Highland Story. By the Lady Rachel Butler. Second Edition. Small 8vo, price 2s. 6d. 
gTHE SCOTS MUSICAL MUSEUM. Consisting of 600 i Songs, with proper Basses for the Pianoforte. By James Johnson. '’With Copious 
c Notes and Hlustrations of the Lyric Poetry and Music of Scotland. Four vols. 8vo, ! £2 :12 :6, half-bound morocco. 
ILLUSTRATIONS OF THE LYRIC POETRY AND j MUSIC OF SCOTLAND. Originally compiled to accompany the “ Scots Musical Museum,” and now published separately, with Additional Notes and Illustrations. 
THE ANGLER’S COMPANION TO THE RIVERS AND I LOCHS OF SCOTLAND. By T. T. Stoddart. Second Edition, crown 8vo, 7s. 6d. 
iTHE MOOR AND THE LOCH. Minute Instructions in all Highland Sports. By John C. Colquhoun, Esq. Third Edition, 8vo, 12s. 6d. THE ANGLER’S MAP OF SCOTLAND. In a Cloth Case '1 for the Pocket. Price 3s. 6d. 
MAPS OF THE COUNTIES OF SCOTLAND. With the Railways, in a Case for the Pocket. One Shilling each. DOUNTY ATLAS OF SCOTLAND. Thirty-one Maps and General Map. 8vo, hound, 12s. 

; KEW STATISTICAL ACCOUNT OF SCOTLAND. 15 f vols. 8vo, £16:16s. Each County may he had separately, strongly hound, with Index ! and Maps. THE BOOK OF THE FARM. By Henry Stephens, ! F.R.S.E. In two volumes royal 8vo, handsomely hound in cloth, with upwards of 600 Hlustrations, price 60s. 
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TRAVELLING IN SCOTLAND. 

J^ATHERS’ SCOTTISH TIME TABLES contain 1 
the Railways and other Conveyances in Scotland, 

systematically arranged in a way to show more clearly I 
than the Ordinary Tables the direct through Routes,1! 
and the Diverging Branches, with Skeleton Maps and 
Descriptions. 

Since the publication of these Tables last year, they 1 
have met with the unanimous approval of experienced] 
travellers. 

*** Published Monthly, Price Three halfpence, and 
SOLD BY NEARLY ALL BOOKSELLERS IN SCOTLAND. 

THE SCOTTISH CHIEFS. 

Just Published, a New and Superior Edition of 
THE SCOTTISH CHIEFS. 

BY MISS JANE PORTER. 

This Edition is printed in the type and size of page] 
generally used in the better class of reprints sold at 5s. or 6s. || 
per volume, and presents an appearance nothing inferior toi 
these, while the price is only Two Shillings in boards; or in j: 
cloth, Two Shillings and Sixpence. 

Edinburgh : D. Mathers. 
Glasgow : W. Love. Aberdeen : L. A J. Smith. 



SOUVENIRS AND PRESENTS FROM SCOTLAND. 
(STEREOSCOPE SLIDES "OF THE HIGHLANDS.) 

23 

Tourists visiting Stirling will find a large variety of "Views of Scottish Scenery, Guide Books, Maps, &c. Ac., and other interesting Memorials of Scotland, including a select assortment of the celebrated useful and ornamental Mauchline Tartan Goods. 
ROBERT S. SHEARER, 

BOOKSELLER, &c. 
{Opposite Gibb's Hotel) 

KING STREET, STIRLING. 
' *„* R. S. S. will be happy to forward any information by post as to Routes, Coaches, Ac., to the Highlands, and to post-free any book on receipt of the Published Price. 

STIRLING TRACT ENTERPRISE. 
[ 'THE Stirling Series contains upwards of 500 different Tracts, 

SSi1 SSSfS Ks! rtiu 
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MURRAY’S HANDBOOKS. 
HANDBOOK OF TRAVEL-TALK.—English, French, German, and Italian. 3s. 6d. Handbook for north Germany.—Holland, Bel- gium, PRUSSIA, and THE RHINE TO SWITZERLAND. Maps. 10s. Handbook for south Germany.—the tyrol, bava- RIA, AUSTRIA, SALZBURG, STYRIA, HUNGARY, and THE DANUBE from ULM to the BLACK SEA. Maps. 10s. Handbook for Switzerland.—the alps of savoy and PIEDMONT. Maps. 9s. Handbook for franoe.—normandy, brittany, the FRENCH ALPS, DAUPHINE, PROVENCE, and the PYRENEES. Maps. 10s. Handbook for Spain.—andalusia, ronda, Grenada, CATALONIA, GALLICIA, THE BASQUES, ARRAGON, &c. Maps. 2 vols. 30s. JJANDBOQK FOR PORTUGAL.—LISBON, &c. Map. 9s. 
Handbook for north italy.—Sardinia, lombardy, VENICE, PARMA, PIACENZA, MODENA, LUCCA, FLORENCE, TUSCANY, as far as the VAL D’ARNO. 2 Parts. Maps. 12s. Handbook for south italy.—the two Sicilies, NAPLES, POMPEII, HERCULANEUM, VESUVIUS, Ac. Maps. 10s. Handbook for central italy.—southern tus- CANY and the PAPAL STATES. Maps. 7s. ||ANDBOOK FOR ROME AND ITS ENVIRONS. Map. 7s. 
Handbook for Greece.—the Ionian islands, Al- bania, THESSALY, and MACEDONIA. Maps. 15s. Handbook for turkey.—Malta, Constantinople, ASIA MINOR, ARMENIA, MESOPOTAMIA, &c. 10s. Handbook for egypt.—malta, the nile, Alexan- dria, CAIRO, THEBES, and the OVERLAND ROUTE TO INDIA. Map. 15s. Handbook for Denmark.—Norway and Sweden. Maps. 12s. Handbook for Russia.—Finland and Iceland. Maps. 12s. HANDBOOK FOR DEVON AND CORNWALL. Maps. 6s. 
HANDBOOK FOR WILTS, DORSET, AND SOMERSET. Maps. 
Handbook for kent, surrey, Sussex, hants, and the ISLE OF WIGHT. Map. 

JOHN MURRAY, Albemarle Street. 
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Pictures in the Private Collection of Her Majesty. 

Now Ready, Vols. I. to III., New Series, Price £1:11: 6d. each, cloth gilt, 
THE ART-JOURNAL: 

A MONTHLY RECORD (Price 2s. 6d.) 
Of the Fine Arts, the Arts Industrial, and the Arts of Design and Manufacture. 

The Fourth Volume of the New Series of the Art-Journal commenced on the ! 1st of January 1858; its claims to public patronage and support are widely : known and generally acknowledged. While the number is daily increasing to 1 whom Art is either a luxury or a pursuit, this Journal remains the only periodi- , cal work in Europe by which the Arts are adequately represented. Its conduc- 1 tors are therefore justified in expecting an augmented circulation, to obtain which j' they are availing themselves of every means that can be commanded by energy, i experience, and capital, and especially by those advantages which are derived j from long-continued and unequivocal success. l It is recommended to the Artist, the Amateur, and the Manufacturer—as ; ministering to their several wants—as supplying information upon all topics of j interest in association with the Arts—as containing popular communications from authors of the highest professional reputation in Science, Letters, and Art— f. and as conveying intelligence concerning Art in its several departments, useful : to all classes, and indispensable to those with whom it is an occupation of > life. The Illustrations continue to be of the highest order. Engravings of the j Ancient and Modern Pictures, graciously placed at the disposal of the conductors j of the Art-Journal by Her Most Gracious Majesty and His Royal Highness | the Prince-Consort, are issued as heretofore. A series of Portrait-statues, engraved {from the works of modem sculptors, has been commenced. The Woodcuts which illustrate the Memoirs of British Artists, and those which supply examples of the progress of Art-Manufactures, or are suggestions for their benefit, have been resumed; and there is also an especial series of Original Designs for Manu- facturers, gathered from the best sources. The volume for 1858 contains various other novelties—all, it is hoped and believed, useful as well as interesting; and subscribers to this work—those who . have been its supporters hitherto, and those the conductors may reasonably I expect, from a growing intelligence and power to appreciate Art in all its rami- ■fications—may rest assured that every possible effort will be exerted to retain i for the Art-Journal the public favour it has so long and so largely enjoyed. 
THE TURNER BEQUEST. j Arrangements are in progress for engraving in line, and publishing in the Abt- i Journal, a selection from the Pictures bv the late J. M. W. Turner, R.A. 

*»* The volumes of the Art-Journal,_/rojn 1849 to 1854 inclusive, contain a complete series of Engravings from the Vernon Gallery, andform a continuous record of the progress of Art. The copies remaining may he had together or sepa- rately, price £1, 11s. 6d. each volume, cbth gilt. 
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DR. CORNWELL’S EDUCATIONAL WORKS. 

Second Edition, price Is. GEOGRAPHY FOR BEGINNERS. By James Cornwell, Ph.D. “ An admirable introduction to the more advanced steps of Geographical Science. There is vast difficulty in writing a good elementary book, and Dr. Cornwell has shown himself possessed of that rare combination of faculties which are required for the task.”—John Bull. 1 

Twenty-fourth and Enlarged Edition, the Statistical Information corrected to the present time, price 3s. 6d.; or, with Thirty Maps on Steel, Ss. 6d. A SCHOOL GEOGRAPHY. By James Cornwell, Ph.D. I 
Also, by the same Author, price 2s. 6d., or 4s. coloured, A SCHOOL ATLAS; consisting of Thirty Maps on Steel, containing every name found in the School Geography, and a list of several ' hundred places, with their latitude and longitude, and the accentuation and pronunciation of all difficult names. The Maps of England and Scotland enlarged. iv. Twenty-Sixth Edition, price 2s. red. Is. 9d. cloth, ALLEN AND CORNWELL’S SCHOOL GRAMMAR. With very copious Exercises, and a Systematic View of the Formation and Derivation of words; together with Anglo-Saxon, Latin, and Greek Roots, which explain the Etymology of above Seven Thousand English Words. 

Thirtieth Edition, price Is. cloth, 9d. sewed, GRAMMAR FOR BEGINNERS. 
Twentieth Edition, price Is. 6d., THE YOUNG COMPOSER, or Progressive Exercises in English Composition. By James Cornwell, Ph.D. “ An invaluable little work for beginners. If they go through it steadily, they will not only learn how to write, but how to think.”—Literary Gaulle. 

Price 3s., A KEY TO THE YOUNG COMPOSER; with Suggestions as to the mode of using the Book. VIII. Ninth Edition, much improved, price 4s., SELECT ENGLISH POETRY. Edited by the late Dr. Allen. 
New Edition, price 3s. cloth, DR. ALLEN’S EUTROPIUS ; with a Complete Dictionary. 

Third and enlarged Edition, price 4s. 6d., THE SCIENCE OF ARITHMETIC ; a Systematic Course of Numerical Reasoning and Computation. By James Cornwell, Ph.D., and Joshua G. Fitch, M.A. 
London: Simpkin, Marshall, & Co.; Hamilton, Adams, & Co. Edinburgh: Oliver A Boyd ; W. P. Kennedy. 
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THE ROYAL HOTEL, 
(M1,Gregor’s, late Gibb’s), 

53 FRINGES STREET, EDINBURGH. 
D. M‘GREGOR begs respectfully to acquaint the Nobility, 
Gentry, and Tourists, that having taken a lease of the above 
most central Hotel (established for the last forty years), 
he has greatly enlarged and improved it; there is a spacious 
Coffee-Room and additional Suites of Apartments; and no 
efforts whatever will be wanting to ensure the comfort of 
Visitors, and maintain the high standing which the Royal 
Hotel has attained. 

The House stands opposite Sir Walter Scott’s Monu- 
ment, and commands the best views of the Gardens, Castle, 1 Arthur’s Seat, etc. 

A FIXED CHABGE FOE ATTENDANCE. 
Table D'hote every Day at Five o' Clock. 

N.B.—D. M‘G. has to caution parties who may wish to 
|come to the Royal Hotel, to be careful that the Cabmen 
and Porters do not take them elsewhere, as it has caused 

j many parties great annoyance. 
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RAMPLING’S WATERLOO HOTEL, 
(Opposite the General Post-Office), 

WATERLOO PLACE, EDINBURGH. 
OTRANGERS and others VISITING EDINBURGH will find that for U SITUATION, COMKORT, and ACCOMMODATION, combined with MODERATE CHARGES, this Elegant and Extensive Establishment (which was built expressly for an I Hotel, at an expense of upwards of £30,000) is unequalled in the city. The Wines and Cuisine are of the First Quality. 

COMMODIOUS AND ELEGANT COFFEE-ROOM. 
Large and Well- Ventilated Smoking Boom. Suite of Apartinents, etc. 

A Moderate fixed Charge for Attendance. 

EDINBURGH 

CALEDONIAN HOTEL, PRINCES STREET, j 
OPPOSITE THE CASTLE. 

Families and Gentlemen -will find here the quiet and comfort of 1 
home, combined with the independence of a Hotel. Suites of I 
superiorly-furnished Rooms overlooking the Gardens ; Coffee, I 
Smoking, and Bath Rooms; the choicest Wines, Yiands, etc., I 
and Dairy produce from own Dairy. Every attention to secure i 
the comfort of Visitors. Charges, including all attendance, 1 
strictly moderate. 
OBSERVE—PRINCES STREET, CORNER OF CASTLE STREET. I 
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BRITISH HOTEL, 70 QUEEN STREET. 
JOHN H. BARRY, Proprietor, returns his grateful thanks to his numerous d patrons for their continued support. To strangers visiting Edinburgh, he can, with confidence, recommend his establishment for every comfort as a Family Hotel. 

J. H. Barry being also a Wine-Merchant, and importer from the first houses abroad, can assure the public that his Wines are of the first-class, his stock is large, and especially so in fine Old Port, now so scarce. Orders executed with care. 
JOHNSTON’S FAMILY AND COMMERCIAL HOTEL, 

20 WATERLOO PLACE, EDINBURGH. 
[Immediately opposite the General Post Office, and Three Minutes' Walk from the Bailway Termini). Tourists will find this splendid Hotel—one of the largest in Edinburgh- most delightfully situated and elegantly furnished. Public Saloon and Private Parlours. A moderate fixed charge for Attendance.—No gratuities. 
EDINBURGH ALBION TEMPERANCE HOTEL, 

(PHILP’S) 28 ST. JAMES’ SQUARE. 
(Immediately behind the Register Office ) THE ALBION is a large, elegantly-furnished, First-Class Family and Com- mercial Hotel; situation central, quiet, and airy, and only three minutes’ walk from the Railway Termini. A. P. is determined that while his house is peculiar, owing to the entire absence of stimulating liquors, it shall not be surpassed by any in the country in the care paid to the comfort of Visitors. The Charges are on the lowest scale, consistent with the efficient arrangement of a First-Class Hotel. Servants charged One Shilling per day. 

ABBOTSFORD-NOTICE TO VISITORS. 
! Visitors will not he admitted to Abbotsford House during the months of December and January. In November, February, and March, the Admissions will be restricted to Wednesdays and Fridays, from 10 a.m. till dusk. At other times, the Principal Objects of Interest will be shown daily (Sundays excepted) 

i, . x- .—o on this subject should be addressed to Mr. John i, Swanston, Abbotsford, Melrose, at least a week beforehand. 1 A separate Entrance and a Waiting Room have been provided for Visitors, and it is 1 hoped that they will abstain from causing annoyance to the Family by endeavouring to L obtain admission at other times than those abov e specified, or by trespassing on the Reserved F Parts of the House and Grounds. V Abbotsfobd, May 1868. 
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BUCHANAN’S 
COMMERCIAL TEMPERANCE HOTEL, 

114 HIGH STREET, EDINBURGH, 
Opposite the Head of North Bridge, 

IN THE IMMEDIATE VICINITY OF THE RAILWAY TERMINI. 
Extensive, Elegant, and Comfortable Accommodation for Travellers. 

Tourists will find Good and Cheap Refreshment at the above Hotel. Breakfasts, Luncheons, Fish, Soups, Joints, Chops, Steaks, Tea, Coffee, Sherbet, Raspberry, etc., served with the utmost dispatch, at the lowest possible charge. I 
James Buchanan, while returning his most sincere thanks to his numerous supporters, is happy to state that he has just added to the above establishment a I large number of First-Class Bed-Rooms, several Sitting-Rooms, and a Spacious Hall, seated for 300 persons. He has also greatly improved and extended his Culinary accommodation. These changes, together with Hot, Cold, and Shower Baths, and civil and ready attendance, make it one of the most complete Temper- I ance Hotels in Great Britain, while the charges still remain much lower than in many inferior houses. 

Free use of excellent Reading'Room, Commercial Room, and Private Parlours. Beds, Is. No charge for Servants. 

MELROSE 
KING’S ARMS HOTEL. ] 

Long Established by Mrs. Thompson. 
POST HORSES AND CARRIAGES OF EVERY DESCRIPTION. 

Melrose, May 1858. 
W0©DS!DE HOUSE* ©iAIi. 

M‘LAURIN’S PRIVATE HOTEL. 
At the above Establishment, Families and others visiting Oban, will meet with every Accommodation and Attention (combined with Moderate Charges). This Hotel is well suited and convenient for private parties and families; and situated within a few minutes’ walk of the Steamboat Wharf and Coach Offices. Families boarded for long or short periods. 
N.B.—Mrs. M‘L. would also intimate that She has added excellent Stabling and Coach-houses to the above Establishment. 
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MRS. M‘GREGOR, while taking this opportunity of returning 
thanks to Strangers and Tourists in Scotland visiting the 
Trosachs and Loch Katrine, for the liberal support given to 
the above Hotel during the nine years’ proprietorship of her 
deceased Husband, respectfully intimates her intention of 
maintaining the Establishment as formerly, and solicits a con- 
tinuance of Patronage. 

The accommodation consists of Ten Private Parlours, Two 
Handsome and Commodious Public Rooms, and about Seventy 
Beds. 

Carriages and Post Horses on the Shortest Notice. 

Parties of pleasure who intend visiting Ellen’s Isle are 
Ii respectfully informed that Boats are to be had on the shortest 
i notice, and that only, by applying at the Trosachs Hotel. 
IThe Dunblane, Doune, and Callander Railway is expected 

to be opened early in summer. 
Coaches to and from the Station at Callander will run Daily 

■ 11 during the Tourist Season. 
Trosachs Hotel, April 1858. 
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GOLDEN LION HOTEL, 

(CAMPBELL’S, late GIBB’S) 
KING STREET, STIRLING. 

DUNCAN CAMPBELL, 
WHILE expressing his thanks for the liberal support he has received during the many years he has been Proprietor of this Hotel, respectfully intimates that many improvements 
have recently been effected in the interior arrangement and 
management of the House, rendering it complete in every depart- ment as a temporary Residence for Families, Parties, Tourists, and the Public generally. 

D. C. flatters himself that those patronizing his Establish- ment will find it everything they could wish in point of accom- modation, moderation in charges, and facility in obtaining necessary refreshments. 
Everything which experience could suggest has been done to provide for Commercial Gentlemen, who will find it to their advantage to put up at the Golden Lion. 
A large Coffee-Room for Ladies and Gentlemen. 

COACHING DEPARTMENT. 
Coaches to Callander, Loch Katrine, the Trosachs, Lochearn- h§ad, Killin, Kenmore, Aberfeldy, and Dunkeld, twice a day during the season. 
Carriages, Broughams, Droskies, Gigs, and Post-Horses, on the shortest notice. 
The Inn is in the immediate vicinity of the Post-Office, Stamp-Office, the Banks, and the Stirling Station of the Scottish Central Railway; an Omnibus runs to and from the latter on the arrival and departure of all the trains. Passengers and 

Luggage—Free. 
HOT, COLD, AND SHOWER BATHS. 

Golden Lion Hotel, King Street, Stirling, April 1858. 
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ROYAL HOTEL, STIRLING. 
The Nobility, Gentry, and Tourists visiting Stirling, will find the above 

extensive Hotel beautifully situated on the right-hand comer on entering 
the Road from the Stirling Station, where they may depend upon having 
every comfort and attention, with moderate charges; and being the nearest 
Hotel in town to the Stirling Steam Wharf, where the steamers arrive and 
depart for Edinburgh, renders it a most eligible situation for parties arriving 
and departing by the railways and steamers. Coaches to and from Loch 
Catrine daily during the season. A note per post the day previous will 
secure apartments and seats per coach. Parties writing will be particular 
in addressing, “ Archibald Campbell, Royal Hotel, Stirling.” 

French and German spoken at the Hotel. 
Stirling, 1st April 1858. 

ANDERSON’S 
QUEEN’S HOTEL, BRIDGE OF ALLAN. 

This highly commodious and elegant Hotel—one of the most spacious in North Britain—has lately been further extended and decorated by the Pro- prietor. The Dining Hall is a splendid Apartment, while the Drawing-room is fitted up in the most approved style of modem convenience. The Bed- rooms are lofty and airy, and are furnished with every regard to comfort. 
A Table d'Htite daily. 

Wines of first class imported direct. Port Wines of Vintages from 1820 to 1840. A baker and confectioner employed on the premises. Vehicles from the Hotel wait the arrival of every train. 

TOURISTS and Others wishing to visit Hawthornden are hereby inform 1 that the GROUNDS are OPEN to VISITORS on WEDNESDAYS a FRIDAYS only. 
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IBIBOE or ALLAH 

PHILP’S ROYAL HOTEL. 

pHILP’S EOYAL HOTEL has been fitted up with the 
utmost regard to the comfort of Yisitors, and is furnished 

in the most elegant modern style. The Large Public Room is 
capable of accommodating upwards of One Hundred Persons at j 
dinner, with a magnificent Drawing Room, containing a select 
Library and a Piano-Forte. Also, a number of Private Parlours, 
in which Families may have the quiet and comforts of home, I 
combined with the strictest-economy. 

This elegant First-Class Hotel is situated in the centre of ! 
the finest scenery, being in the neighbourhood of Stirling, the 
Field of Bannockburn, Castle Campbell, Callander, and the J 
Trosachs. The Mineral Spa, and the salubrity of the climate, | 
render it a charming retreat for invalids. The adjoining hills j| 
are interspersed with beautiful promenades ,• and attached to the ] 
Hotel is a beautiful ornamental Flower Harden. 

A Table d’Hote daily during the Season. 

A Carriage waits the Arrival of every Train. 
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HELENSBURGH QUEEN’S HOTEL, 
(Late BATH’S.) 

ALEXANDER WILLIAMSON, 
(Late of BALLOCH HOTEL), 

‘DESPECTFULLY informs Strangers and Tourists that he 
has secured a lease of the above Establishment. The 

Proprietor has entirely reconstructed the house, the accommoda- 
, tion being largely increased, and no trouble or expense spared in 

making it a First-Class Hotel. The want of such an Establish- 
' ment has been long felt, as Helensburgh is now one of the most 

; fashionable Watering-places, and the centre of a, district celebrated 
' for its natural beauty and historical associations. 

The QUEEN’S HOTEL has been fitted up and furnished 
I in the most elegant and substantial manner. 

Families and Tourists will find in it all the comforts of a 
home, combined with the strictest economy. 

Numerous suites of apartments for Families. 
A large Coffee-room for Families, free, who do not wish to 

i be at the expense of a parlour. 
S Families can be boarded if desired. 

A magnificent Smoking Room. 
Boats for fishing or pleasure parties. 
An omnibus from the Hotel to the different steamers. 

Servants’ Charges in the Bill. 
SALT BATHS, HOT AND COLD. 

POSTING IN ALL ITS DEPARTMENTS. 
Helensburgh, 1868. 
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ATKINSON’S WATERHEAD INN, 
CONISTON. 

The Lancaster and Furness Railway being now open for passenger and other traffic, renders the route by Coniston the cheapest and most picturesque way to the Lakes. 
At Coniston Waterhead there is an excellent First-Class Hotel, which is the most favourite and frequented station for visitors making excursions to the neighbouring vales of Tilberthwaite, Yewdale, Langdale, and the Duddon, for ascending the Old Man Mountain, and exploring the famous Copper Mines. 
It is distant from Broughton 9 miles, Windermere 10, Keswick 22, Grasmere 10, Ferry 8, Bowness 9, and Patterdale 18. 
Open amj Close Carriages, Guides, Mountain Ponies, and every other requisite always at command. 
Coaches run daily to and from the Hotel, during the summer and autumn, to the Broughton and Windermere Railway Stations. 
Coniston, March 1858. 

THE DERWENTWATER HOTEL, 
PORTINSOALE, KESWICK. 

{Patronised by Lord John Bussell and Family.) 
Mb. EDWARD BELL begs respectfully to inform Tourists and others visit- ing the Lake District, that he has greatly enlarged the above Hotel, and fitted it up on the most modern principle. The Hotel is beautifully situated on the banks of I terwent Lake, and commands extensive views of Lake and Mountain scenery. Open and Close Carriages, Cars, Post and Saddle Horses. Pleasure and Fishing Boats always in readiness. 

KING’S ARMS HOTEL, 
COMMERCIAL INN AND POSTING-HOUSE, KESWICK. 

J. BOWES begs most respectfully to thank the supporters of his establish- ment for the patronage they have given him; and at the same time to inform them and visitors generally, it shall always be his study to give every satis- faction to his guests, without any regard to trouble or expense. Open and Close Carriages, Covered Cars, Post Horses, and Mountain Ponies, always in readiness. 
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bhowits 

PRINCE OF WALES LAKE HOTEL, 
GRASMERE, 

Stands upon the margin of the Lake, has been built expressly 
for a Hotel, and fitted up with Hot, Cold, and Shower Baths, 
and every modern improvement for a first-rate establishment. 
The following mountains, &c., may be seen from the windows 
of the Hotel,—Nab Scar, Loughrigg Fell, Bed Bank, Silver 

, How, Sargeant Man, High Raise, Steele Fell, Helen Crag, 
, Dunmail Raise, Seat Sandal, Stone Arthur, the whole of the 
' Lake, Yalley, and Church, the last resting-places of Wordsworth 

and Hartley Coleridge, &c. &c.; and the views from the house 
! and pleasure grounds surpass any others in the whole of the 

Lake District. 
E. B. had the distinguished honour of entertaining the 

I Prince of Wales and Suite, the greater part of the time they 
| were in the Lake District, the early part of May 1857. And 

from his house they made their daily excursions to Fairfield, 
Helvellyn, Rydal Falls, Loughrigg, the Langdales, and across 

! the mountains to Borrowdale. 
1 Grasmere will be found, on reference to the map, to be the 

most central situation for making daily excursions to and from 
the other Lakes and Mountains. 

A Refreshment Room and Coach Office is attached to the 
Hotel, where omnibuses and coaches run to and from the Win- 
dermere steamers, Windermere, Broughton, Penrith, and Cocker- 
mouth Railway Stations, and to all parts of the Lake District. 

Carriages, Cars, Ponies, Boats, &c. 
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BOWNESS—LAKE WINDERMERE. 
MllWR'B H0YAL miEl3 

(LATE WHITE LION), 
The Oldest Established Hotel in the District. 

WBOWNASS, Proprietor of the above Hotel, in returning his • warmest thanks to the Royal Families, Nobility, Gentry, and the Public for the liberal support he has hitherto received, hegs to assure his patrons that it shall be his continued study to merit a continuance of their support, by paying every attention to their comfort, combined with a strict view to economy and convenience of those who may favour him with their patronage. Within a few years this hotel has had the honour of receiving the patronage of the late Queen Dowager, the King of Saxony, the Prince of Prussia, the Grand Duke Constantine of Russia, and most of the principal English and Foreign Families of distinction visiting this romantic and interesting district; being situated close upon the Lake, of which it commands extensive views, and within an easy day’s excursion of all the principal lakes and mountains of the district. Conveyances of every description kept. House and Estate Agent. An Omnibus meets every Train at Birthwaite, the Terminus of the Kendal and Windermere Railway, H miles from Bowness, and Private Carriages if required. Bowness is within 10J hours of London, 4J of Manchester and Liverpool. 

STRINGER’S 

HOTEL AND POSTING-HOUSE, 
Windermere Waterhead. 

RIGG’S WINDERMERE HOTEL. 
AT this Establishment, Families and others visiting the Lake District will meet with every accommodation and attention, combined with moderate charges. The Hotel is situated on an eminence immediately above the terminus of the Kendal and Windermere Railway, and is so situated as to prevent the least inconvenience or annoj’ance from the traffic. 

The views of mountain and lake scenery commanded from the windows of the Hotel are unsurpassed hy any in the district—the Lake Windermere, with its numerous islands, being seen nearly to its utmost extent. 
Open and Close Carriages, Cars, and Post Horses always in readiness. 
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THE BANKS OF THE WYE. 

TOURISTS and FAMILIES travelling to and from SOUTH WALES -will find very Superior Accommodation, combined with Moderate Charges, at 

ROPER'S ROYAL HOTEL, 
ROSS, HEREFORDSHIRE, 

Adjoining the far-famed “ Man of Ross Prospect,” and commanding extensive Views of the Wye, and its enchanting Scenery. 
It is within a convenient distance of Goodrich Court and Castle^— Symond’s Yat—Tintern Abbey—Wyndcliffe—Ragland Castle, &c. 

There is excellent Fishing, free from charge, close to the Town. 
FAMILIES BOARDED FOR LONG OR SHORT PERIODS. 

Posting in aH its Branches. 
PLEASURE BOATS FOR EXCURSIONS ON THE WYE. 

FLYS AND OMNIBUSES MEET EVERY TRAIN. 

Ross is “ The Gate of the Wye,” and for the beauty and variety of the scenery on its banks, there is no river in England at all comparable with it; nor do we believe (notwithstanding the superiority of some of them in point 1 of size) that there is a single river on the Continent of Europe that can boast such scenes of grandeur, gracefulness, and pastoral beauty. Its romantic beauties, whether where it glides majestically along the rich plains of Here- fordshire—through orchards, meadows, cornfields, and villages—or, deep in its channel, mns between lofty rocks, clothed with hanging woods, and crowned at intervals with antique ruins of castellated and monastic edifices, yielding a panoramic succession of exquisite landscapes, have furnished many subjects for the poet and the painter; and cannot fail to charm every i lover of nature. 
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CLOUDSDALE’S GROWN HOTEL, BOWNESS, 
WINDERMERE, 

nURNISHES Ninety Beds, every Comfort, and a most Extensive 
Yiew ; it is 200 yards from the Lake, conducted on the most modern and 

economical principles, and patronised by the Rothschilds. Families boarded for 
periods not less than a week. 
Lancaster—En route to Morcambe Bay, Windermere Lakes, & Scotland. 

KING’S ARMS AND ROYAL HOTEL, AND GENERAL POSTING 
ESTABLISHMENT. {Established above a Century) 

TTISITORS will find this old-established House equally as economic Y as minor establishments, with the certainty of comfort and attention. See the “ Lazy Tour of Two Idle Apprentices,” in Household Words, by Charles Dickens, Nos. 395 and 396, published October 1857. An Omnibus' from the Hotel meets the Trains. JOSEPH SLY, Proprietor. 

MATLOCK BATH, DERBYSHIRE. 
NEW BATH FAMILY HOTEL, 

BY MISS IVATTS AND MRS. JORDAN. 
An excellent Coffee-Room for Ladies and Grentlemen. A large Tepid Swimming Bath. Post Horses, Carriages, and Stabling. 

Please order the Driver particularly to the New Bath. 

LODORE HOTEL-W. KESWICK. 
Patronised by H. R. H. the PRINCE of WALES. 

T) BONNASS begs to inform Families and others 
* visiting Derwentwater, that LODORE is the 

most Central for Excursions, and is beautifully situated, 
overlooking the whole of the Lake. 
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THE GRANBY HOTEL, 

HARROWGATE. 

The “ Granby ” is delightfully situated, with a fine prospect 
\ over the Harrowgate Stray (or Two Hundred Acres), so 
'Justly celebrated for the purity and lightness of its air. 

Families and others visiting this Hotel, will find every 
| comfort and accommodation, with a moderate Scale of 
» Charges, which the Proprietor will have pleasure in 
\ forwarding upon application. 

The “ Granby ” contains accommodation for upwards 
I of a Hundred Visitors; it has been established for almost 

a century, and is well known as a favourite resort of 
many Families of Distinction. 

Conveyances to Bolton Abbey, Fountains Abbey, 
Backfall, and other places of interest in the neighbour- 
hood, may be had from the Hotel. 

THOMAS HALL, 
Proprietor. 
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SEA-BATHING-CASTLE MONA HOTEL AND FAMILY BOARDING HOUSE NEAR DOUGLAS—ISLE OF MAN. (Formerly a Ducal residence. Established nearly a quarter of a century by the present Proprietor) 
STANDS unrivalled for the exquisite beauty of its situation, occupying the most central and commanding position on the shore of the romantic and picturesque Bay of Douglas, surrounded by several acres of pleasure grounds and gardens, abounding with the choicest flowers and shrubs, and laid opt in numerous promenades, airy. and sheltered in all weather, some of them at an altitude of several hundred feet above the level of the sea, and commanding magnificent views of the surrounding scenery. The grounds are the only select public promenade in the island, being reserved exclusively for the visitors at the hotel and subscribers. The hotel is in close proximity to the best marine lodgings, furnished houses, &c., some of which belong to the proprietor, and at a convenient distance from the town, thereby enjoying the combined advantages of a pure atmosphere, with land and sea breezes. The Castle Mona comprises suites of elegant and richly-fur- nished apartments, a superb public drawing-room, splendid and capacious diuing, Ladies’ and Gentlemen’s coffee-rooms, billiard and smoking rooms, hot and cold baths, and in con- nection with the hotel is the finest sea-bathing in the world. The arrangements of this establishment will be found most comprehensive and complete. The Table d’hflte is liberally and sumptuously supplied, and the cellars contain the finest wines of the choicest vintages, the prices of which will be found moderate. An omnibus and servants attend the arrival of every steamer, to convey parties to the hotel, free of charge. The proprietor of the Castle Mona deems it necessary to caution the public against the misrepresentations which are constantly made by interested and paid parties relative to the hotel, &c. A tariff of charges will be forwarded, on two postage stamps and address being sent to Mr. Heron. First-class steamers leave Liverpool every morning at eleven o’clock, AVERAGE PASSAGE, FIVE HOURS, and weekly from Dublin and Whitehaven. Economical arrangements made with Families in April, May, and dime, and during the Winter Months, at which season the climate is exceedingly mild. 

WINN’S CROWN HOTEL, 
SCARBOROUGH, 

Contiguous to the Spa, Sands, Cliff-Bridge, and Pleasure 
Grounds. 

The site of this far-famed Hotel stands unrivalled. It rises 
majestically amid the splendid mansions and tastefully-designed 
villas, gardens, gay walks, and sylvan shades — the highly 
diversified and picturesque scenery of the South Cliff. The 
prospect from the rooms, balcony, and adjacent pleasure-grounds, 
embraces in front the wide expanse of Ocean; to the right the 
romantic scenery of the eastern coast, terminating in the bold 
promontory of Flamborough Head ; and to the left, the Town 
and Castle of Scarborough, its port and its shipping, and the 
sands, with their ever varying scene of life and gaiety. 

There is a most liberal Table d’hote, at which during the 
season between 70 and 80 daily assemble in the handsome 
dining-room. 



black’s guide book advertiser. 45 
rpIE GEORGE, Family, Commercial, and Agricultur- 

ists’ Hotel, ROSS. J. Cole, Proprietor, 
Is conveniently situated, and possesses all the appointments necessary to ensure j to its inmates the comforts of home, at charges exceedingly moderate. Omnibuses to and from the Railway Station, and the Coaches to Monmouth and elsewhere, pass the house. The London daily Times, the Hereford, Glo’ster, Birmingham, and other papers, taken in. Lock-up Coach-Houses, and good Stabling accommodation. Wines and Spirits of first quality. Burton and other Ales and Dublin Porter, in Bottle and Draught. An excellent Ordinary on Market Days at Two o’clock. 

A & G. WILSON, Fishing Tackle Makers, by special ap- pointment to His Royal Highness Prince Albert, 34 Princes Street, Edin- burgh, respectfully call the attention of Noblemen and Gentlemen to their present extensive Stock, which will be found replete with every Article in the Line. ■, Flies dressed to order. Bait of all descriptions. Cases fitted up on a few hours 1 notice with everything requisite for the various localities to which gentlemen may be proceeding; their long experience enables them to give every information. J An early call requested. Observe the Address, 
ANGLERS’ RESORT, No. 34 PRINCES STREET. DEALERS IN LIVE BIRDS, FOREIGN AND BRITISH. 

SALMON AND TROUT ANGLING. 
i nAMUEL LANG, Manufacturer, 5 Hanover Street, i ^ Edinburgh, has always on hand a large stock of well- 
| seasoned Salmon, Trout, and other Rods; Salmon and Trout 

Flies, and all kinds of Tackle suited for Loch and River. 
THE BEST WORKMANSHIP, AND MODERATE CHARGES. 

I OBSERVE, 5 HANOVER STREET, EDINBURGH, 
Three Doors from Princes Street. 

SHOOTING AND FISHING IN SCOTLAND. 
THE attention of Sportsmen is respectfully drawn to the very superior quality of the goods manufactured and sold by J. D. Dodgall, Practical Gunsmith | and Fishing-Tackle^ Maker, 23 Gordon Street, Glasgow. As this old- i established business is entirely devoted to the higher classes of Sporting Imple- i ments, its Rifles, Fowling-pieces, Rods, etc. etc., equalling in quality those of the | first metropolitan Makers, and unrivalled in Scotland, strangers may have every l confidence in making purchases. A very large stock is always kept. 

Established 1760. N. B.—Through a peculiar style in boring, the Fowling-pieces made by i J. D. D. will be found to possess extraordinary force in shooting. 
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STEAM CONVEYANCE 
BETWEEN 

e®Mim®!Ss 

PRINCE OF WALES AND ALBERT STEAMERS. 
Landinc; and Embarking Passengers (casualties excepted) at North Queens- FERRY, Bo’HESS, CHARLESTON, CbOMBIEPOINT, KINCARDINE, and DuNMORK. 

Fares. From Granton Pier to Stirling. Cabin 2s. 6d. Steerage Is. 6d. „ „ to Alloa. „ 2s. „ Is. 3d. 
Day Tickets issued for going and returning same day— 

From Granton Pier to Stirling. Cabin 3s. 9d. Steerage 2s. 3d. „ „ to Alloa. „ 3s. „ Is. lOd. Intermediate Ports in proportion. 

A PLEASURE TRIP ONCE A WEEK From Stirling to Granton, and Granton to Stirling, calling at Intermediate Ports. 
Cabin . . Is. | Steerage . . 6d. 

Same Fare charged in returning. 
Tourists desirous of enjoying a treat, are respectfully recommended to go by the above steamers, and view the beautiful scenery on the Banks of the Forth. It is one of the finest sails in Scotland. Many parties avail themselves of this interesting and cheap route in travelling between Edinburgh and Glasgow, by Steamers from Granton Pier to Stirling, thence from Scottish Central Railway to Glasgow, and vice versa. Information as to hours of sailing, etc., to be had—in Edinburgh, at the Box (late Duty House), North Bridge, and at the Edinburgh, Leith, and Granton Railway Station, North Bridge Street (whence passengers are conveyed to Granton Pier for the Steamers). In Glasgow—Wordie & Co., Carriers, 9 Anne Street, 121 Brunswick Street, and North Queen Street; M'Gregor's Queen’s Hotel, Queen Street. 

N.B.—The I)a:Iy Sailings of these Steamers are advertised regularly in the Com- pany's Bills, which are printed monthly, and in Murray’s Time Tables. 
Stirling, 1858. ANDw. DRUMMOND. 
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ROYAL 

ROMANES & PATERSON, 

TARTAN MANUFACTURERS 

TO THE QUEEN AND THE ROYAL FAMILY, 

59 NORTH BRIDGE, 

EDINBURGH. 
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CHOICE AND CHEAP SOUVENIRS OF SCOTLAND, 

SUPPLIED TO 
STRANGERS AT PRICES 

GREATLY UNDER THOSE 
FREQUENTLY CHARGED IN BAZAARS. 

KNOX, SAMUEL, AND DICKSON, 
13, 15, 17, HANOVER STREET, EDINBURGH, 

SOLICIT the attention of Strangers to a large Stock of Stereoscopic Views of Scotland, from 4d. to Is. 6d., including Views of Edinburgh, Melrose, Aberdeen- shire, the Trosachs (the land of the Lady of the Lake), and other objects and scenes of Romantic Tntekest. These are to be seen in the Stereoscope in all “ the grandeur and life of nature.” A Stereo- scope and a Superb View of Edinburgh for 2s. or 24 Stamps. A Stereoscope and 30 or 40 slides for 6s. or 7s. 6d. in stamps (free by post), including Scotch Scenery, and the Ghost Slide. The Bijou Ste- reoscope and 12 Diagrams for Is. or 12 stamps. 
THE CELEBRATED CLAN TARTAN WOOD WORK, Manufactured by Messrs. Smith of Mauchline, Makers to the Queen, at prices greatly under those frequently charged to Strangers. Paper Cutters, 8d. to Is. 6d. Note-Books, 2s. 6d. to 8s. Purses, 3s. lOd. to 7s. Brooches, Is. 3d. to 5s. Bracelets, 2s. 3d. to 4s. 3d. Pencil Cases, 6d. to Is. Match Boxes, 8d., 9d., and Is. Bon-bon Boxes, 9d. and lid. Snuff Boxes, 2s. 9d. to 11s. lOd. Spectacle Cases, Is. 8d. to 2s. 9d. Cigar Cases, 4s. to 9s. Card Cases, 2s. 9d. to 11s. 6d. Needle Cases, Is. Gd. to 3s. 3d. Needle Books, 2s. 6d. to 9s. Penholders, 3d. to 2s. 2d. Postage Stamp Boxes, lOd. to 2s. 8d. Tartan Books of Burns’ Songs and Scott’s Poetry, 7s. 6d. to 14s. 

THE CELEBRATED AYRSHIRE EMBROIDERY WORK. Fine Ayrshire Collars, 2s. 6d. to 12s. 6d. Fine Sleeves, 3s. to 10s. 6d. Rich Collars, Collars and Sleeves to match, 6s. 6d. to 24s. per Set. 
Tartan Scarfs in various Clans. 

SPLENDID AND CHEAP BIJOUTERIES —Real Pebble Brooches, set in Silver, from Is. 4d. to 22s. 6d. Real Pebble Bracelets, from Is. 6d. to 35s. Beautiful Buckhorn Brooches. Real Silver Brooches, 6d. to 9s. Plaid Pebble Brooch, 2s. 3d. Silver Mounted Brooches, 2s. 6d. to 35s. Real Jet Bracelets, 9d. to 15s. Rowland’s Macassar Oil, 3s. 6d. for 2s. 9d. Eau de Cologne, direct from the original maker, Julichs Platz, Cologne, Is. and 2s., usual prices, Is. 6d. and 2s. 6d.; in wicker bottles, 3s. 
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THE HIGHLANDS OF SCOTLAND. All interested in the Highlands and its People—all visiting its Mountains and Tradition-hallowed scenery—all who enjoy Deer-stalking, Grouse-shooting, Salmon-fishing, Trout-trolling, and the other Sports of the North, should visit 

MACDOUGALL’S 
ROYAL CLAN TARTAN AND TWEED WAREHOUSE, 

12 HIGH STREET, INVERNESS, 
MANUFACTUEER to the queen and the royal family, Who received a First-Class Prize Medal at the Great Exhibition of ’51. 

At his Establishment will be found the most unlimited variety 
of CLAN and FANCY TARTANS, and PLAIDS and SHAWLS, FINE TWEED for Town Wear, LINSEY WOOLSEY, &c. All the necessary Clothing for Deer-stalking, Grouse-shooting, Salmon- 

(fishing, Trout-trolling, Deep-sea fishing, as well as all other descrip- tions of Highland Manufactures. 
Clothing for the Sportsman and Tourist made up at Haif the London Prices. The famous Highland Cloak, the Highland Costume for Gentlemen, without Ornaments, but including Sporran, Bonnet, Hose, &c., made up Correctly—From £4, *«* Goods Forwarded to Edinburgh, Glasgow, and London, Free. 

Established upwards of Seventy Years. 
J. SCHWEPPE & Co., 

By Royal Appointment, 
MANUFACTURERS OF SODA, POTASS, MAGNESIA WATERS, and DERATED LEMONADE. 
London, Liverpool, Derby, and 65 Castle Street, Bristol. 

So much prejudice has been produced in the public mind by spurious articles, • containing not a particle of Alkali, but sold as such, that consumers are earnestlv recommended to ask for SCHWEPPE’S, the Original Inventors, and still j by far the largest manufacturers of these invaluable preparations. Each bottle .contains the proper proportion of Alkali, scientifically amalgamated by the aid ?of their machinery, and every genuine bottle of Soda Water is protected by a red label over the cork, having the name of the Firm on each side, and their Potass, Magnesia Waters, and Lemonade, by labels on the bottles, with the name and address. This precaution is rendered necessary, by unprincipled persons ! filling Schweppe’s bottles with their own composition, and even imitating their ilabels. The largest Importers of German Seltzer Water, direct from the Springs. To be obtained (observing the above caution) of all respectable Chemists, Wine- merchants, Italian warehousemen, Confectioners, and leading Hotels in town and country. J. SCHWEPPE & Co. 
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DRUMMOND’S 
CELEBRATED 

SCOTCH CLAN TARTAN WAREHOUSE, 
FOOT OF KING STREET, 

STIRLING. 
Stirling is of ancient celebrity for the manufacture of Genuine Clan Tartans, and is the centre of a district highly and justly distinguished for the production of the most exquisite textures connected with the National Costume of Scotland, which are so universally esteemed and appreciated, on account of their comfort and usefulness, combined with elegance of pattern and durability. 

J. & A. Drummond have had the honour of supplying many of the'most eminent personages in Britain, and numerous distinguished strangers from the Continent and America, with Tartans and Scotch Tweeds, &c., from whom they have received repeated orders, with gratifying acknowledgments of their approval of the goods received from this Establishment. From the well-known fame of the Stirling Tartans, the Proprietors of this Establishment are proud to say their Goods have found their way into almost every country in the civilized world. They are therefore enabled to offer to purchasers a selection from a Stock unusually extensive, and of the most superb description, consisting of—Clan and New Fancy Saxony Wool Tartans for Ladies’ Dresses, Square and long Shawls, Gentlemen’s Vests,' Cravats, &ct &c. Spun Silk Tartans in Clans and Fancy Styles;—this Fabric is much approved of for Ladies’ Dresses, 'Gentlemen’s Nec- kerchiefs and Cravats, being elegant, durable, and cheap. 
Genuine Scotch Tweeds for Shooting Jackets, House Coats, Trousers, Vests, and Boys’ Dresses, &c. From the softness and elasticity of this article of manu- facture, it is much more comfortable and durable, also very much cheaper, than English cloth. A variety of Grays and Blacks, suitable for Clergymen. Un- dressed Bannockburn Tweeds, which are at a very low price, and much in favour for Shooting, Fishing, and Boys’ dresses, and other rough wear. 
Gentlemen's Railway Travelling Wrappers or Shepherds’ Plaids. The com- fort derived from these travelling companions only requires a trial to appreciate their usefulness and warmth, and insure their universal approval by all Tourists and Travellers. 
Scotch-made Damask Table Linens, Bed Room Sheetings and Towellings, highly esteemed for their texture, style, and durability. 
Intending Purchasers may be supplied with Sets of Patterns, priced, with a list of Clans, sent free to any part of the United Kingdom and Ireland, upon application. 
All Purchases of Three Pounds value and upwards forwarded free of carriage to London, Liverpool, Hull, Newcastle, Dublin, Belfast, &c. [&d next page. 
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DRUMMOND’S Scotch-made Damask Table linen, Bed-Room Sheetings and Towellings. The Proprietors of the celebrated Clan Tartan and Scotch Tweed Warehouse, . Stirling, have much pleasure in intimating that their fame for Damask Table Linen, Cotton and Linen Sheetings, Towellings, &c., is rising as rapidly as their celebrity for Tartans, Scotch Plaids, and Tweeds, for which they have long commanded the most distinguished patronage in the kingdom. Patterns of Bed-Room Sheetings, Towellings, and Glass Cloths, with prices and widths marked, also a list of sizes and prices of Single and Double Damask Table Cloths, Tray Cloths, Dinner and Tea Towels, sent free to intending purchasers, on application, and parcels of Three Pounds value and upwards, forwarded carriage paid to London, Liverpool, Hull, Newcastle, Dublin, Belfast, and the Principal Towns in Scotland, by Tartan Warehouse, Stirling. J. & A. DRUMMOND. 

TO STRANGERS IN EDINBURGH. Hair Jewellery by MILNE & CO., the great Swedish Artists, 70 GEORGE STREET (near Pitt Statute). Hair Bracelets, Brooches, Rings, Chains, Studs, Pins, Lockets, &c., made in |the finest style of art. A great variety of Specimens to choose from. Also Kufacturers of Scotch Pebble Jewellery. An immense stock of the finest ription always on hand. Prices for Pebble Brooches, 4s. and upwards. Observe—MILNE & CO., 
N.B.—Illustrated Books sent free ‘to all parts on application. 

JEWELLERY AND MINERAL ESTABLISHMENT, LAKE HOAD, KESWICK. ANTHONY FUPNACE, Jeweller and De^lerjn .Minerals, (Successor to Mr. John Gowpkr), legs most respectfully to call the attention of the Nobility, Gentry, and Tourists in general ' is splendid collection of Minerals, the production of the Northern Counties; and also to choice and valuable New Stock of Jewellery, comprising an elegant assortment of Iracelets, Brooches, Shawl-Pins, Crochet-Needles, Studs, Penholders, Paper-Cutters, Rings, Seals, &e. &c., formed of Green and Brown Moss Agates, Jaspers, Chalcedony, Moch-Stone, fortification Agates, Malachite, fee. Stc., set in Gold and Silver. >, A. FuaNACu trusts, by care and promptness in the execution of orders, and keeping Joods of a Superior Quality at the Lowest. i&numeration, to merit the support and patronage :o long conferred upon his predecessor. Watches and Jewellery of every ■description Cleaned and Repaired. 
Just published, 12mo, cloth limp, price 2s., 

THE STREET PREACHER; BEING THE 
(AUTOBIOGRAPHY OF ROBERT FLOCKHART, 

Late Corporal 81st Regiment. 
Edited by THOMAS GUTHRIE, D.D. 

EDINBURGH: ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 
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GLASS SHADES 
For the protection of Articles injured by exposure. 

AQUARIA AND FERN CASES, 
GLASS FOR PHOTOGRAPHIC PURPOSES, 

PLATE GLASS, PATENT PLATE GLASS, 
AND EVERY KIND OF PLAIN AND ORNAMENTAL 

WINDOW GLASS, 
Wholesale and Retail, at 

CLAUDET AND HOUGHTON'S, 
89 HIGH HOLBORN, LONDON. 

Lists of Prices sent free on application. 
ALLEN’S ILLUSTRATED 

CATALOGUE OF 
PATENT PORTMANTEAUX, DESPATCH- BOXES, TRAVELLING BAGS, with Square Open- ing, and 500 other Articles for Travelling, by Post, for Two Stamps. 
J. W. & T. ALLEN, Manufacturers, ‘ 

18 and 22 Strand, London. 
O AUNDERS’S GUARDS’ HAIR DYE is the cheapest and best; has no ^ smell, perfectly harmless, and instantly changes red or grey hair to most natural brown or black. A trial proves its superiority. 2s. 6d. and 3s. 6d., or post free for 42 or 54 stamps Touzeau Saunders, 815 b, Oxford Street. 
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TO TOURISTS AND TRAVELLERS. 
GWATERSTON solicits inspec • Cases, Travelling Desks, T from that of a pocket-book to the n Large Assortment of Leather I Writers, etc. The newest and finest Photographic Views, for the Stereoscope, of Edin- burgh, and all the finest Scenery in Scotland, as published. Every variety of Plain and Fancy Stationery. 

56 North Hanover Street, 



54 black’s guide book advertiser. 
TO TOURISTS. The Scorching Rays of the Sun and Heated Particles of Dust are sources of j serious inconvenience to persons of delicate Skin, ROWLANDS’ KALYDOR will be found a most refreshing preparation, dispelling the cloud of languor and relaxation, allaying all heat and irritahilitv, and immediately affordingthe pleasing sensation attending restored elasticity and healthful state of the skin. Composed of choice exotics of balsamic nature, utterly free from all mineral admixture, it completely eradicates Freckles, Tan, Spots, Pimples, Flushes, and Discolorations,1 and renders the Skin soft, fair, and blooming. In cases of Sunburn or Stings of In- sects, its virtues have long been acknowledged. Price 4s. 6d. and 8s. 6d. per bottle. The heat of summer also frequently communicates a dryness to the hair, and a tendency to fall off, which may be completely obviated by the use of ROWLANDS’ MACASSAR OIL. A delightfully fragrant and transparent preparation, and as an invigorator and purifier of the hair beyond all precedent. Nor at this season can we be too careful to preserve the teeth from the dele- terious effects of Vegetable acids (the immediate carte1 of toothache), by a sys- tematic employment, night and morning, of ROWLAND S’ ODONTO; or, Pearl Dentifrice. A White Powder, compounded of the rarest and most fragrant exotics. It be- stows on the teeth a Pearl-like Whiteness, frees them from Tartar, and imparts to the gums a healthy firmness, and to the breath a grateful sweetness and pu- rity. Price 2s. 9d. per box. Sold by A. Howland and Sons, 20 Hatton Garden, London, And by Chemists and Perfumers, 

THREE DOORS FROM ST. PAUL’S. 

THORN, ORIGINAL Manufacturer of the Patent Elastic Merino Wool Under. Clothing, warranted not to Shrink in Washing. THORN’S Improved Shaped Drawers, with Patent Elastic Belt Bands. SHIRT-MAKER and General Outfitter. THORN’S Indian Gauze Merino Under Waistcoats. . BALBRIGGAN HOSIERY. These Stockings are peculiarly soft, elastic, and durable. 
ESTABLISHED UPWARDS OF FIFTY YEARS. 23 Ludgate Street, London. T. HUELSON, Proprietor. 
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KEATING’S COUGH LOZENGES. 
“ A SLIGHT COLD,” if its first symptoms are not arrested, too often -t A- lays the foundation of a variety of Pulmonary Complaints, including Winter Cough,, Asthma, and other constitutional derangements. The evil conse- quences of these disorders may be easily averted or subdued by keeping at hand a supply of the above celebrated Lozenges, which have now stood the test of public experience for upwards of half a century. The testimonials to their efficacy have been voluntarily given by the most eminent of the Faculty, as well as by all classes of private individuals. Containing neither opiates nor any injurious anodyne, they may be safely taken by the youngest child or the most delicate female. Prepared and Sold in Boxes, Is. l|d., and Tins, 2s. 9d., 4s. 6d., and 10s. 6d. each, by Thomas Keating, Chemist, &c., 79 St. Paul’s Churchyard, London. Retail by all Druggists and Patent Medicine Venders in the World. N.B.—To prevent spurious imitations, please to observe that the words “KEATING’S COUGH LOZENGES” are engraven on the Government Stamp of each Box, without which none are genuine. 

IMPORTANT TESTIMONIALS. 
Restoration of Voice by Keating’s Cough Lozenges. Glasgow. Sir,—I have great pleasure in informing you of the great good your excellent Cough Lozenges have done me. In December 1845, 1 caught a severe cold from riding two or three miles, one very wet night, which settled in my lungs, and quite took away my voice, so that I could not speak above a whisper from that time until December last. I tried all kinds of medicines, but they were of no avail. I was then advised to try your Lozenges, which I did only to please my friends, but before I had finished a 2s. 9d. tin, my voice, to my great joy, came back as strong as ever.—I am. Sir, yours respectfully, Thomas Keating, Esq. James Maetin. 

Important Testimonial to the Efficacy of Keating's Qppgh .Lpzenges is. Relieving Pulmonary Affections. Ddwlish, Jan. 14, 1858. Sir—The very excellent properties of your Lozenges induce me to trouble you with another Testimonial on their behalf. All I can say is, that fhave been more or less Consumptive for upwards of three years, and have tried-a great number of lozenges to abate the Congb, but from none have I found such relief as from yours—even one of them will check the most violent attack. They are invaluable, and I strongly recommend them to persons suffering from a Cough or Cold on the chest. Pray make any use of this you please, if worth your while.—I am, Sir, your obedient Servant, 
t To Mr. Keating. Abraham Tubnek. 

KEATING’S 
PALE NEWFOUNDLAND COD-LIVER OIL, 

Perfectly pure, nearly tasteless, and free from adulteration of any kind, having been analyzed, reported on, and recommended by Professors Taylob and Thomson, of Guy’s and St. Thomas’s Hospitals, Who, in the words of the late Dr. Pereira, say, that “ The finest oil is that most devoid of colour, odour, and flavour? characters this will be found to possess in a high degree. Half-pints Is. 6d., Pints 2s. 6d., Quarts 4s. 6d., and Five-pint Bottles 10s. 6d., Imperial Measure. 79 St. Paul’s Churchyard, London. 
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(A AjA JUand kVV im m 
NEW 

ILLUSTRATED CATALOGUE CONTAINS DESIGNS AND PRICES OF 150 DIFFERENT 
ARTICLES OF BEDROOM FURNITURE AS WELL 

AS OF 100 BEDSTEADS AND PRICES OF EVERY DESCRIPTION OF BEDDING-, 'kC. 
SENT FREE BY POST 

HEALigc SON BEDSTEAD BEDDING& BEDROOM 
FURNITURE MANUFACTURERS 

U96 TOTTENHAM COURT ROAD . LON DO N 

WATERPROOFS FOR TOURISTS. 

EDMISTOBTS POCKET SIPHOKIA, 
OR WATERPROOF OVERCOAT, WEIGHT TEN OUNCES. 

Sole Manufacturers of the celebrated Pocket Siphonia, remarkable for its lightness and softness of texture, adapted for Sportsmen, Travellers, ; and Tourists, easily folded to carry in the pocket or on saddle, obviating j the stickiness and unpleasant smell peculiar to all Waterproofs, price j 40s.; all Silk throughout, 60s. Measurement—Length of coat, and size round the chest over the coat. Stout Siphonias, 25s. to 35s. | Reversible Alpacas, 25s. to 35s. Overalls, 8s. 6d. to 10s. 6d. 
Fishing Stockings, 18s. 6d. to 25s. Fishing and Shooting Boots, | requiring no dressing. Ladies’ Capes and Hoods, Petticoats, &c. j Knapsacks for Tourists, 18s. 6d. 

LONDON: EDMISTON & SON, 69 STRAND, (W.C.) 
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A CLEAR COMPLEXION. 

GODFREY'S EXTRACT OF ELDER FLOWERS 
is strongly recommended for Softening, Improving, Beautifying, and Preserving the SKIN, and giving it a blooming and charming appear- ance ; being at once a most fragrant perfume and delightful cosmetic. It will completely remove Tan, Sunburn, Redness, etc., and by its Bal- | samic and Healing qualities, render the skin soft, pliable, and free | from dryness, scurf, etc., clean it from every humour, pimple, or erup- I tion ; and by continuing its use only a short time, the skin will become ! and continue soft and smooth, and the complexion perfectly clear and r beautiful. In the process of shaving it is invaluable, as it allays the ! irritation and smarting pain, annihilates every pimple and all roughness, L and renders the skin smooth and firm. It protects the skin from the : effects of the cold winds and damp atmosphere which prevail during L the winter months, and will be found beyond all praise to use as a : Family Lotion on all occasions. 

Sold in Bottles, price 2s. 9d., with Directions for using it, by all L Medicine Venders and Perfumers. 
  = :   V urr 

THE BEST REMEDY FOR INDIGESTION, 
NORTONS CAMOMILE PILLS. 

SOLD BY ALL MEDICINE VENDERS. 
FOR GOUT, RHEUMATISM, AND RHEUMATIC GOUT. 

S I M C O’S 
GOUT AND RHEUMATIC PILLS 

; are a certain and safe remedy. They restore tranquillity to the nerves, 
l! give tone to the stomach, and strength to the whole system. No other f medicine can be compared to these excellent Pills, as they prevent the I disorder from attacking the stomach or head, and have restored thou- | sands from pain and misery to health and comfort. 

Sold by all Medicine Venders, at Is. IJd. or -2s. 9d. per box. 
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PERPETUAL SUNSET. 

QCENERY, however extensive, viewed any hour through 
° MORTON’S IMITATION-SUNSET GLASS, appears 
as if it were glowing in a beautiful sunset. An invalu- 
able little boon for Mountain Scenery, the Sea-side, the Lakes, 
or the Country Fields. Post free for 18 stamps; in white or 
black ivory, 30 stamps. G. F. Morton, Islington - green, 
London. 
IpOR FAMILY ARMS. Persons anxious to ascertain a true -L and accurate account of their Armorial Bearings, Family History, <fcc., are requested to send name and county to the Royal Heraldic Office and Institution of Genealogy. No fee for search of Arms. Plain Sketch, 2s. 6d.; in Colours, 5s. Family Pedigrees, with the original grant of Arms to whom the grant was first fiven, traced from the “ Heralds’ Visitations,” “ Domesday Book,” and other ecords, at the British Museum; fee 10s. Arms Registered and New Grants Furnished; also, Crests engraved on Seal or Ring, 7s.; on Steel Die, 6s.; Arms engraved on Book Plate, 10s.; Crest engraved on Silver Spoons, 3s. 6d. per dozen. The Manual of Heraldry, 400 Engravings, 3s. By T. Culleton, Genealogist and Heraldic Engraver to Her Majesty, 1 and 2 Long Acre, one door from St. Martin’s-lane (W.C.) The Heraldic Studio and Library open daily: 
MR. HOWARD, Surgeon-Dentist, 52 Fleet Street, has introduced an entirely New Description of Artificial Teeth, fixed without Springs, Wires, or Ligatures. They so perfectly resemble the Natural Teeth as not to be distinguished from the original by the closest observer. They will never change colour or decay, and will be found very superior to any teeth ever before used. This method does not require the extraction of roots, or any painful operation, and will support and preserve Teeth that are loose, and is guaranteed to restore Articulation and Mastication. Decayed Teeth Stopped and rendered Sound and Useful in Mastication. 52 Fleet Street, London, (E.C.) At Home from Ten till Five. 

SIR JAMES MURRAY'S FLUID MAGNESIA. Prepared under the immediate care of the Inventor, and established for upwards of thirty years by the Profession, for removing lilLE, ACIDITIES, and INDIGESTION, restoring APPETITE, preserving a moderate state of the bowels, and dissolving urio acid in GRAVEL and GOUT; also as an easy remedy for SEA SICKNESS, and for the febrile affection inci- dent to childhood it is invaluable.—On the value of Magnesia as a remedial agent it is unne- cessary to enlarge; but the Fluid Preparation of Sir James Murray is now the most valued by the profession, as it entirely avoids the possibility of those dangerous concretions usually resulting from the nse of the article in powder. Sold by the sole consignees, Messrs. BAILEY & WILLS, of Horseley-fields Chemical Works, Wolverhampton, and by all wholesale and retail Druggists and Medicine Agents throughout the British Empire, in bottles, Is, 2s. 6d, 3s. 6d, 5s. 6d, 11s, and 21s. each. ICr The Acidulated Syrup in Bottles, 2s. each. N.B.—Be sure to ask for “ Sir James Murray’s Preps—1 *v“x v“ “ stamped on each label, in green ink, as follows:—“Ja Murray, Physician to the Lord 
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THE ROYAL INSURANCE COMPANY, 
ROYAL INSURANCE BUILDINGS, 

North John Street and Dale Street, Liverpool, 
AND 

No. 29 Lombard Street, corner of Clement’s Lane, London. 
Capital, TWO MILLIONS Sterling. 

The following figures exhibit its rapid growth and increasing 
Resources:— FIRE. 

Premiums—1848  £31,346 „ 1850  44,027 „ 1852    76,925 „ 1854  128,459 „ 1856    151,733 Whilst for the last year, 1857, they were  175,000 Total Revenue for the year 1857, including all sources  255,000 Being an increase on One Year alone of.  35,000 
Funds in hand, to meet any claims, about £600,000. 

LIFE. 
Large Bonus declared £2 per Cent, per Annum on the Sum Assured. 

Example—Policy, £1000, dated 1845. 180 Bonus declared 1854. 
£1180 Sum now insured, subject to future increase. 

DIVISION OF PROFITS EVERY FIVE YEARS. 
Loans on Life Policies, with undoubted Personal Security, 

may, under certain circumstances, be granted. 
Days of Grace allowed, with the most liberal interpretation. 
Annuities granted on favourable terms, and every reasonable 

facility given. 
PERCY M. DOVE, Manager, &c. 



60 black’s guide book advertiser. 

RELIANCE MUTUAL LIFE ASSURANCE SOCIETY 
No. 71, KING WILLIAM STREET, LONDON. 

THE ENTIRE PROFITS DIVIDED AMONG THE ASSURED. 
DIRECTORS. Vernon Abbott, Esq. [John James, Esq. iCharles H. Smith, Esq. George Ashlin, Esq. jJohn Ledger, Esq. James Traill, Esq. George F. Harris, Esq. William Phelps, Esq. George Whitmore, Esq. I Henry T. Pbinsep, Esq. I 

Bankers—Messrs. Williams, Deacon, Labouchere, Thornton, k Co. 
ADVANTAGES PRESENTED BY THIS SOCIETY. 

Life Assurances may be effected upon Increasing, Decreasing, Equal, or Half-Premium Scales; also by Single Payments, and Payments for limited periods. Tables have been specially constructed for the Army, Navy, East India Com- pany, and Merchant Services ; also for persons voyaging to, or residing in any part of the world.—No charge for Policy Stamps. Endowments for Widows and Children, Pensions for retired Officers and Civilians, Immediate or Deferred Annuities, and every other description of Life Contingency, upon liberal and equitable terms. The Entire Profits are divided periodically among the Assured, and may, at their option, be applied in reduction of Premiums, or in augmentation of the Sums for which the Policies were granted. Applications for Agency to be addressed to the Secretary, E. OSBORNE SMITH, Actuary and Secretary. 

GOVERNESSES’ BENEVOLENT INSTITUTION. 
Incorporated by Royal Charter, with power to hold Freehold Property. 

The objects of this Society are— 
Temporary Assistance to Governesses in distress afforded privately and delicately through the Ladies' Committee. Annuity Fund—Elective annuities to Aged Governesses, secured on invested capital, and thus independent of the prosperity of the Institution. Provident Fund—Provident annuities purchased by ladies in any way con- nected with education, upon Government security, agreeably to the Act of Parliament. This branch includes a Savings’ Bank. A Home for Governesses during the intervals between their engagements. A System of Registration entirely free of expense. An Asylum for the aged.   

Treasurer—B. Bond Cabbell, Esq., M.P., F.R.S., F.S.A. 
Hon. Secretary—Vae Rev. D. Laing, M.A., F.R.S. 
Bankers—Sir S. Scott & Co., 1 Cavendish Square. 

Secretary—Charles William Klugh, Esq., at the Office, 32 Sackville Street. 
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NATIONAL ASSURANCE AND INVESTMENT ASSOCIATION, 

3 PALL MALL EAST, LONDON. Empowered by Special Act of Parliament, 17 Viet., cap. 43. Established A.D. 1844. Assurancks may be effected from £50 to £10,000 on a Single Life. Credit for Halftlie Amount of the First Five Annual Premiums. Medical Men remunerated for their Reports. Liberty to Travel, and Foreign Residence greatly extended. No Charge for Stamp Duty on Policies. Non-Participating Assurances. Assurances may be effected on the Non-Participating principle at very Low Rates of Premium, payable in a variety of ways, to suit the circumstances and convenience of different classes of Assurers. Annuities. Immediate Annuities granted on very favourable terms. The Tables for Reversionary and Deferred Annuities are particularly deserving of attention, whether regarded as a means of providing for a particular individual, or as a resource against the casualties of age and the uncertainties of health and fortune. Extract from the Half-Credit Rates of Premium for an Assurance of £100:— 

DR. BALFOUR’S BOTANICAL WORKS. 
riLASS-BOOK OP BOTANY : being an Introduction to the Study of \J the Vegetable Kingdom. By J. H. Balfour, A.M., M.D., F.R.SS.L. and E., F.L.S., Kegius Keeper of the Royal Botanic Garden, and Professor of Medicine and Botany in the University of Edinburgh. 8vo, pp. 1113, with 1800 Illustrations, price 31s. 6d. This Work may also be had in Two Parts. PART I.—STRUCTURAL AND MORPHOLOGICAL BOTANY. 8vo, 10s.6d. PART H. —VEGETABLE PHYSIOLOGY, CLASSIFICATION, BOTANICAL GEO- GRAPHY, AND FOSSIL BOTANY, WITH A GLOSSARY OF TERMS. 8vo, 21s. “ Oue of the best books to place in the hands of a student.”—.fanai, of Natural History. “ One of the most complete and elegant class-books on Botany which has been published. It contains all that a student may require, both in description and illustration.”—Lancet. By the same Author, AUTLINES OF BOTANY : being an Introduction to the Study of the V/ Structure, Functions, Classification, and Distribution of Plants. Fcp. 8vo, with 595 Illustrations, price 7s. 6d. With a Glossary and copious Index; and published in the present form with the view of supplying a Cheap Popular Work, which may be used ir " ’ Colleges, and Philosophical Institutions. 

Edinburgh : A. & C. BLACK. 
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ACHROMATIC TELESCOPES, BINOCULAR TELESCOPES, 

FIELD GLASSES, 
Powerful Single and Double Opera Glasses, &c., 

A Large and Splendid Choice, at Prices extremely Moderate. 
STEREOSCOPES IN EVERY VARIETY. 

Stereoscopic Views of Edinburgh and Scotland generally, 
exquisite Specimens of Art. 

Spectacles and Eye-Glasses carefully and accurately fitted to the sight. 
E0 LEMIE, oracmi, 

46 PRINCES STREET, EDINBURGH, 

WOHSCS i. In fcap. 8vo, price 5s., with Mustrated Frontispiece and Title, 
THE AMATEUR GARDENER’S YEAR-BOOK; A GUIDE FOB, THOSE WHO CULTIVATE THEIR OWN GARDENS IN THE PRINCIPLES AND PRACTICE OF HORTICULTURE. 

NEILL’S FRUIT, FLOWER, & KITCHEN GARDEN. 

EDINBURGH: ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 
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N ELSON’S 

CALTON 

MONUMENT. 

HILL. 

NELSON’S MONUMENT, from its Site and Elevation, and also from being totally unobstructed, commands one of the finest, most varied, and enchanting Views in Europe. Tourists and others wishing a correct and magnificent View of the City and ■ surrounding country, would do well to make this their first point of attraction, as all the walks strangers could indulge in would not give1 them half so fine an idea of the City as they can here obtain. ! Additional Attractions.—In addition to the many attnactions, there has lately been added a magnificent Achromatic Camera Obscura, very grand Solar Microscope, with powerful Gregorian and Achromatic Telescopes, by eminent opticians; also a splendid Cosmoramic and Dioramic Exhibition, with Panoramic Views of Edinburgh and London, brilliantly illuminated by gas; the whole forming a place of interest and scientific amusement nowhere else to be met with. Admission to the whole Is., top view included. 
In crown 8vo, price 8s. -fid., 

THE STUDENT’S MANUAL OF GEOLOGY. 
By J. B. JUKES, M.A., F.R.S., 

Local Director of the Geological Survey of Ireland, and Lecturer on Geology to the Museum of Irish Industry. 
j “ Undoubtedly one of the most valuable aids to the practical study of Geology that has appeared of late years.”—Mining Journal. * “The whole idea of this ‘ Manual’ indicates great Clearness of thought; and a perusal shows us that the Author is not only perfectly acquainted with his (subject, but that his soul is in the study of his science.”—Athenaeum. 

In fcap. 8vo, with 250 Illustrations, price 5s., 
ELEMENTS OF MINERALOGY. 

By JAMES NICOL, F.R.S.E., F.G.S., 
Professor of Natural History in Marischal College and University, Aberdeen. 

EDINBURGH : ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 
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TITILNE’S NEWLY-INVENTED “BAG COMPANION” -ILL hold3 every requisite for the Toilet and Writing, hitherto placed at thej sides of Travelling Bags, thus destroying their flexibility, and causing breakage of many of the fittings. In Milne’s “ Bag Companion” everything is as acces- sible on the journey as before; while, in the Dressing-room, the “ Companion”1 
is lifted from the Bag, and all its contents displayed instantly on the table.) Every fitting is the full size, yet so compactly aiTanged that the “Companion”- fits easily into all middle-sized Travelling Hand-Bags, being, when filled, onlyt 9 inches long, 8J deep, and 3} wide. Prices for Gentlemen—Fitted, £5:10s.; Unfitted, £2. „ „ Ladies—Fitted, £5: 5s.; Unfitted, 38s. 6d. %* Turkey Morocco Hand-Bags, with Patent Piston Lock, and every im- provement, of size to contain the above, 45s. each; Flask and Sandwich Box, additional 10s. The Bags thus completed, for Gentlemen, are £8:5s., for Ladies £8, and cannot, be surpassed for compactness and convenience, and are I worthy the attention of all who wish a good fitted Bag at a moderate price. Pull details of fittings sent free by post. Bags fitted in various styles. Milne’s Pocket Writing Case, with their Patent Expanding Letter Holder, no \ larger than the smallest Pocket Bible, yet holding full-sized Foreign Paper, Envelopes, and every Writing requisite. In Morocco, 12s. 6d., Green Russia, 13s. 6d. Morocco, gilt, 16s. By Post 2s. extra. Milne’s Tourist’s New Writing Portfolios, fitted with every requisite for! Journal and Correspondence, and unequalled for compactness, completeness,! and convenience. Eleven Patterns. Price 7s. fid. to 45s. Milne’s One Guinea Gentlemen’s Dressing-Cases,—contain Pair of warranted Razors, Strop, Comb, Shaving, Nail, Tooth, Hair, and Cloth Brushes, Soap and Powder Boxes. The same, in Russia (Mirror added), 30s. Milne’s Miniature Dressing-Cases for Gentlemen,—can be carried in a Dress Coat Pocket—are handier than “ Pouches,” and lock up. In Russia, 30s. each. Milne’s Bijou Dressing-Cases for Ladies,—no larger than Brush Cases, yetj containing full-sized Hair-Brush, Jewel Drawer, and every requisite. Com- plete Russia or Morocco, 37s. 6d. and 45s. Milne’s Imperial Despatch-Box, warranted for Hot Climates, and the best: Despatch-Box ever invented for every traveller. Green Russia, fitted with Berrv’s Patent Ink and Lights, best Cutlery, Stationerv, and Strong Cover, f £7 :15s.; Unfitted, £5:10s. Milne’s Queen’s Despatch-Box is a smaller box than the above, differently \ arranged, on an entirely new Plan, especially suited for Ladies. Full-fitted, Ji £5 : 5s.; Unfitted, £3 :10s. Milne’s Dressing-Cases for India, Russia Leather, Bramah Locks, Can neither split nor shrink with damp or heat, and resist the attacks of Insects, jl These Dressing-Cases have met with unqualified approbation from parties j| who have had them many years in India. Prices for Gentlemen, complete, £5 : 5s.; Silver fitted, £10 • 10s. „ „ Ladies, £6 : 6s.; Silver fitted, £12 :12s. Milne’s Travelling Cigar Boxes, Bramah Locks. 30s. %* The above are a few of the special articles for Travellers made exclusively'! for their ovmfirst-class Retail Trade by 

W. & J. MILNE, DESK AND DRESSING-CASE MAKERS AND STATIONERS, 33 HANOVER STREET, EDINBURGH, whose name is on every article. Illustrated Catalogues (72 pages) gratis on |i application; per post, one stamp; containing full descriptions of more than 200 f Utilities and Elegancies in Russia, Morocco, Walnut, Oak, §c.,of quality rarely \ seen, suitable for Presents, Souvenirs, <fc. All Orders sent Carriage Paid to London. 





ENGLISH LAKES, Eighth Edition, Enlarged and ! Improved. Including an Eflay on the Geology of the Diftridl, j by John Phillips, M.A., F.R.S., F.G.S., Deputy Reader in j Geology in the Univerfity of Oxford. With a minutely accurate j Map, by W. Hughes; Charts of the Lakes, Twelve Outline 1 

Views of Mountain Groups by Mr. Flintoft, and Views of the Scenery on Wood and Steel. Price 5s. An Illuftrated Edition of the fame Work, with numerous Engravings after Birket Fofter. Crown 8vo, cloth, price 7s. 6d. 
WALES—North and South, and Monmouthfhire, Eighth Edition. Containing a Full Defcription of every Remarkable Place, with -numerous IHuftrations, including Maps, Charts, and Views of Scenery; with all the Hotels and Inns, and a Copious Itinerary. Price 5s. The North Wales portion, feparately. Price 3s. 6d. 
EDINBURGH, with a Description of the Environs. New Edition. Illuftrated with a Plan of the City, a Map of the Country Ten Miles round, and numerous Views of the Public Buildings and Scenery. Crown 8vo, cloth, price 2S. 6d. GLASGOW and the West Coast. Including the Falls of the Clyde, Bute, Arran, Staffa, Iona, arid the Land of Burns ; with a Plan of Glaigow and other Charts, numerous Views of the Public Buildings and neighbouring Scenery. Price 2s. 6d. ENGLISH DISTRICT GUIDES, i. Derbyshire. 

2. Hampshire and Dorsetshire. 3. Cornwall and 
Devon. 4. Warwickshire. 5. Yorkshire. With 
Maps and IHuftrations, price is. 6d. each, 2s. cloth. 

The English Lakes. Price is. 6d. cloth. 
SCOTTISH DISTRICT GUIDES. i. Perth- 

shire. ' 2. Argyleshire. 3. Staffa and Iona. 4. 
Island of Skye: 5, Aberdeenshire.. 6. Moffat. 
Price is. each. 

The Trosachs, Illustrated. Price is. 6d. cloth. 



Black’s Road & Railway Travelling , 
Maps. 

Carefully cor.ftrufted from the Maps of the Ordnance Survey and other Authorities, and containing all the Roads, Railroads, Villages, . i ; Country Seats, Filhing Streams, Rivers, Lakes, and Mountains, '' and every Topographical Information required by the Tourift on ! pleafure or bufinefs. Bound in neat portable cafes. ENGLAND AND WALES. 32 Inches by 22J. Price 4s. 6d. Do. Smaller. Size 19 Inches by 15. Price 2S. 6d. ENGLISH LAKE DISTRICT. 19 Inches by 14. Price 2s. 6d. NORTH WALES. 14 Inches by 11}. Price is. 6d. SOUTH WALES. 14 Inches by Ilj. Price is. 6d. SCOTLAND. 32 Inches by 22.]. Price 4s. 6d. Do. Smaller. Size 19 Inches by 15. Price 23. 6d. IRELAND. Size, 20 Inches by 14J. Price 2S. 6d. ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPS OF SCOTLAND. So far as pub-*j; lilhed, including Counties of Edinburgh, Haddington, Fife, Kirk- J cudbright, Wigton, See. Price 2S. 6d., cs., and is. per (heet. TOURIST’S AND SPORTSMAN’S COMPANION TO THE ; 1 COUNTIES OF SCOTLAND. A Series of Thirty-fix Maps. [ In a portable volume, ftrongly bound. Price 10s. 6d. COUNTIES OF SCOTLAND, in feparate Maps, coloured, and neatly bound in cloth cafes. Price is. each. 
Views of Scenery. 

VIEWS OF THE TROSACHS, LOCH KATRINE, AND LOCH : LOMOND. By B.rket Foster. Square l8mo. Price is. j :. cloth, is. 6d. VIEWS OF SCOTTISH SCENERY. By Leitch, Stanley, Macculloch, and others. Square 8vo, cloth. Price 53. VIEWS OF THE ENGLISH LAKES. By Birket Foster, v Oblong 8vo. Price 2s., or 2S. 6d. cloth. VIEWS IN WALES. By Birket Foster. Oblong 8voi Price y - is., or is. 6d. cloth. 
EDINBURGH : ADAM AND CHARLES BLACK. 




